
 
 
 
 
 
TOWN OF HAY RIVER  April 8th, 2024 
REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL    6:30 PM 
    
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

AGENDA 
 

PUBLIC INPUT 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS, AWARDS, CEREMONIES & PRESENTATIONS 
 

5. ADOPTION OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING  
a. Regular Meeting of Council, March 18th  – page  
 

6. ADMINISTRATIVE ENQUIRIES 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Public Works Monthly Report for March – page  
b. Municipal Enforcement Monthly Report for March – page 
c. Emergency Services Monthly Report for March – page 26-30 
d. Tourism and Economic development monthly report for February – page  
e. Tourism and Economic Development Monthly Report for March – page  
f. Water and Sewer Contribution Agreement Report – page  
g. O&M Contribution Agreement Report – page  
h. Emergency Plan Report – page  

 
8. BYLAWS 

a. Bylaw 2458A – Amendment to Fees and Charges (Ambulance fees) – Third Reading – page  
b. Bylaw 2450B - Amendment to Fees and charges (Porritt Landing fees) – Third Reading – page  
c. Bylaw 2190/PS/24 - Local Emergency Management Organization – Third Reading – page  
d. Bylaw 2386/24 – Porritt Landing – Third Reading – page  

 
9. NOTICE OF MOTIONS  

 
10. IN CAMERA  

a. Matters under Consideration - pursuant to Cities, Towns & Villages Act, S.N.W.T. 2003 c. 22, 
Section 23. (3), (e) 

• Wildfire Structural Protection Program 
• Capital Drive Sidewalks  

 
11. ADJOURNMENT   



   

  REGULAR MEETING MINUTES March 18th, 2024 
 
 

   Page 1 of 5 
 
 

The Regular Meeting of Council was held on Monday, March 18th, 2024 at 6:30pm  
  
Present: Mayor Jameson, Deputy Mayor Dohey, Councillors, Wall, Duford, Bouchard (on phone) 

Staff: SAO – Glenn Smith, ASAO – Patrick Bergen, Council Administrator – Stacey Barnes,  
Director of Recreation – Stephane Millette, Director of Protective Services – Travis Wright, 
Director of Public Works – David Taylor 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  
This Meeting was called to order at 6:30pm with Mayor Jameson presiding. 

 
2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

#24-043  MOVED BY CLLR DUFORD 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 

 
3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 There were no Declaration of Interest for Monday, March 18th 2024  
 
4. ANNOUNCMENTS, AWARDS & PRESENTATIONS 

Cllr Wall – Hay River Athletes are returning from AWG in Alaska – good job to all  
 
  
5.  INFORMATION ONLY – RCMP Monthly Report  
 
6. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 

a.  Regular Meeting of Council – February 5th   
 
   #24-044  MOVED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
      SECONED BY CLLR WALL 
 

CARRIED 
b.  Regular Meeting of Council – February 26th, 2024  

 
   #24-045  MOVED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
      SECONED BY CLLR WALL 
 

CARRIED 
 
 
7. ADMINISTRATIVE ENQUIRIES  
 

Verbal Reports were given by SAO Glenn Smith, ASAO Patrick Bergen and Director of 
Recreation – Stephane Millette, Director of Protective Services – Travis Wright and 
Director of Public Works – David Taylor 

 
 
 



   

  REGULAR MEETING MINUTES March 18th, 2024 
 
 

   Page 2 of 5 
 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS  
 

a. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-046  MOVED BY: CLLR WALL  
   SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the Public Works Monthly Report 
for February 2024 as presented. 
 CARRIED 
 

b. RECOMMENDATION: 
#24-047  MOVED BY: CLLR WALL 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the Municipal Enforcement 
Report for February 2024 as presented. 
 CARRIED 
 

c. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-047  MOVED BY: CLLR WALL  
   SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER approves the Emergency Services 
Activity Report for February 2024 as presented. 
 CARRIED 

d. RECOMMENDATION: 
 

#24-049  MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL  
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the report entitled "Recreation 
and Community Services Monthly Report" for February 2024 as presented. 
  CARRIED 

  
e. RECOMMENDATION: 

 
#24-050 MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
 SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER directs Administration to revise the Fees 
and Charges Bylaw 2458 to bill Alberta Blue Cross directly for ambulance services provided 
to residents who are 60 years and older as recommended by the Bylaw and Policy 
Committee. 

CARRIED 
 

 



   

  REGULAR MEETING MINUTES March 18th, 2024 
 
 

   Page 3 of 5 
 
 

f. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-051 MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
 SECONDED By: CLLR WALL  
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER approves the update to the Bylaw 
Development Prioritization Schedule as recommended by the Bylaw and Policy Committee.   
  CARRIED 

g. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-052 MOVED BY: CLLR WALL 
 SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER approves the 2023 Q4 capital report. 
            CARRIED 
 

h. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-053  MOVED BY: CLLR WALL 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER approves the 2023 Q4 unaudited 
consolidated Statement of Operations.  CARRIED 
 
 

i. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-054  MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the report on proposed 
amendments to the Town of Hay River Emergency Measures Bylaw No. 2190/PS/23 as 
recommended by the Bylaw and Policy Committee. 
  CARRIED 
 

j. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-055  MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the report to Council on the 
proposed amendment to Porritt Landing Bylaw 2386 and the Fees and Charges Bylaw 2431 as 
recommended by the Town’s Bylaw and Policy Committee and Recreation Committee. 
  CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
 



   

  REGULAR MEETING MINUTES March 18th, 2024 
 
 

   Page 4 of 5 
 
 

k. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-056  MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER excuses Councillors Willows and 
Chambers from the Regular Meeting of Council, Monday, March 18th, 2024 
  CARRIED 
 

l. RECOMMENDATION: 
 
#24-057  MOVED BY: CLLR WALL 
   SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER directs Administration to draft a letter of 
support for the Food First Foundation as they apply for funding to help NWT schools. 
  CARRIED 
 
 
9. BYLAW 
 

a) Bylaw 2458A – Amendment to Fees and Charges – First Reading   
  
 #24-058   MOVED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
    SECONDED BY: DM DOHEY 
          CARRIED 

Bylaw 2458A – Amendment to Fees and Charges – Second Reading   
  
 #24-059   MOVED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
    SECONDED BY: DM DOHEY 
          CARRIED 
 
 

b) Bylaw 2450B – Amendment to Fees and Charges – First Reading   
  
 #24-060   MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
    SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 
          CARRIED 

 
Bylaw 2450B – Amendment to Fees and Charges – Second Reading   

  
 #24-061   MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
    SECONDED BY: CLLR WALL 
          CARRIED 
 
 
 

 
 



   

  REGULAR MEETING MINUTES March 18th, 2024 
 
 

   Page 5 of 5 
 
 

c) Bylaw 2190/PS/24 – Local Emergency Management Organization – First Reading 
  
 #24-062   MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
    SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
          CARRIED 

Bylaw 2190/PS/24 – Local Emergency Management Organization – Second Reading   
  
 #24-063   MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
    SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
          CARRIED 
 
 

d) Bylaw 2386/24 – Porritt Landing – First Reading 
  
 #24-064   MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
    SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
          CARRIED 

Bylaw 2386/24 – Porritt Landing – Second Reading 
  
 #24-065   MOVED BY: DM DOHEY 
    SECONDED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
 CARRIED 
 
 
10.  NOTICE OF MOTIONS 

There was no notice of motions for the Regular Meeting of Council, March 18th, 2024 
 
11.  IN CAMERA  
 n/a 
 
12.   ADJOURNMENT  
 

#24-066  MOVED BY: CLLR DUFORD 
    
That the Regular Meeting of Council be adjourned at 7:10pm. 
      
          CARRIED 

 
Certified Correct as Recorded on the 18th Day of March 2024 
These minutes were accepted by motion #___________ 



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works    DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   Public Works Monthly Report for March 2024  

 
 

 
1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the Public Works Monthly Report for 
March 2024 as presented. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

 
Engineering and Capital Projects 
 
A complete list of 2024 capital projects are found as an attachment to this document.  Following are some major 
changes since the last monthly report:  
 

• Shoreline Mitigation Project 
o The Federal Government publicly announced funding of $1.1M towards the project 
o Terms and Reference and the Audit Framework have been signed by both parties. 
o GHG assessment has been approved. 
o Claims can now be submitted for reimbursement. 
o Preliminary design, specs and estimate has been submitted by Stantec for internal review. 

 
• Lift Station#1 Mitigation/repair 

o Draft drawing package near completion to be submitted to the Town next week. 
o Internal review and submission of comments prior to next workshop 

 
• Procurement 

o Rescue Truck RFT has been posted. 
o Fleet Truck RFT has been posted. 
o As & When RFT has been posted with advertisements in the Hub for next week. 

 
Public Works and Services  
Water and Sewer 

•  Beaver LS float inspection and repair – Complete 
• Abbey Pl. Frozen sewer - Complete 

 
Roads and Ditches 

• Snow clearing activities – Ongoing weather dependent. 
• Snow pile removal – As required. 
• Ditch clearing – Preparation for spring melt. 
• Manhole/sewer steaming due to freeze/jamming ongoing as required with warmer temperatures. 

 
Equipment Maintenance 

• Street sweeper repairs – Repairs to be completed this month.  
• Trailer mounted flusher – Finning has inspected the unit; it has been reported that finning can complete 



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works    DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   Public Works Monthly Report for March 2024  

 
 

 
2 

repairs locally. 
• Light Truck servicing – 2000 Ford F250 repairs costly; recommend sending unit to auction. 
• Landfill packer repairs – Finning completed repairs.  

 
Facilities Management / Miscellaneous  

• Snow clearing support to all Town departments – Ongoing. 
 

Solid Waste Facility Operations 
• Preliminary exploration of changes to the hours of operations to accommodate the disposal contractors 

schedule while recognizing the needs of the residents and other contractors while maintaining current 
budget. The hours of operation for the landfill being consider are as follows: 

Monday – Friday 8:30am to 5:30pm, closed noon-1pm 
Saturday- Sunday Noon – 5pm (Closed Sunday during Winter) 
 

Water License Activities: 
• Groundwater Monitoring Plan – An official request for an extension was submitted, public review is now 

complete, awaiting a decision from the Board. 
• Annual Water License Report Submitted 
• Water license – Post fire monitoring report has been submitted. 

 
Planning and Development 

Planning 

• The flood inundation map for 2022 flood event project is in the final stages of consultation with the 
Town of Hay River to ensure accuracy based on field observations. 

Development Permits 

• The following permits were issued for the month of March 2024: 
 
March 4 D24-006 Lot 4, Block H, Plan 40 Cabin 

Relocation 
March 8 D24-007 27 Lakeshore Drive New modular 

home 
March 13 D24-008 48008 Back Road Utility Dev 
March 18 D24-009 15 John Mapes Mobile HE 

service 
March 19 DH24-010 5 Taylor Place Residential 
March 27 DH24-011 22 Wright Cres Residential 
March 27 D24-012 42003 Mackenzie  Power to 

existing pole 
March 27 D24-013 42003 Mackenzie Power to 

terminal (barge) 



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works    DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   Public Works Monthly Report for March 2024  

 
 

 
3 

 

COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL: 
 
N/A 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
• Mackenzie Valley Land and Water Board Town of Hay River License #MV2009L3-0005 
• Bylaw 1812 Zoning and Building Bylaw 

 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

 
N/A 
 ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
N/A 
ATTACHMENTS: 

N/A
 

Prepared by:      Reviewed by: 
David Taylor      Glenn Smith 
Director Public Works & Services   SAO       
 April 5, 2024     April 5, 2024                  
           

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Monthly Permit Issuance

2021 2022 2023 2024



2024 Project Status

Department Project Name  Status Update Project Start Project Finish  Project Phase % Complete

Administration Asset Management System Implementation
Project kickoff has ocurred through software vendor. Rec department assets to 
be completed first.   Process workflow analysis underway

January 1, 2022 December 31, 2024 Construction 10%

Administration Computer Equipment Replacement Program Order has been placed for 2024 replacements.   January 1, 2023 December 31, 2024 Procurement 20%

Administration Debt Service Community Center - CPI and Donation Portion Ongoing repayment for Community Center January 1, 2023 December 31, 2024 Procurement 15%

Administration Online Payroll System July, 2024 December 31, 2024 Scoping 0%
Administration Virtual Server Agreement established with vendor. Implementation scheduled. March 1, 2024 May 31, 2024 Scoping 5%

Land Development Aspen Heights Subdivision Development Preparation of tender documents underway December 12, 2023 December 31, 2024 Design 20%

Land Development Fraser Place Subdivision Development
Utility installation delayed to 2024. Tendering to take place Q2/Q3 2024 
depending on franchiase agreement

February 1, 2023 July 30, 2024 Construction 70%

Protective Services Bylaw Truck Replacement Truck purchased June 1, 2023 Mau 31, 2024 Procurement 90%

Protective Services Heavy Rescue Truck Replacement Working on specifications for tendering June 1, 2023 TDB Procurement 15%

Protective Services Vehicle extrication tools

Recreation Bob McMeekin Park Enhancements Sod and seeding work delayed to 2024 April 1, 2023 June 1, 2024 Construction 75%

Recreation Replace Playground Fall Zones To be reviewed as part of 2024 capital plan updates. TBD TBD Scoping 5%

Recreation Riding Mower Replacements Complete March 1, 2023 June 1, 2023 Complete 100%

Recreation Skatepark Upgrades
Skate park committee is taking the lead in design and procurement.  Delayed 
until 2024

January 1, 2023 July 31, 2024 Design 15%

Recreation Small Capital Program - Recreation

Recreation Vale Island Multi-Use Recreation Area
GNWT Infrastructure has provided additional $120K in funding which will be 
used to fund an increase in the scope of the project.

February 1, 2023 November 30, 2023 Construction 30%

Tourism   Downtown Beautification and Accessibility Project Decorative streetkighting to be installed in 2024 June 1, 2023 November 30, 2024 Construction 80%

Tourism   Small Capital Program - Tourism and Economic Development

Tourism   Visitor Information Way finder Signage Development
Signage is complete, they are waiting to be installed by Poison Graphics in the 
spring

January 1, 2023 May 31, 2024 Construction 10%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Biomass District Heating System

Study complete.  Funding application to occur in 2024, currently proceeding to 
the merit evaluation stage. 

September 1, 2022 December 31, 2024 Complete 15%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Cemetery Expansion  - New Site

Land aqusition required before further actions. Formation of planning 
committee to help with site selection.

June 1, 2024 November 1, 2026 Scoping 0%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Fire Hall/Town Hall Demolition 

Abatement and demo complete. Concrete pad removal and landscaping 
remaining in 2024. 

February 1, 2023 October 31, 2024 Construction 95%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Hazardous Waste Removal MACA led steel diversion regional project to occur in 2024. June 1, 2023 October 31, 2024 Construction 20%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Industrial Area Drainage Deferred to summer 2024 April 1, 2023 October 31, 2024 Scoping 15%



2024 Project Status

Department Project Name  Status Update Project Start Project Finish  Project Phase % Complete

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Infrastructure Planning and Studies Ongoing work throughout 2024 January 1, 2023 December 31, 2024 Scoping 0%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Lift Station # 3 Replacement Preliminary design through Aspen Heights development January 1, 2024 December 1, 2026 Design 5%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Lift Station 1 Mitigation

Pre-design workshop #1 complete. Scheduled received for design and tender 
documents to be ready for end of June, and awarded by mid-July.

January 1, 2023 December 31, 2025 Design 15%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Lift station 1 Repair 

Pre-design workshop #1 complete. Scheduled received for design and tender 
documents to be ready for end of June, and awarded by mid-July.

January 1, 2024 October 31, 2025 Construction 15%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Miron/ John Mapes/ Riverbend Storm and Sewer Manhole Upgrades

Manholes reseated on Miron and John Mapes.   Riverbend scheduled for 2024.   
Asphalt and sidewalk work in 2024.

June 1, 2023 September 1, 2024 Construction 50%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Municipal Solid Waste Facility (Phase I and II)

Land aqusition required before further actions.   Formation of planning 
committee to help with site selection.

January 1, 2023 September 1, 2027 Scoping 5%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Pickup Truck Replacements Tender has been posted March 30, 2024 October 31, 2024 Procurement 50%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Pumps and Generator Replacements at Lift Stations Ongoing work throughout 2024 as needed January 1, 2023 December 31, 2024 Procurement 0%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Shoreline Flood Mitigation 

Environmental studies complete and submitted to DMAF oversight committee; 
Application process complete and approved ; Preliminary design and specs 
received for internal review

January 1, 2023 October 1, 2024 Design 20%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Tire Recycling Program  Will carry over remaining ICIP funds to 2024 January 1, 2023 December 31, 2024 Construction 90%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Vale Island/West Channel Drainage Review drainage after spring freshet April 1, 2023 November 30, 2024 Scoping 10%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Water Treatment Plant Feasibility Study and Preliminary Design Geotechnical complete and report expected 3rd week of April. July 1, 2022 April 15, 2024 Design 95%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Small Capital

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Industrial Area Expansion- preliminary design Design to be completed in 2024.   Site remediation in 2024. June 1, 2024 October 1, 2024 Scoping 5%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Other Grader Repair project on hold pending performance of core

Transportation and Public 
Works - Roads 553 - Preliminary Drainage Plan on hold Cancelled 0%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Roads Beaver Cres. Water, Sewer and Drainage Replacement Carry over from 2023, defcient items will be completed in summer 2024 June 1, 2023 October 31, 2024 Construction 95%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Roads Capital Drive Watermain, Sidewalk and Roadworks

Carry over from 2023, sidewalk condition deficiency remaining, majority of 
other work complete

June 1, 2023 October 31, 2024 Construction 95%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Roads Industrial Drive Base Upgrade, Paving and Underground . Final grading & asphalt delayed to 2024 June 1, 2023 June 30, 2024 Construction 60%



2024 Project Status

Department Project Name  Status Update Project Start Project Finish  Project Phase % Complete

Transportation and Public 
Works - Roads Paradise Road Repair and Replacement Seeding and erosion mitigation work delayed to 2024 June 1, 2023 July 31, 2024 Construction 25%

Transportation and Public 
Works - Roads Riverview Drive Upgrades

  Work on minor deficiencies into 2024. Driveway restorations remaining for 
2024. 

July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024 Construction 97%



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 

  
 
 

 
COMMITTEE:         MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE         DATE:  April 8th, 2024 
 
DEPARTMENT:      PROTECTIVE SERVICES 
 
SUBJECT:         MUNICIPAL ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

 
 
 

 
1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the Municipal Enforcement 
Report for March 2024 as presented. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

 

Monthly Stat Summary  
Animal Control 21 

Traffic 4 
Snow Removal 7 

Other 2 
 

Fluctuations in temperature, along with heavy snowfalls, have created hazardous conditions that 
have had to be addressed. Engagement with residents has been done to ensure that proper 
snow clearing is done from driveways and sidewalks. Driveways cleared into the streets, as well 
as other people’s property, have been addressed to ensure that it does not happen in the future. 
Residents are continually encouraged to keep their sidewalks clear to avoid icy pathways in the 
spring. Vehicles left in the streets have also been addressed to ensure that public works can 
clear the roads safely and in a timely manner.  

Animal activity has been slightly higher than last month due to warmer temperatures. More 
roaming animals have been reported, and problematic areas are being patrolled more to 
capture them when possible and identify their owners to prevent further incidents. Protective 
Services has issued warnings for loose animals captured and has fined repeat offenders. 
Residents are encouraged to make sure their animals are not running loose, to protect them 
from harm, and to keep the streets safer for pedestrians. 

The Protective Services Department continues to patrol the downtown core area, to help 
enforce the Public Behavior Bylaw and ensure traffic compliance. The PSS continues engaging 
with individuals while on patrols, in conjunction with RCMP assistance and presence, which 
helps ensure a safer downtown environment.  

 

 



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 

  
 
 

 
COMMITTEE:         MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE         DATE:  April 8th, 2024 
 
DEPARTMENT:      PROTECTIVE SERVICES 
 
SUBJECT:         MUNICIPAL ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

 
 
 

 
2 

School Safety 

The Protective Services Specialist continues to monitor and patrol the school zones during peak 
times to ensure motorists are driving with due care, and to watch for loose animals to ensure the 
safety of school zones. Due to fluctuations in temperatures, drivers are reminded to take extra 
time and caution to ensure that window visibility is unobstructed. 

Upcoming Goals 

The Protective Services Specialist will continue to assist with ensuring that EMO monitoring 
gear is in operating condition prior to the breakup season. The PSS will be doing Incident 
Command System Level training in the upcoming month. 

Emergency Services 

The Protective Services Specialist has been assisting with the preparation and implementation 
of training as well as responding to emergency calls.  

COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL:  
Strategy: 
Goal: 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
All applicable Bylaws and Territorial Legislation 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

N/A 
 ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
  



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 

  
 
 

 
COMMITTEE:         MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE         DATE:  April 8th, 2024 
 
DEPARTMENT:      PROTECTIVE SERVICES 
 
SUBJECT:         MUNICIPAL ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

 
 
 

 
3 

 

OFFENCE INQUIRY INVESTIGATED 
NO 

SUBSTANTIATION

VERBAL 
OR VISUAL 
WARNING

WRITTEN 
WARNING 

ENFORCEMENT

FINES 
ENFORCEMENT

Animal Control Bylaw
Animal Abuse/Welfare 6 5 1 0 0
Barking Dogs 0 0 0 0 0
Dog Attack 4 2 1 1 0
Dog Bites 1 0 0 0 1
Loose Cat/Dog 38 15 10 4 9
Sled Dog Complaints 1 1 0 0 0
Miscellaneous 4 2 1 0 1

Business License
No Business License 1 1 0 0 0
Operating business not as permitted 0 0 0 0 0

Traffic Bylaw
Vehicle/Trailer Parking 14 3 6 3 2
ATV/Snow Machine 2 1 1 0 0
Fail to Stop (Sign or Light) 0 0 0 0 0
Distracted Driving 1 0 0 0 1
Fail to drive to road conditions 0 0 0 0 0
Improper use of plate/ No Plate 0 0 0 0 0
Drive w/o lights during low visibility 0 0 0 0 0
Speeding 2 1 1 0 0
Speeding (School/Construct/Industrial) 0 0 0 0 0
Suspected Impaired Driver 0 0 0 0 0
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0

Unsightly Bylaw
Overgrown Trees 0 0 0 0 0
Long Grass & Weeds 0 0 0 0 0
Garbage 2 0 1 1 0
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Prevention Bylaw
Burning without permit 3 1 2 0 0
Miscellaneous 3 2 1 0 0

Public Behavior Bylaw
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0
Littering 0 0 0 0 0
Public Intoxication 0 0 0 0 0
Loitering 3 1 2 0 0

Snow Removal Bylaw
Sidewalks not cleared 10 0 10 0 0
Driveway cleared on to street / sidewalk 5 0 5 0 0
Snow being put on private property 1 0 1 0 0
Miscellaenous 1 1 0 0 0

TOTAL 105 37 44 9 14



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 

  
 
 

 
COMMITTEE:         MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE         DATE:  April 8th, 2024 
 
DEPARTMENT:      PROTECTIVE SERVICES 
 
SUBJECT:         MUNICIPAL ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

 
 
 

 
4 

Prepared by:      Reviewed By:     
    
Jonathan Wallington     Travis Wright  
Protective Services Specialist    Director Protective Services 
Date: April 4, 2024     Date: April 4, 2024 



 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 
 

   
DEPARTMENT: PROTECTIVE SERVICES   DATE: April 8th, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: EMERGENCY SERVICES MONTHLY REPORT   
 

 
 

 1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the Council of the Town of Hay River approves the Emergency Services Activity 
Report for March 2024 as presented. 

BACKGROUND: 
 
Summary: 

Monthly Stat Summary 
EMS Calls 37 

False Alarms 6 
Fires 1 

Rescue 1 
 

In March, the Director of Protective Services worked with the HR manager and SAO on the new 
Assistant Director/Deputy Chief job description. While also updating the Director's job 
description to reflect the department's needs from both positions. The Director has also been 
working with the SAO on the changes to the fire department pay structure model, and we will be 
looking to implement the changes once they are finalized in the coming months.  

Work has continued with coordinating the wildfire after action review. We finalized a meeting 
date of April 11th to bring the Hay Rive and KFN EMO and involved partner agencies together to 
review the event. The project is designed to produce an after action review for both Hay River 
and KFN, to give us a holistic understanding of the challenges that were faced and a collective 
approach to addressing them. This will help us build relationships with both our emergency 
response groups for future coordination during events.  

The Director and SAO have continued working on a detailed review of the THR emergency 
plan, EMO bylaw and related documents in advance of this year's break up and wildfire season. 
We have shared the documents with our LEMO and partner agencies to gather comments on 
the related documents. We will have all those comments reviewed and incorporate the changes 
to have an inclusive completed document ready for council approval at the meeting on April 8th.   



 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 
 

   
DEPARTMENT: PROTECTIVE SERVICES   DATE: April 8th, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: EMERGENCY SERVICES MONTHLY REPORT   
 

 
 

 2 

In March, we repaired the Falls River monitoring site with a new solar system and battery bank 
to power the site, which the wildfire had previously destroyed. We also brought the Paradise site 
and Pine Point Bridge site back online. All sites were able to come back online and be 
functional, but we have some tweaking to do at the sites to manage some of the challenges we 
are having with the equipment staying up permanently without interruptions. We deal with this 
each year in the lead up to break up, and we plan to do the minor repairs during April before 
break up.  

The Director worked with public works to get the RFP posted for the planned replacement of the 
department walk-in rescue, which closes on April 17th.  

We had 10 new recruits who participated in two separate weekends for the EMR training 
program. They will have their finale weekend and testing in April. If everyone succeeds, we will 
have 10 new EMRs to help out with ambulance calls soon.   

STATISTICS  

 
 
 
 

59

951

145

1096

133

1432

496

1927

140

2383

640

3023

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

Emergency Calls Operational Hours Emergency Hours Total Hours

Fire Department Calls/Hours 

Staff Volunteer Total



 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 
 

   
DEPARTMENT: PROTECTIVE SERVICES   DATE: April 8th, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: EMERGENCY SERVICES MONTHLY REPORT   
 

 
 

 3 

 

 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

TRAINING YEAR TO DATE

Meetings Special Training

0

50

100

150

200

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

EMS YEAR TO DATE

Patient Transfers (medivac) Medical Emergency Local

Medical Emergency Highway Medical Emergency Out of Town

Medical Emergency Reserve Deceased



 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 
 

   
DEPARTMENT: PROTECTIVE SERVICES   DATE: April 8th, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: EMERGENCY SERVICES MONTHLY REPORT   
 

 
 

 4 

 
 

 
 
 
 
MAINTENANCE 

14

6

140

Medical Emergency Type

Intoxicated Drug Overdose Suicidal Ideations/Acts Other Emergency

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

FIRE YEAR TO DATE

False Alarms Fires Rescue



 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 
 

   
DEPARTMENT: PROTECTIVE SERVICES   DATE: April 8th, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: EMERGENCY SERVICES MONTHLY REPORT   
 

 
 

 5 

 
1. All daily/weekly/monthly maintenance activities were completed. 

 
 
COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL: 

 
N/A 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
Fire Prevention Bylaw 
 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

 
N/A 
 
  
ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

N/A 
  
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
None 
 

 
 

Prepared by:      Reviewed By:     
   
Travis Wright      Glenn Smith      
Director Protective Services/Fire Chief  Senior Administrative Officer   
Date: April 4th, 2024      Date: April 4th, 2024   



, 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT:  
DATE:  April 8, 2024 

SUBJECT: TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT 

1 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the Tourism and Economic 
Development Report for the month of February 2024. 

BACKGROUND:

Tourism & Economic Development Activity: 
• The Hay River Community Spirit Awards were held Saturday, February 3rd, 2024 with

over 190 people attending.  The event was self funded with a small carryover that can be
used next year.  A review of the event was completed which will inform next years
awards.

• One of the legacy items from the Hay River Community Spirit awards was the butterfly
art piece that will be applied to the wall north wall of the building on the corner of
Woodland and Courtoreille.

• The Town of Hay River Tourism License has been approved with ITI.   All the
documentation and set up is complete except for the adjustments to the town insurance
that are required.  These adjustments are in progress.

Funding Applications: 

• The Sustainable Canadian Agricultural Partnership grant application was approved for
$12,095 and a further application is being made for 2024 in April.  These funds are
supporting the public consultation for the NFTI lands.

• The Low Carbon Energy Challenge grant application for $2.5M for the Biomass District
Heating system was submitted.

Key Performance Indicators:  

Visitor Information Centre Visits 
There is a gap in the data from September 2020 to June of 2022. 



, 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT:  
DATE:  April 8, 2024 

SUBJECT: TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT 

2 

Visitors by Location 



, 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT:  
DATE:  April 8, 2024 

SUBJECT: TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT 

3 

VIC Gift Shop Sales 

COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL:

N/A 

APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS:

N/A 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

N/A 



, 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  DEPARTMENT:  
DATE:  April 8, 2024 

SUBJECT: TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT 

4 

ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS:

N/A 
ATTACHMENTS:

0 

Prepared by:   Reviewed by:  
Jill Morse  Patrick Bergen 
Tourism Coordinator  ASAO  
Date: February 2, 2024   Date: February 2, 2024 



,  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
   
DEPARTMENT:  TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT       
DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT  

 
 

 1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER accepts the Tourism and Economic 
Development Report for the month of March 2024. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

 
Tourism & Economic Development Activity:  

• The town had a booth at the Hay River Association of Communities AGM 
Tradeshow which took place in Hay River March 8-9, 2024. 

• Tourism had a booth at the Calgary Outdoor Travel and Bike Show March 14th 
to 18th.   The attendance was significant, which will be confirmed by the 
attendance numbers the Visitor Information Centre will see this summer. 

• The NFTI survey response window has completed and received approximately 
100 responses which will be assembled into a report by the consultant.  There is 
a planned public meeting later this month to garner further input.  Plans to 
progress the agriculture plan update including the NFTI and Fire Break lands are 
underway. 

• The new Tourism website is in the final stages of confirming content and is 
intended to be available for viewing near the end of April.    
 

Funding Applications: 
  

• The Federal government announced that the Town of Hay River received $1.1M 
as part of the Disaster Mitigation and Adaptation Fund towards the West Channel 
Shoreline Protection project. 

• A United Way grant was applied for and approved for $33,000 that will be used in 
emergency planning with a focus on fire smarting. 

• The Low Carbon Energy Challenge grant application for $2.5M for the Biomass 
District Heating system has passed the first review pass with the application 
being one of the 70 remaining applications from the original 192. 

• The Arctic Energy Alliance approved a $7,500 grant to be applied to the purchase 
of the new Bylaw Vehicle. 

 
 



,  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
   
DEPARTMENT:  TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT       
DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT  

 
 

 2 

Key Performance Indicators:  

Visitor Information Centre Visits 
There is a gap in the data from September 2020 to June of 2022. 

 
Visitors by Location 

 
 
 



,  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
   
DEPARTMENT:  TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT       
DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT  

 
 

 3 

VIC Gift Shop Sales 

 
 
COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL: 

 
N/A 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
N/A 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

 
N/A 
  
ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 



,  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
   
DEPARTMENT:  TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT       
DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:   TOURISM AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MONTHLY REPORT  

 
 

 4 

 
N/A  
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
0 

 
Prepared by:        Reviewed by:  
Jill Morse       Patrick Bergen 
Tourism Coordinator        ASAO  
Date: March 4, 2024   Date: March 4, 2024     



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
 
DEPARTMENT: FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION  DATE:  April 8, 2024 
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of the April to June 2024 Water and Sewer Contribution 

Agreement 
 

 

 
1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THE COUNCIL approves the interim Water and Sewer Funding Contribution Agreement 
from April to June 2024 in the amount of $272,750. 
  
BACKGROUND: 

 
Each year the Council approves a transfer agreement with the Government of Northwest 
Territories for water and sewer funding for the period April 1st to March 31st of the following year.  
 
The territorial government has delayed approval of the budget for its 2024-25 fiscal year. As a 
result, MACA has issued interim funding from April 1 to June 1, 2024, based on the 2023-24 
funding amounts until the 2024-25 budget is approved.   
 
The agreement for water and sewer funding is in the amount of $272,250. This represents ¼ of 
the total funding that we received in 2023 and is in line with the 2024 budget.   
 
Once these agreements are signed, funding will flow monthly. 
 
COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL: 

 
To obtain Water and Sewer Funding for the current year. 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
Town of Hay River Utility O & M Budget for 2024 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

 
$272,250 for utility operating expenditures from April to June 2024. 
  
ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
N/A 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
Transfer Agreement – Water & Sewer Transfer Agreement. 

 
Prepared by:      Reviewed by:   
Abena Nyarko     Glenn Smith 
Director of Finance and Administration  SAO 
April 2, 2023      April 2, 2023  



CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  
WATER AND WASTE SERVICES 

 
This Contribution Agreement package includes: 

 
Contribution Agreement for Town of Hay River 
 
Schedule “A”:  Quarterly Report form 
 
Instructions: 
 
Print two copies of the Contribution Agreement package and send both copies to the Recipient for signature.  Instruct 
the Recipient to sign and date both copies and then send both signed copies to the Regional Superintendent designated 
for the Department of Municipal and Community Affairs (MACA) for execution.  Have the MACA official sign and date 
both copies.   

 
After both copies of the Contribution Agreement are signed by both parties, send one original copy of the signed 
Agreement back to the Recipient and process the other signed original. 

 
NOTE:  No funds will be released to the Recipient until the Contribution Agreement package, signed by both 

parties, has been processed by the regional Shared Financial Services. 
  



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 1 of 7 

CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT 
WATER AND WASTE SERVICES FUNDING 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made on April 1st, 2024 
 
BETWEEN:  

 
GOVERNMENT OF THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES 

as represented by 
the Regional Superintendent, South Slave Region 
Department of Municipal and Community Affairs 

(the “GNWT”) 
 
        OF THE FIRST PART 
 
AND: 
 

Town of Hay River 
(the “Recipient”) 

 
       OF THE SECOND PART     

 
The Recipient is eligible to receive Water and Waste Services (“WWS”) funding under the Department of Municipal and 
Community Affairs’ (“MACA”) Water and Waste Services Funding Policy Revised October 3, 2023 (“WWS Policy”).  The 
GNWT has determined that the Recipient meets the criteria of the WWS Policy. 
 
The Recipient was authorized by Council Motion #. __________________ dated _____________________ to enter into this 
Agreement. 
 
The parties agree as follows:  
 
WWS Funding 
 
1. If the Recipient has: 
 

(a) met all of its duties and obligations under a previous WWS funding agreement and 
 
(b) has disclosed all sources of funding, including those received in kind, respecting the WWS, the GNWT 

shall pay to the Recipient the total amount of Two Hundred Seventy Two Thousand Two Hundred and 
Fifty Dollars ($272,250) (the “WWS Funds”) in the amounts and on the dates as follows: 

 
April 1, 2024 $90,750 
May 1, 2024 $90,750 
June 1, 2024 $90,750 
 

2. The Recipient shall use the WWS funds to assist with the operational costs of providing water and waste services. 
 
3. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that payment by the GNWT of WWS Funds is subject to section 97 of the 

Financial Administration Act, S.N.W.T. 2015, c. 13 as amended, which states: 
 

It is a condition of every contract and other agreement made by or on behalf of Government requiring 
an expenditure that an expenditure pursuant to the contract or agreement will be incurred only if there 
is a sufficient uncommitted balance in the appropriation for the department for the Government fiscal 
year in which the expenditure is required under the contract or agreement. 



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 2 of 7 

 
4. The Recipient shall inform the GNWT in writing of any additional sources of funding which becomes available to it 

with respect to the WWS, within thirty (30) days of that availability. 
 
Term 
 
5. This Agreement commences on April 1, 2024 and terminates on March 31, 2025, unless terminated in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.   
 

Financial accountability and reporting 
 
6. The Recipient shall keep proper accounts and records of the revenues and expenditures related to this 

Agreement, including all working papers and all original invoices, receipts, vouchers and proof of payment, and 
provide copies of them to the GNWT on request or allow the GNWT, at any reasonable hour, to carry out an 
audit or inspection of the accounts and records for a period of seven (7) years after the termination of this 
Agreement.  
 

7. The Recipient shall refund to the GNWT immediately, on receipt of a written request from the GNWT, any 
monies paid to the Recipient under this Agreement for which, in the opinion of the GNWT, no satisfactory 
evidence has been provided by the Recipient that the monies have been expended in accordance with this 
Agreement. 

 
Quarterly and Final Financial Reports 
 
8. The Recipient shall: 
 

(a) on each of July 31, 2024, October 31, 2024, January 31, 2025 and April 30, 2025, submit a quarterly 
report in the form set out in Schedule “A”, Quarterly Report, along with copies of all bank statements 
and other substantiating documents relevant to the expenditures made under this Agreement, to the 
GNWT; and  
 

(a) on or before 120 days after the Recipient’s year end, submit to the GNWT an audited schedule of 
revenues and expenditures related to this Agreement, in the form entitled “Standard Audited Financial 
Statement Format” posted on the MACA’s website at http://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/ 
sites/maca/files/resources/financial_statements_format.pdf, and any additional information 
requested by the GNWT.  

 
9. The GNWT may seek additional reporting information from the Recipient concerning the performance of this 

Agreement and the Recipient shall not unreasonably withhold such information from the GNWT. 
 

10. During the term of this Agreement, upon the request of the GNWT, the Recipient shall meet with the GNWT and 
provide information and particulars to the GNWT concerning the carrying out of the WWS. 

 
Withholding or Reduction of Funds 
 
11. The GNWT may withhold any part of the WWS Funds if, in the GNWT’s opinion, the Recipient has not complied 

with the requirements of this Agreement.  The GNWT may provide to the Recipient the withheld WWS Funds 
when the Recipient is in compliance with this Agreement.  

 
12. The GNWT may deduct from any payment of the WWS Funds or may require repayment of: 

 
(a) any portion of previous payments of the WWS Funds not accounted for as required by this Agreement; 
 
(b) any portion of previous payments of the WWS Funds not spent or returned to the GNWT within the 

time specified in this Agreement or as directed by the GNWT; and 



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 3 of 7 

 
(c) the value, as determined by the GNWT, of WWS unfulfilled obligations of the Recipient which are due 

at the scheduled time of payment of the WWS Funds. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
13. The Recipient shall ensure that any information related to the affairs of the GNWT to which the Recipient 

becomes aware of as a result of this Agreement is treated as confidential during and after the term of this 
Agreement and shall not be disclosed without the prior written approval of the GNWT. 
 

14. The Recipient acknowledges that the GNWT may be required to release information about this Agreement in 
accordance with the requirements of the Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 

 
Liability and indemnification 
 
15. The GNWT, its officers, servants or agents shall not be liable to the Recipient, its administrators, successors and 

assigns for any direct, indirect, special, incidental, exemplary, consequential or punitive damages, or any other 
types of commercial damage or loss of every nature and kind attributable to the performance of this Agreement, 
or whether directly or indirectly as a result of any breach of this Agreement, or from any tortious acts, errors 
or omissions on the part of the GNWT, its officers, servants or agents. 
 

16. The Recipient shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the GNWT, its Ministers, officers, employees, servants 
and agents from and against all claims, actions, causes of action, demands, costs, losses, damages, expenses, 
suits or other proceedings by whomever made, brought or prosecuted in any manner based upon or related 
wholly or partially to the acts or omissions of the Recipient in its performance of this Agreement, except to the 
extent that that such losses or damages were caused by the gross negligence or wilful misconduct of the GNWT, 
its Ministers, officers, employees, servants or agents. 
 

17. The Recipient shall notify the GNWT immediately of any claim, action, or other proceeding made, brought, 
prosecuted or threatened in writing to be brought or prosecuted that is based upon, occasioned by or in any 
way attributable to the use or expenditure of the WWS Funds under this Agreement. 

 
Insurance 
 
18. The Recipient shall, without limiting its obligations or liabilities in this Agreement, obtain, maintain and pay for 

during the term of this Agreement, the following insurance with limits not less than those shown: 
 
(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance with limits of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) 

inclusive per occurrence for bodily injury, death and damage to property including loss of use of bodily 
part or function, or property.  Such insurance shall include but not be limited to the following terms 
and conditions:  

 
i. Blanket contractual liability; 
ii. Personal injury liability; 
iii. Medical payments; 
iv. Employee as additional insured* 
v. Broad form property damage; 
vi. Cross liability; 
vii. Contingent employers liability; 
viii. Products and completed operations liability* 
ix. Contractor’s protective liability* and 
x. Non-owned automobile liability* 
 * WHERE APPLICABLE 

 



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 4 of 7 

The insurance policies in this clause shall be endorsed to show the GNWT as additional named insured 
and the Recipient shall provide satisfactory evidence of such insurance to the GNWT or a standing 
authorization to obtain the information from the Recipient’s insurance provider, within thirty (30) 
days of the signing of this Agreement. 

 
(b) Professional Liability Insurance with limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) per 

claim and two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) in the annual aggregate, to cover claims arising out of 
the rendering of or failure to render any professional service under this Agreement. 

 
(c) All policies shall provide that thirty days written notice be given to the GNWT prior to any material 

changes or cancellations of any such policies. 
 

Termination and Amendment 
 
19. This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time before the Recipient has spent all of the WWS 

Funds.  In the event of such termination, the Recipient shall return to the GNWT all WWS Funds not spent under 
this Agreement and provide the GNWT with an accounting of all expenditures made under this Agreement 
within thirty (30) days of termination. 
 

20. This Agreement may be amended at any time by the written consent of the parties.    
 

Notices and Addresses 
 

21. In this Agreement, if the GNWT or the Recipient gives any notice, it shall be in writing and will be determined 
to have been received: 

 
(a) immediately, if delivered in person; 

 
(b) one (1) day after transmittal, if sent electronically; or 

 
(c) ten (10) days after mailing, if sent by registered mail; 

 
if sent to the following address: 

 
 if to the GNWT at:      Bobby Bourque 

Regional Superintendent 
South Slave Region 
Municipal and Community Affairs 
BOX 127 
HAY RIVER NT  X0E 0P0 

 
   
 

if to the Recipient at:  Mayor Kandis Jameson 
Town of Hay River 
100-62 Woodland Drive 
HAY RIVER  NT X0E 1G1 

 
or to such other address or person that either party may identify by notice to the other. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 5 of 7 

Dispute Resolution 
 
22. All disputes about the interpretation and application of this Agreement shall be resolved by the Minister of 

Municipal and Community Affairs on behalf of the GNWT, in the Minister's sole discretion, and the Minister's 
decision shall be final. 

 
Severability 
  
23. The parties intend that all provisions of this Agreement shall be fully binding and effective but if any particular 

provision or part of or all of one provision is found to be void or unenforceable for any reason, then that 
particular provision shall be deemed severed from the remainder of this Agreement and all other provisions 
shall remain in force. 
 

General Terms and Conditions 
 
24. This Agreement shall be interpreted and governed by the laws of the Northwest Territories and the laws of 

Canada as applicable. 
 

25. Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement. 
 

26. The term “Recipient” includes all officers, employees, servants and agents of the Recipient, as the case requires. 
 

27. There shall be no waiver of a breach of any term or condition of this Agreement unless the waiver is in writing 
signed by the party who has waived the breach and specifically sets out the breach and the agreement to waive 
the same.  A waiver with a respect to a specific breach shall not affect any rights of the parties relating to other 
or future breaches. 
 

28. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their administrators, 
successors, and assigns. 
 

29. No member of the Legislative Assembly shall be permitted to obtain any share of part of this Agreement or be 
entitled to receive any financial benefit arising from this Agreement. 
 

30. Words in this Agreement importing male gender include female gender and words importing the singular 
include the plural and vice versa. 
 

31. This Agreement may be executed by the parties in separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to 
constitute an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. This Agreement 
will be considered fully executed when both parties have executed an identical counterpart, despite all 
signatures not appearing on the same counterpart. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile 
or electronic signatures. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement through their authorized representatives as follows: 
 
SIGNED on behalf of the Government of the Northwest on     (month)   (day), 20 . 
 
 
 
 
            

Bobby Bourque 
Regional Superintendent, South Slave Region 
Municipal and Community Affairs 

 
 



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 6 of 7 

SIGNED on behalf of the Municipal Corporation on     (month)   (day), 20 . 
 
 
 
 
            

Mayor Kandis Jameson 
Town of Hay River 

  



 

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – WWS Funding  Page 7 of 7 

Schedule “A” 
 

Quarterly Report 
 

1. The Recipient shall submit to the Designated Contact a Quarterly Report no later than thirty (30) days after the 
end of each reporting period, as set out in section 8 of this Agreement.   
 

2. A Quarterly Report must include: 
  

(a) detailed financial statements (statements of all revenues and expenditures and a statement of financial 
position) in a form as may be required by the GNWT from time to time. 

 



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 
 
DEPARTMENT: FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION  DATE:  April 8, 2024 

 
SUBJECT: Approval of the April to June 2024 Operations and Maintenance (O&M) 

Contribution Agreement 
 

 

 
1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THE COUNCIL approves the interim Operations and Maintenance Contribution 
Agreement from April to June 2024 in the amount of $579,750. 
  
BACKGROUND: 

 
Each year the Council approves a funding agreement with the Government of Northwest 
Territories for operations and maintenance for the period April 1st to March 31st of the following 
year. 
 
The territorial government has delayed approval of the budget for its 2024-25 fiscal year. As a 
result, MACA has issued interim funding from April 1 to June 1, 2024, based on the 2023-24 
funding amounts until the 2024-25 budget is approved.   
 
The agreement for operations & maintenance funding is in the amount of $579,750.  This 
represents ¼ of the total funding that we received in 2023 and is in line with the 2024 budget.   
 
Once these agreements are signed, funding will flow monthly. 
 
COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL: 

 
To obtain Operations and Maintenance Funding for the current year. 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
Town of Hay River O&M Budget for 2024 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

 
$579,750 for operating expenditures April to June 2024. 
  
ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
N/A 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
Operations and Maintenance Contribution Agreement 2024-25 

 
Prepared by:      Reviewed by:   
Abena Nyarko     Glenn Smith 



  

                REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 
 
DEPARTMENT: FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION  DATE:  April 8, 2024 

 
SUBJECT: Approval of the April to June 2024 Operations and Maintenance (O&M) 

Contribution Agreement 
 

 

 
2 

Director of Finance and Administration  SAO 
April 2, 2023      April 2, 2023  



CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  
OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 

 
This Contribution Agreement package includes: 

 
Contribution Agreement for the Town of Hay River 
 
Schedule “A”:  Quarterly Report form 
 
Instructions: 
 
Print two copies of the Contribution Agreement package and send both copies to the Recipient for signature.  Instruct 
the Recipient to sign and date both copies and then send both signed copies to the Regional Superintendent 
designated for the Department of Municipal and Community Affairs (MACA) for execution.  Have the MACA official 
sign and date both copies.   

 
After both copies of the Contribution Agreement are signed by both parties, send one original copy of the signed 
Agreement back to the Recipient and process the other signed original. 

 
NOTE:  No funds will be released to the Recipient until the Contribution Agreement package, signed by both 

parties, has been processed by the regional Shared Financial Services. 
 

  



 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 1 of 7 

CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT 
OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made on April 1st, 2024 
 
BETWEEN:  

 
GOVERNMENT OF THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES 

as represented by 
the Regional Superintendent, South Slave Region 
Department of Municipal and Community Affairs 

(the “GNWT”) 
 
        OF THE FIRST PART 
 
AND: 

Town of Hay River 
(the “Recipient”) 

 
       OF THE SECOND PART     

 
The Recipient is eligible to receive Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) funding under the Department of Municipal 
and Community Affairs’ (“MACA”) Operations and Maintenance Funding Policy Revised October 3, 2023 (“O&M 
Policy”).  The GNWT has determined that the Recipient meets the criteria of the O&M Policy. 
 
The Recipient was authorized by Council Bylaw no. __________________ or dated _____________________ to enter into this 
Agreement. 
 
The parties agree as follows:  
 
O&M Funding 
 
1. If the Recipient has: 
 

(a) met all of its duties and obligations under a previous O&M funding agreement; and 
 

(b) has disclosed all sources of funding, including those received in kind, respecting the O&M, the GNWT shall 
pay to the Recipient the total amount of Five Hundred Seventy Nine Thousand Seven Hundred and Fifty 
Dollars ($579,750) (the “O&M Funds”) in the amounts and on the dates as follows: 

 
 

April 1, 2024 $193,250 
May 1, 2024 $193,250 
June 1, 2024 $193,250 

  
2. The Recipient acknowledges and agrees that payment by the GNWT of O&M Funds is subject to section 97 of 

the Financial Administration Act, S.N.W.T. 2015, c. 13 as amended, which states: 
 

It is a condition of every contract and other agreement made by or on behalf of Government 
requiring an expenditure that an expenditure pursuant to the contract or agreement will be 
incurred only if there is a sufficient uncommitted balance in the appropriation for the 
department for the Government fiscal year in which the expenditure is required under the 
contract or agreement. 

 



 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 2 of 7 

3. The Recipient shall inform the GNWT in writing of any additional sources of funding which becomes available 
to it with respect to the O&M, within thirty (30) days of that availability. 

 
Use of O&M Funds 
 
4. The Recipient shall use the O&M Funds for the costs of providing community government programs and 

services. 
 
Term 
 
5. This Agreement commences on April 1, 2024 and terminates on March 31, 2025 unless terminated in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.   
 

Financial accountability and reporting 
 
6. The Recipient shall keep proper accounts and records of the revenues and expenditures related to this 

Agreement, including all working papers and all original invoices, receipts, vouchers and proof of payment, 
and provide copies of them to the GNWT on request or allow the GNWT, at any reasonable hour, to carry out 
an audit or inspection of the accounts and records for a period of seven (7) years after the termination of this 
Agreement.  
 

7. The Recipient shall refund to the GNWT immediately, on receipt of a written request from the GNWT, any 
monies paid to the Recipient under this Agreement for which, in the opinion of the GNWT, no satisfactory 
evidence has been provided by the Recipient that the monies have been expended in accordance with this 
Agreement. 

 
Quarterly and Final Financial Reports 
 
8. The Recipient shall: 
 

(a) on each of July 31, 2024, October 31, 2024, January 31, 2025 and April 30, 2025, submit a quarterly 
report in the form set out in Schedule “A”, Quarterly Report, along with copies of all bank statements 
and other substantiating documents relevant to the expenditures made under this Agreement, to the 
GNWT; and  
 

(a) on or before 120 days after the Recipient’s year end, submit to the GNWT an audited schedule of 
revenues and expenditures related to this Agreement, in the form entitled “Standard Audited 
Financial Statement Format” posted on the MACA’s website at http://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/sites/ 
maca/files/resources/financial_statements_format.pdf, and any additional information requested by 
the GNWT.  

 
Additional Reporting Information 
 
9. The GNWT may seek additional reporting information from the Recipient concerning the performance of this 

Agreement and the Recipient shall not unreasonably withhold such information from the GNWT. 
 

10. The Recipient shall sign the required Consent to Release Information forms and shall allow the release of 
information about the Recipient to the Department of Municipal and Community Affairs by the following 
organizations: 
 
(a) Arctic Energy Alliance; 
(b) Local Government Administrators of the Northwest Territories; and 
(c) Northwest Territories Association of Community Governments. 
  

http://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/sites/maca/files/resources/financial_statements_format.pdf
http://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/sites/maca/files/resources/financial_statements_format.pdf


 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 3 of 7 

11. During the term of this Agreement, upon the request of the GNWT, the Recipient shall meet with the GNWT 
and provide information and particulars to the GNWT concerning the carrying out of the O&M. 

 
Withholding or Reduction of Funds 
 
12. The GNWT may withhold any part of the O&M Funds if, in the GNWT’s opinion, the Recipient has not 

complied with the requirements of this Agreement.  The GNWT may provide to the Recipient the withheld 
O&M Funds when the Recipient is in compliance with this Agreement.  
 

13. The GNWT may deduct from any payment of the O&M Funds or may require repayment of: 
 
(a) any portion of previous payments of the O&M Funds not accounted for as required by this 

Agreement; 
 
(b) any portion of previous payments of the O&M Funds not spent or returned to the GNWT within the 

time specified in this Agreement or as directed by the GNWT; and 
 
(c) the value, as determined by the GNWT, of any unfulfilled O&M obligations of the Recipient which are 

due at the scheduled time of payment of the O&M Funds. 
 
Confidentiality 
 
14. The Recipient shall ensure that any information related to the affairs of the GNWT to which the Recipient 

becomes aware of as a result of this Agreement is treated as confidential during and after the term of this 
Agreement and shall not be disclosed without the prior written approval of the GNWT. 

 
15. The Recipient acknowledges that the GNWT may be required to release information about this Agreement in 

accordance with the requirements of the Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 
 
Liability and indemnification 
 
16. The GNWT, its officers, servants or agents shall not be liable to the Recipient, its administrators, successors 

and assigns for any direct, indirect, special, incidental, exemplary, consequential or punitive damages, or any 
other types of commercial damage or loss of every nature and kind attributable to the performance of this 
Agreement, or whether directly or indirectly as a result of any breach of this Agreement, or from any tortious 
acts, errors or omissions on the part of the GNWT, its officers, servants or agents. 

 
17. The Recipient shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the GNWT, its Ministers, officers, employees, 

servants and agents from and against all claims, actions, causes of action, demands, costs, losses, damages, 
expenses, suits or other proceedings by whomever made, brought or prosecuted in any manner based upon 
or related wholly or partially to the acts or omissions of the Recipient in its performance of this Agreement, 
except to the extent that that such losses or damages were caused by the gross negligence or wilful 
misconduct of the GNWT, its Ministers, officers, employees, servants or agents. 

 
18. The Recipient shall notify the GNWT immediately of any claim, action, or other proceeding made, brought, 

prosecuted or threatened in writing to be brought or prosecuted that is based upon, occasioned by or in any 
way attributable to the use or expenditure of the O&M Funds under this Agreement. 

 
Insurance 
 
19. The Recipient shall, without limiting its obligations or liabilities in this Agreement, obtain, maintain and pay 

for during the term of this Agreement, the following insurance with limits not less than those shown: 
 
(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance with limits of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) 

inclusive per occurrence for bodily injury, death and damage to property including loss of use of bodily 



 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 4 of 7 

part or function, or property.  Such insurance shall include but not be limited to the following terms and 
conditions:  

 
i. Blanket contractual liability; 
ii. Personal injury liability; 
iii. Medical payments; 
iv. Employee as additional insured* 
v. Broad form property damage; 
vi. Cross liability; 
vii. Contingent employers liability; 
viii. Products and completed operations liability* 
ix. Contractor’s protective liability* and 
x. Non-owned automobile liability* 

 * WHERE APPLICABLE 
 

The insurance policies in this clause shall be endorsed to show the GNWT as additional named insured 
and the Recipient shall provide satisfactory evidence of such insurance to the GNWT or a standing 
authorization to obtain the information from the Recipient’s insurance provider, within thirty (30) days 
of the signing of this Agreement. 

 
(b) Professional Liability Insurance with limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) per claim 

and two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) in the annual aggregate, to cover claims arising out of the 
rendering of or failure to render any professional service under this Agreement. 

 
(c) All policies shall provide that thirty days written notice be given to the GNWT prior to any material 

changes or cancellations of any such policies. 
 
Termination and Amendment 
 
20. This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time before the Recipient has spent all of the O&M 

Funds.  In the event of such termination, the Recipient shall return to the GNWT all O&M Funds not spent 
under this Agreement and provide the GNWT with an accounting of all expenditures made under this 
Agreement within thirty (30) days of termination. 
 

21. This Agreement may be amended at any time by the written consent of the parties.    
 

Notices and Addresses 
 

22. In this Agreement, if the GNWT or the Recipient gives any notice, it shall be in writing and will be determined 
to have been received: 

 
(a) immediately, if delivered in person; 

 
(b) one (1) day after transmittal, if sent electronically; or 

 
(c) ten (10) days after mailing, if sent by registered mail; 

 
if sent to the following address: 

 
 if to the GNWT at:      Bobby Bourque 

Regional Superintendent 
South Slave Region 
Municipal and Community Affairs 
BOX 127 
FORT SMITH NT  X0E 0P0 



 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 5 of 7 

 
   
 

if to the Recipient at:  Her Worship Mayor Kandis Jameson 
Town of Hay River 
100-62 Woodland Drive 
HAY RIVER  NT X0E 1G1 

 
  

 
or to such other address or person that either party may identify by notice to the other. 
 

Dispute Resolution 
 
23. All disputes about the interpretation and application of this Agreement shall be resolved by the Minister of 

Municipal and Community Affairs on behalf of the GNWT, in the Minister's sole discretion, and the Minister's 
decision shall be final. 

 
Severability 
  
24. The parties intend that all provisions of this Agreement shall be fully binding and effective but if any 

particular provision or part of or all of one provision is found to be void or unenforceable for any reason, then 
that particular provision shall be deemed severed from the remainder of this Agreement and all other 
provisions shall remain in force. 
 

General Terms and Conditions 
 
25. This Agreement shall be interpreted and governed by the laws of the Northwest Territories and the laws of 

Canada as applicable. 
 

26. Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement. 
 
27. The term “Recipient” includes all officers, employees, servants and agents of the Recipient, as the case 

requires. 
 
28. There shall be no waiver of a breach of any term or condition of this Agreement unless the waiver is in 

writing signed by the party who has waived the breach and specifically sets out the breach and the agreement 
to waive the same.  A waiver with a respect to a specific breach shall not affect any rights of the parties 
relating to other or future breaches. 

 
29. This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their administrators, 

successors, and assigns. 
 
30. No member of the Legislative Assembly shall be permitted to obtain any share of part of this Agreement or be 

entitled to receive any financial benefit arising from this Agreement. 
 
31. Words in this Agreement importing male gender include female gender and words importing the singular 

include the plural and vice versa. 
 
32. This Agreement may be executed by the parties in separate counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to 

constitute an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. This Agreement 
will be considered fully executed when both parties have executed an identical counterpart, despite all 
signatures not appearing on the same counterpart. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by 
facsimile or electronic signatures. 

 



 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 6 of 7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement through their authorized representatives as 
follows: 
 
SIGNED on behalf of the Government of the Northwest on     (month)   (day), 20 . 
 
 
 
 
            

Bobby Bourque 
Regional Superintendent, South Slave Region 
Municipal and Community Affairs 

 
 

SIGNED on behalf of the Municipal Corporation on     (month)   (day), 20 . 
 
 
 
 
            

Her Worship Mayor Kandis Jameson 
Town of Hay River 
 

  



 

  

Town of Hay River 
2024-2025 Contribution Agreement – O&M Funding Page 7 of 7 

 
Schedule “A” 

 
Quarterly Report 

 
1. The Recipient shall submit to the Designated Contact a Quarterly Report no later than thirty (30) days after 

the end of each reporting period, as set out in section 8 of this Agreement.   
 

2. A Quarterly Report must include: 
  

(a) detailed financial statements (statements of all revenues and expenditures and a statement of 
financial position) in a form as may be required by the GNWT from time to time; and  
 

(b) bank statements. 
 



  
            REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
COMMITTEE: Local Emergency Management Organization DATE: March 8, 2024  
               
SUBJECT:  Hay River Community Emergency Plan  

 

 
1 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT THE COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER approves the 2024 version of the Town 
of Hay River Community Emergency Plan as recommended by the Local Emergency 
Management Organization. 
   
BACKGROUND: 

 
The community of Hay River is vulnerable to numerous types of emergencies. These can be 
human caused such as transportation accidents, hazardous materials spills, infrastructure 
disruptions, and natural hazards such as flooding and wildfires.    Given that a portion of the 
community is situated in a flood plain, Hay River is annually at risk of spring flooding emergencies 
caused by ice jams.   Through current drought conditions, the Hay River area has experienced 
an increased risk of wildfires. 
 
The Town of Hay River Community Emergency Plan establishes the framework that ensures the 
community is prepared to deal with any of these emergencies and hazards. It is the mechanism 
through which resources will be mobilized in the event of an emergency and for restoring the 
community to a state of normalcy. It is designed to ensure that engaged agencies are fully aware 
of their respective roles and responsibilities during an emergency. 
 
The Emergency Plan makes provisions for the earliest possible coordinated response to an 
emergency, creates an understanding of the personnel and resources available to the community, 
and recognizes that additional expertise and resources can be called upon if required. 
 
In 2023, the community of Hay River experienced unprecedented wildfire activity through two 
separate events.   Both events resulted in full evacuations of the community for a combined 
period of approximately eight weeks.    Over 520,000ha of forest land was burnt, significant 
electrical utility assets were damaged,  and nine residential and business properties were lost.    
Several lessons were learned through the emergency preparedness, response, and recovery 
activities.   Suggested changes to the 2024 version of the plan help address some of the gaps 
and opportunities for improvement.   The updated plan also incorporates changes to better align 
with evolving legislation, standards, and guidelines produced by the GNWT’s emergency 
management organizations.     
 
The draft plan has been reviewed and edited by the Local Emergency Management 
Organization and partner agencies as well by MACA ahead of the submission to Council for 
approval. 
 
A summary of recommended changes to the plan are presented as follows: 

• Change of management organization name from Community Emergency Management 
Committee to Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) 

• Removal of second Council representative on LEMO 
• Substitution of Emergency Operations Coordinator with Incident Commander (ICS) 



  
            REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
COMMITTEE: Local Emergency Management Organization DATE: March 8, 2024  
               
SUBJECT:  Hay River Community Emergency Plan  

 

 
2 

• Improved definition of ICS organizational structure 
• Added typical assignment of ICS titles/ roles to LEMO membership 
• Improved definition of LEMO responsibilities (planning/preparedness and 

response/recovery) 
• Improved definition of Partner Agencies and development of Partner Agency Agreement 

templates 
• Creation of ‘Support Service Providers’ - a local organization that may be required to 

operate during evacuation to provide goods and services to emergency responders 
(e.g., food, fuel, and medicine providers).  Development of process for inclusion in 
emergency response and recovery activities. 

• Improved definition of ‘Vulnerable Populations’ and support organizations 
• Substituted independent hazard risk assessment with the GNWT’s Hazard Identification 

Risk Assessment standard 
• Improved formatting of document and usability of forms and procedures 
• Added financial controls through declaration and renewal of local emergency and 

included references to financial liability considerations 
• Improved language tied to Evacuation messaging 
• Added checklist format to response procedures  

The Emergency Plan makes reference to By-law No. 2190/PS/24 – Town of Hay River 
Emergency Management By-law.   This bylaw amendment is scheduled for third and final 
reading by Council at April 8, 2024 meeting.  
   
COUNCIL POLICY / STRATEGY OR GOAL: 

 
N/A 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION, BYLAWS, STUDIES, PLANS: 

 
Town of Hay River Emergency Management By-Law 2190/PS/24 
Cities, Towns and Villages Act 2003 
NWT Emergency Management Act 2018 
 
Standards: 
NWT Community Emergency Plan Template 2024 
NWT Emergency Plan 2024 (draft) 
NWT Hazard Identification Risk Assessment 2024 
Incident Command System 
 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

 
N/A 



  
            REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 

 
COMMITTEE: Local Emergency Management Organization DATE: March 8, 2024  
               
SUBJECT:  Hay River Community Emergency Plan  

 

 
3 

  
ALTERNATIVES TO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 
2024 Town of Hay River Emergency Plan 

 
Prepared by:       Reviewed by:     
Glenn Smith      
SAO        
Date: April  3, 2024     
 



Last update: Apr. 04, 2024 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Town of Hay River 

 
 
 

Community 
Emergency Plan 

 
 

 

Preparedness

ResponseRecovery

Prevention



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page i of 36 

Table of Contents 

1. Purpose .............................................................................................................................. 1 

2. Scope ................................................................................................................................. 1 

3. Definitions ........................................................................................................................... 1 

4. Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 2 

5. NWT Emergency Management Framework ........................................................................ 3 

6. Emergency Management Cycle .......................................................................................... 6 

7. Community Emergency Management Program ................................................................... 7 

8. Hazard Identification Risk Assessment ..............................................................................10 

9. Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) .......................................................12 

10. Partner Agencies ...............................................................................................................16 

11. Support Service Providers .................................................................................................17 

12. Incident Command System ................................................................................................17 

13. State of Local Emergency ..................................................................................................21 

14. Emergency Response ........................................................................................................23 

15. Evacuation .........................................................................................................................26 

16. Emergency Recovery .........................................................................................................30 

17. Training ..............................................................................................................................32 

18. Documentation ...................................................................................................................32 

19. References ........................................................................................................................33 

20. Development ......................................................................................................................33 

21. Revision History .................................................................................................................34 

 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 1 of 34 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of the Community Emergency Plan is to facilitate a prompt, coordinated, and 
comprehensive response to emergencies with the potential to affect Hay River operations 
and residents, both inside and outside THR boundaries. 

2. Scope 

2.1 The THR Community Emergency Plan is a requirement under the NWT Emergency 
Management Act and under the Emergency Management By-law. 

2.2 The Community Emergency Plan applies to THR employees, the THR Local Emergency 
Management Organization (LEMO), and all Partner Agencies involved in emergency 
prevention, preparation, response, and recovery.   

3. Definitions 

Emergency 

An urgent, abnormal event that demands prompt coordination of resources to mitigate 
serious risk. 

Emergency Management  

The mitigation of emergency-associated risk through the prevention, preparedness, 
response, and recovery cycle. 

Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

The physical location from which emergency response is coordinated. 

Incident Command System 

A standardized and scalable emergency management framework that enables multiple 
agencies to operate within a common organizational structure. 

Local Authority 

The elected council of a community government, responsible for community emergency 
management. 

NWT Emergency Management Organization (NWT EMO) 

The body responsible for coordinating territorial and regional level emergencies and 
assisting with local emergencies. 

Partner Agency 

An external organization with emergency management responsibilities assigned under 
the Community Emergency Plan (e.g., government bodies, emergency services, 
businesses). 

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 2 of 34 

Regional Emergency Management Organization (REMO) 

The regional portion of the NWT EMO, resident in the five regional GNWT Department 
of Municipal and Community Affairs (MACA) regional offices. 

Risk 

The chance of harm (the product of probability and severity). 

State of Local Emergency 

A declaration by the Local Authority that an emergency exists in the community, 
triggering the activation of the Community Emergency Plan.   

Support Service Provider 

A local organization that may be required to operate during evacuation to provide goods 
and services to emergency responders. 

Territorial Emergency Management Organization (TEMO) 

The territorial portion of the NWT EMO, resident in the Public Safety Division of the 
GNWT Department of Municipal and Community Affairs (MACA).  

Vulnerable Populations 

Residents who require special consideration, support, and attention during evacuation. 

4. Introduction 

4.1 Town of Hay River 

○ The town of Hay River, located at 600 49’ N, 1150 48’ W, sits on the south shore of 
Great Slave Lake within the boreal forest.  Hay River is approximately 1,050 highway 
km north of Edmonton, Alberta.   

○ Hay River is accessible year round by air; via the Merlyn Carter Airport, float plane, and 
helicopter; and by road via the Mackenzie Highway system, which provides access to 
Alberta and British Columbia.   

○ The town of approximately 3,800 people is governed by a mayor and eight councillors, 
with the administration led by a Senior Administrative Officer.   

○ The Town of Hay River (THR) maintains a Protective Services Department that 
includes fire service, ambulance service, rescue, emergency management, and by-law 
enforcement. 

4.2 Emergency Management 

○ An emergency is an abnormal and urgent situation that presents a risk of serious harm 
to people, property, environment, systems, and/or operations.   

○ Emergencies often present unique and challenging circumstances, such as: 

 Additional high-risk hazards; 

 Limited resources (i.e., communications, time, materials, personnel); 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 3 of 34 

 Heightened stress levels; and 

 Coordination of various response agencies and personnel. 

○ Emergencies demand prompt, structured, and sustained response to mitigate risk.  

○ Emergency Management is the mitigation of emergency-associated risk through the 
prevention, preparedness, response, and recovery cycle. 

○ Community emergencies will happen; therefore a Community Emergency Management 
Program is required (refer to section 7). 

5. NWT Emergency Management Framework 

5.1 Responsibilities 

○ Under the NWT Emergency Management Act, emergency management in the NWT is 
a shared responsibility between: 

 The Government of the Northwest Territories (GNWT); 

 Local Authorities (i.e., community governments);  

 Partner Agencies (e.g., government bodies, emergency services, businesses), and 

 Individuals. 

5.2 Role of the GNWT 

○ The NWT Emergency Management Organization (NWT EMO), established under the 
NWT Emergency Management Act, consists of: 

 The Territorial Emergency Management Organization (TEMO): 

- The territorial portion of the NWT EMO, situated within the Public Safety Division 
of the GNWT Department of Municipal and Community Affairs (MACA); 

- Led by a MACA employee under direction of the Minister; and 

- Responsible for territorial emergency response, as well as to support the 
emergency management activities of REMO and Local Authorities; and 

 Five Regional Emergency Management Organizations (REMO): 

- The regional portion of the NWT EMO, situated in each of the MACA regional 
offices: Dehcho (Fort Simpson), Inuvik, North Slave (Yellowknife), Sahtu (Norman 
Wells), and South Slave (Fort Smith); 

- Led by MACA Regional Superintendents; and 

- Responsible for regional emergency response, as well as to support the 
emergency management activities of TEMO and Local Authorities. 

○ The NWT EMO is responsible to:   

 Lead the GNWT in the coordination of emergency management activities;   



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 4 of 34 

 Support the emergency management activities of Local Authorities; and   

 Coordinate, or assist in, the response of GNWT and public agencies to 
emergencies.   

5.3 Role of Local Authorities 

○ Under the NWT Emergency Management Act: 

 The elected council of a community government is considered the Local Authority. 

 The Local Authority is responsible for community emergency management. 

 The Local Authority shall: 

- Establish and maintain a Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO); 

- Appoint a LEMO Coordinator to lead the LEMO; 

- Ensure the development, implementation, and annual maintenance of a 
Community Emergency Plan; and 

- Ensure the current Community Emergency Plan is provided annually to the Head 
of the NWT EMO (through the REMO). 

 The Local Authority has the power to: 

- Declare, renew, and terminate a State of Local Emergency; 

- Establish agreements with outside agencies and make payments for the 
provision of services for emergency management;  

- Conduct or authorize emergency management both inside and outside the 
community;  

- Authorize the temporary engagement of volunteers to carry out emergency 
management;  

- Evacuate the community, in whole or in part, and to restrict access back into the 
community due to safety risks or compromised critical infrastructure; and 

- Delegate any of its powers and duties under the NWT Emergency Management 
Act to the LEMO or LEMO Coordinator, except for the power to 
declare/renew/terminate a State of Local Emergency. 

5.4 Role of Partner Agencies 

○ A Partner Agency is an external organization with emergency management 
responsibilities assigned under the Community Emergency Plan (refer to section 10). 

○ A Partner Agency may play a supporting role by: 

- Having responsibility for critical infrastructure and providing updates on impacts 
or recovery during emergency; or 

- Contributing to overall emergency management.  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 5 of 34 

○ A Partner Agency may take the lead on routine emergencies within their areas of 
responsibility (e.g., GNWT Department of Environment & Climate Change during a 
wildfire). 

5.5 Role of Individuals 

○ All residents have a responsibility to themselves and their families to be prepared for 
emergencies. This includes: 

 Reviewing the THR Community Emergency Plan; 

 Understand how and where THR will share emergency information; 

 Making a household emergency plan that covers how to stay informed on 
emergencies, how to stay connected with loved ones, a location to evacuate to if 
required to leave home or the community, and how to care for pets; 

 Maintaining an emergency kit and grab-and-go bag for use if evacuation is required 
with little warning; and 

 Protecting property and obtaining insurance. 

5.6 Requesting GNWT Support 

○ When an emergency is too large or complex to handle at the local level, the Local 
Authority shall request assistance from the REMO.   

 As a South Slave community, Hay River is supported by the South Slave REMO. 

 The emergency response remains under the direction and control of the Local 
Authority, with the following exceptions: 

- Should the Local Authority become overwhelmed or the emergency extends 
beyond community boundaries, the REMO may take some or all responsibility for 
direction and control of the emergency response. 

- Should an event impact a large area involving more than one community or 
region, or exceed the capacity of Local Authorities, the Minister of MACA may 
impose territorial control over the emergency response by declaration of a State 
of Emergency.  At this point the NWT EMO takes responsibility for direction and 
control of the emergency response. 

○ When required, a REMO can request assistance from the TEMO. 

○ When required, the TEMO can request assistance from other provinces, other 
territories, and/or the federal government. 

5.7 Further Information 

○ For more information on emergency management in the NWT refer to the Northwest 
Territories Emergency Plan. 

  

https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/en/services/emergency-management-nwt
https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/en/services/emergency-management-nwt


 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 6 of 34 

6. Emergency Management Cycle 

6.1 Description 

○ Emergency Management is conducted through a four-step cycle: 

 Prevention; 

 Preparedness; 

 Response; and  

 Recovery.   

○ The cycle repeats to ensure continuous improvement.   

6.2 Stage 1: Emergency Prevention 

○ Prevention refers to the measures taken to help prevent the occurrence of, and 
mitigate the impact of, emergencies. 

○ THR employs a number of methods to help prevent or mitigate emergencies, such as: 

 Fire breaks, community fire bans, public education, and fire smarting to reduce 
wildfire risk; and 

 Placing physical barriers such as berms and dikes, elevating structures, installing 
secondary flood prevention devices in buildings, and sandbagging to reduce 
flooding risk. 

6.3 Stage 2: Emergency Preparedness 

○ Preparedness refers to the measures taken to ready the community to address any 
emergency through structured planning, training, resource management, and 
exercises. 

○ The goal of preparedness is to minimize response time and reduce the impact of an 
emergency. 

○ At the core of emergency preparedness is a comprehensive Community Emergency 
Management Program (refer to section 7).  

6.4 Stage 3: Emergency Response 

○ Response refers to the activation of the Community Emergency Plan to mitigate the 
risks presented by an emergency until the emergency no longer exists (i.e., putting 
emergency planning into action) (refer to section 14). 

○ An effective response requires prompt and coordinated deployment of resources to 
mitigate risk and minimize harm to people, property, environment, systems, and 
operations. 

○ Goals of emergency response include protecting the health & safety of responders and 
residents, protecting infrastructure and property from damage, protecting the 
environment, and reducing economic and social losses. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 7 of 34 

○ Emergencies introduce additional stress, challenges, and high-risk hazards, making 
careful adherence to health & safety practices and procedures crucial during an 
emergency. 

○ Response includes: 

 Declaring the emergency; 

 Following the Community Emergency Plan; 

 Conducting evacuations; 

 Protecting critical infrastructure and property within THR boundaries; 

 Communicating effectively with responders, media, and the public; and 

 Terminating the emergency once all risk has been adequately mitigated. 

6.5 Stage 4: Emergency Recovery 

○ Emergencies can cause physical and psychological trauma, infrastructure and property 
damage, displacement of residents, service disruption, and environmental damage.   

○ Recovery refers to the measures required to restore conditions to an acceptable level 
following an emergency (refer to section 16).  Recovery can be a long-term process 
involving returning to and rebuilding a changed community.   

○ The effectiveness of existing preventive measures, the Community Emergency Plan, 
and the emergency response shall be assessed, as well as the financial impact of the 
event.  This shall be followed by a return to the Emergency Prevention and Emergency 
Preparedness stages to continue the Emergency Management cycle and implement 
program improvements. 

7. Community Emergency Management Program 

7.1 Program Composition 

○ The THR Community Emergency Management Program is comprised of the following 
documents: 

 Emergency Management By-law; and 

 Community Emergency Plan and associated forms. 

7.2 Emergency Management By-law 

○ The Emergency Management By-law, in accordance with the NWT Emergency 
Management Act and the NWT Cities, Towns and Villages Act, defines Council’s role in 
community emergency management:  

 Identifies Council as the Local Authority; 

 Establishes the Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) (refer to 
section 9); 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 8 of 34 

 Appoints the Senior Administrative Officer as the LEMO Coordinator;  

 Delegates responsibility for development and maintenance of the Community 
Emergency Plan to the LEMO Coordinator;  

 Delegates responsibility for emergency response to the LEMO; and 

 Identifies Council as the sole body authorized to declare, renew, and/or terminate a 
State of Local Emergency.   

7.3 Community Emergency Plan 

○ The Community Emergency Plan: 

 Defines THR’s emergency management structure and processes; 

 Provides procedures for responding to specific emergencies, evacuating residents, 
hosting evacuees, and using volunteers. 

 Is trained on, tested, and maintained.   

○ Table 1 identifies the associated forms, which are tools for specific response 
requirements. 

Table 1: Community Emergency Plan Forms 

Form  Purpose 

Form EP-01:  

State of Local Emergency 

○ Used by Council for emergency declaration, 
renewal, and termination. 

○ Provided by the LEMO Coordinator to the Head 
of the NWT EMO. 

Form EP-02:  

Partner Agency Agreement 

○ Used to document commitment from external 
agencies to support THR in emergency 
management. 

Form EP-03:  

Emergency Contacts 

 

○ Contains contact information for parties that may 
be required during emergency response: 

 THR Council; 

 LEMO members; 

 THR staff; 

 Partner Agencies; and 

 Support Service Providers. 

○ This form is for LEMO use only.  It is not for 
public distribution, as it contains confidential 
contact information. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 9 of 34 

Table 1: Community Emergency Plan Forms 

Form  Purpose 

Form EP-04:  

Construction Equipment 
Resource List 

○ Lists equipment available from local construction 
contractors. 

Form EP-05:  

LEMO Meeting 

○ Used by Scribe to document LEMO Meeting 
minutes. 

Form EP-06:  

LEMO Position Checklists 

○ Used by LEMO members to track completion of 
tasks. 

Form EP-07:  

Partner Agency Position 
Checklists 

○ Used by Partner Agencies to track completion of 
tasks. 

Form EP-08:  

Volunteer Sign-up 

○ Used to register members of the public as 
volunteers. 

Form EP-09:  

Volunteer Registry 
○ List of all volunteers. 

Form EP-10:  

Evacuee Sign-up 
○ Used to register evacuees. 

Form EP-11:  

Evacuee Registry 
○ List of all evacuees. 

Form EP-12:  

Evacuation Plan Checklist 

○ Checklist to follow when evacuation of residents 
is required. 

Form EP-13:  

Evacuation Notifications 

○ Template wording used in evacuation notices, 
alerts, orders, and all-clears. 

Form EP-14:  

Evacuation Centre Checklist 
○ Checklist to follow when hosting evacuees. 

Form EP-15:  

Emergency Debrief 

○ Used by LEMO Coordinator to document 
Emergency Debrief Meetings and tabletop 
exercises. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 10 of 34 

Table 1: Community Emergency Plan Forms 

Form  Purpose 

○ Form EP-16.01: Response Procedure – All Hazards 

○ Form EP-16.02: Response Procedure – Critical Service Interruption 

○ Form EP-16.03: Response Procedure – Flood 

○ Form EP-16.04: Response Procedure – Hazardous Materials Spill 

○ Form EP-16.05: Response Procedure – Human Disease 

○ Form EP-16.06: Response Procedure – Severe Weather 

○ Form EP-16.07: Response Procedure – Structural Fire 

○ Form EP-16.08: Response Procedure – Transportation Incident 

○ Form EP-16.09: Response Procedure – Wildfire 

8. Hazard Identification Risk Assessment 

8.1 Description 

○ As part of the NWT Emergency Management Program, the NWT Hazard Identification 
Risk Assessment (HIRA) determines the potential emergencies of greatest risk to 
people, property, environment, and economy at both a territorial and a regional level. 

○ Emergencies are assigned a risk score and are ranked by risk level, allowing a focus of 
resources on the highest risk hazards when developing emergency management 
strategies.   

8.2 Ranking of Emergencies 

○ The NWT HIRA identified and ranked twenty potential emergencies for the South Slave 
Region (see Table 2). 

Table 2: South Slave Region Hazard Summary (from NWT HIRA) 

Risk Level Emergency 

Extreme 1. Flood 

High 2. Wildfire 

Medium 

3. Critical services – power/fuel interruption 

4. Transportation incident – road/ice road closure  

5. Human disease (pandemic/epidemic) 

6. Severe weather – extreme cold 

7. Hazardous materials – spill 

8. Severe weather – snowstorm/windstorm 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 11 of 34 

Table 2: South Slave Region Hazard Summary (from NWT HIRA) 

Risk Level Emergency 

9. Earth movement – erosion 

10. Structural fire 

11. Transportation incident – aircraft incident 

12. Snow load hazard 

Low 

13. Critical services – water services interruption 

14. Hazardous materials – explosion 

15. Earth movement – permafrost degradation 

16. Public safety – cyber security 

17. Animal disease 

18. Public safety – social action 

Negligible 
19. Earth movement – earthquake 

20. Space debris 

8.3 Emergency Response Procedures 

○ THR has adopted the South Slave Region HIRA.    

○ Emergency response procedures shall be developed for all extreme, high, and medium 
risk level emergencies, with the following exceptions: 

 Emergencies with similar response plans shall be addressed in a single procedure: 

- Severe weather hazards (extreme cold, snowstorm/windstorm);  

- Transportation incidents (road, aircraft); and 

- Critical services interruptions (power fuel, water). 

 A general All Hazards response procedure shall be developed to address 
emergencies for which no specific response plan exists, which shall include earth 
movement (erosion), snow load hazard, and all low and negligible risk level 
emergencies listed in Table 2.   

○ Response procedures shall be maintained as part of the annual Community 
Emergency Plan review and approval process (refer to section 9.3).   

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 12 of 34 

9. Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) 

9.1 Membership 

○ The THR Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) is comprised of eight 
regular members: 

 Senior Administrative Officer (SAO) (LEMO Coordinator). 

 Assistant SAO. 

 Council Administrator (meeting scheduling and minutes). 

 Director of Finance. 

 Director of Protective Services. 

 Director of Public Works & Services. 

 Director of Recreation & Community Services. 

 Member of Council (liaison between LEMO and Council). 

○ Additional members (i.e., Partner Agencies and THR staff members) may be added to 
the LEMO on a temporary basis, as required during the various phases of emergency 
management. 

 Local Indigenous governments, Hay River Health & Social Services Authority, and 
any other Partner Agencies deemed necessary shall be invited to participate in 
LEMO Preparedness Planning meetings. 

 During emergency response, those Partner Agencies with response roles shall be 
invited to participate in LEMO response meetings.  

○ During emergency response, LEMO members may be assigned to specific Incident 
Command System positions (refer to section 12.3). 

9.2 Purpose 

○ The LEMO has two main responsibilities: 

 Community Emergency Plan management; and  

 Emergency response and recovery. 

9.3 Responsibility 1: Community Emergency Plan 

○ The first responsibility of the LEMO, led by the LEMO Coordinator, is management of 
the Community Emergency Plan, which involves: 

 Developing, implementing, and annually maintaining the Community Emergency 
Plan; 

 Holding regular emergency planning LEMO Meetings; 

 Monitoring existing or potential risk conditions; 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 13 of 34 

 Identifying and implementing mitigation measures for emergencies identified in the 
Community Emergency Plan; 

 Identifying and entering into agreements with potential Partner Agencies (refer to 
section 10); 

 Conducting tabletop exercises to test and practice using the Community Emergency 
Plan (refer to section 9.6); and 

 Providing public awareness forums and/or materials to residents ahead of high-risk 
periods. 

○ The Community Emergency Plan shall be reviewed and updated annually: 

 Current versions of all reference documents (refer to section 19) shall be reviewed 
for changes; 

 LEMO members shall review the Community Emergency Plan and associated forms 
and provide update recommendations to the LEMO Coordinator;  

 Partner Agencies shall be invited to review and comment on the Community 
Emergency Plan;  

 The LEMO Coordinator shall accept or deny suggested updates and finalize the 
draft Community Emergency Plan; and 

 The LEMO Coordinator shall submit the Community Emergency Plan to Council for 
approval.  

○ The approved Community Emergency Plan shall be: 

 Provided annually to the Head of the NWT EMO (through the REMO);  

 Posted to the THR website with all sensitive components removed; and 

 Provided to all LEMO members and Partner Agencies. 

9.4 Responsibility 2: Emergency Response & Recovery 

○ The second responsibility of the LEMO, led by the LEMO Coordinator, is emergency 
response (refer to section 14) and recovery (refer to section 16), which involves: 

 Notifying Council, through the LEMO Coordinator, of a potential emergency; 

 Upon Council’s declaration of a State of Local Emergency (refer to section 13), 
holding a LEMO Meeting to: 

- Activate the Community Emergency Plan; 

- Assign an Incident Commander; 

- Assign LEMO members to the required Incident Command System positions 
(refer to section 12.3); and 

- Initiate emergency response; 

 Notifying the Head of the NWT EMO of emergency declaration, renewal, and 
termination through the South Slave REMO; 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 14 of 34 

 Notifying the public of an emergency and keeping them informed throughout; 

 Adhering to the Community Emergency Plan during emergency response; 

 Requesting support from Partner Agencies and Support Service Providers as 
required; 

 Requesting assistance from the REMO as required; 

 Logging all actions taken and associated costs; 

 Maintaining ongoing communication with Council and the REMO;  

 Advising Council to terminate the State of Local Emergency;  

 Assessing safety and essential services in the community prior to allowing residents 
to access affected areas; and 

 Initiating the recovery phase. 

9.5 LEMO Coordinator 

○ As the leader of the LEMO, the LEMO Coordinator has several specific responsibilities: 

 Ensuring the Community Emergency Plan is: 

- Reviewed, updated, and approved by Council annually; 

- Posted to the THR website (with all sensitive components removed);  

- Provided annually to the Head of the NWT EMO;  

- Provided annually to all Partner Agencies; and 

- Tested annually through emergency response exercises (refer to section 9.6); 

 Ensuring LEMO members are trained (refer to section 17); 

 Scheduling and chairing regular LEMO planning meetings; 

 Developing and implementing public awareness and education initiatives such as: 

- Emergency preparedness information: 

▫ Making a household emergency plan; 

▫ Planning for animal care; 

▫ Preparing an emergency kit and a grab-and-go bag; 

▫ Reviewing the THR Community Emergency Plan; and  

▫ Understanding how and where THR will share emergency information; and 

- Evacuation procedure information. 

 Notifying Council of a potential emergency;  

 When a State of Local Emergency is declared: 

- Holding a LEMO Meeting to: 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 15 of 34 

▫ Activate the Community Emergency Plan; 

▫ Assign an Incident Commander; 

▫ Delegate certain LEMO leadership duties to the Incident Commander (e.g., 
leading the LEMO during response, notifying all agencies involved in the 
response, communicating with the REMO); 

- Providing notification of emergency declaration, renewal, and termination to: 

▫ All involved Partner Agencies; 

▫ The public; and 

▫ The Head of the NWT EMO, by forwarding a copy of Form EP-01: State of 
Local Emergency to the South Slave REMO; and 

- Updating Council regularly on emergency response progress and spending. 

9.6 Tabletop Exercises  

○ A tabletop exercise is a discussion-based emergency simulation in which LEMO 
members go through the tasks that they would be responsible for in a real emergency.   

○ The purpose of emergency response exercises is for the LEMO to: 

 Practice using the Community Emergency Plan; 

 Test the effectiveness of the Community Emergency Plan;  

 Identify required improvements to the Community Emergency Plan;  

 Improve emergency response; and 

 Validate the Community Emergency Plan.   

○ Other benefits include: 

 Training staff; 

 Testing and validating procedures; 

 Clarifying roles and responsibilities; 

 Identifying gaps in planning, resources, and training; and 

 Improving inter-organizational coordination and communications. 

○ Tabletop exercises shall: 

 Be held annually;  

 Be coordinated by the LEMO Coordinator; 

 Be attended by all available LEMO members;  

 Close with a discussion of successes and lessons learned; and 

 Be documented on Form EP-15: Emergency Debrief.   

○ Partner Agencies may be invited to participate in emergency response exercises. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 16 of 34 

10. Partner Agencies 

10.1 Description 

○ To ensure the most effective response to emergencies, all available community 
resources need to be considered as part of emergency management.  This includes 
GNWT departments, Indigenous governments, crown corporations, emergency 
services, private sector companies, and non-government organizations (e.g., churches, 
service clubs, volunteer organizations). 

○ A Partner Agency is an external organization with emergency management 
responsibilities assigned under the Community Emergency Plan. 

 Partner Agencies may have jurisdiction, facilities, expertise, services, and/or 
resources required for emergency management. 

 Examples of potential partner agencies include government departments, first 
responders, health & social services authorities, utilities, communications 
companies, local businesses with relevant expertise and equipment. 

10.2 Partner Agency Agreements 

○ A Partner Agency Agreement is a written agreement between THR and a Partner 
Agency.   

 While not legally binding, the agreement provides a commitment and assurance of 
support to THR for emergency management (i.e., prevention, preparedness, 
response, and/or recovery). 

 Support may include facilities, expertise, services, and/or resources. 

 Partner Agency Agreements strengthen THR’s emergency management capabilities 
through the inclusion of Partner Agencies in various phases of emergency 
management such as planning and coordination meetings, Community Emergency 
Plan maintenance, emergency response exercises, and emergency response. 

○ The Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) shall endeavour to establish 
written agreements with all Partner Agencies. 

 Agreements shall be documented on Form EP-02: Partner Agency Agreement.   

 Agreements shall indicate the type of support available and the process to activate 
support. 

10.3 Partner Agencies Without Agreements 

○ While written Partner Agency Agreements are preferred, it is recognized that not all 
Partner Agencies may sign an agreement. 

○ Organizations that provide verbal commitment of support, but do not sign written 
Partner Agency Agreements, shall be considered as Partner Agencies. 

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 17 of 34 

10.4 List of Partner Agencies 

○ Contact information, product/service descriptions, and agreement expiry dates for all 
Partner Agencies shall be listed in Form EP-03: Emergency Contacts. 

10.5 Requests for Assistance 

○ Participation from, or services of, required Partner Agencies shall be requested by the 
LEMO as required for emergency management. 

○ Partner Agencies may be temporarily added to the LEMO during emergency response. 

11. Support Service Providers 

11.1 Description 

○ A Support Service Provider is a local organization that may be required to operate 
during evacuation to provide goods and services to emergency responders (e.g., food, 
fuel, and medicine providers). 

11.2 List of Support Service Providers 

○ The Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) shall proactively identify 
local service providers that may be required to remain in operation during evacuation.   

○ Contact information and service descriptions for all Support Service Providers shall be 
listed in Form EP-03: Emergency Contacts. 

○ Form EP-04: Construction Equipment Resource List lists construction equipment 
available locally. 

11.3 Ensuring Level of Service 

○ When an Evacuation Alert or an Evacuation Order have been issued, the LEMO shall: 

 Consult the list of Support Service Providers in Form EP-03: Emergency Contacts; 

 Using Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist, determine which Support Service 
Providers are required to remain in the community to support emergency 
responders; and 

 Contact the Support Service Providers to arrange for the required level of service. 

12. Incident Command System 

12.1 Description 

○ The Incident Command System (ICS) is a standardized and scalable emergency 
management framework that enables multiple agencies to operate within a common 
organizational structure. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 18 of 34 

○ The Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO), the NWT EMO, and many 
other municipal, provincial, territorial, national, and international organizations use ICS 
for emergency response. 

○ ICS provides: 

 Activation of only those positions required to manage a particular emergency; 

 Timely assignment of personnel with required training and expertise to critical 
functions;  

 Management structure and language common to all emergency responders; 

 A flexible organizational structure capable of responding to all levels of emergencies 
from simple to complex; and 

 A scalable/expandable organizational structure that can grow or shrink quickly in 
response to changing requirements of an emergency. 

12.2 ICS Structure 

○ During emergency response, the LEMO shall be organized according to the ICS 
structure.   

○ ICS breaks response into five primary management functions, enabling effective span 
of control and unity of command (see Figure 1): 

 Command (overall responsibility); 

 Finance (manages finances); 

 Logistics (material support);  

 Operations (tactical actions); and 

 Planning (action plans). 

Figure 1: ICS Structure 

 

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 19 of 34 

12.3 ICS Positions 

○ Those involved in emergency response shall be assigned positions within the ICS 
structure (see Figure 2). 

Figure 2: ICS Positions 

 

○ Reporting relationships during emergency response may differ from normal operations.   

○ The Incident Commander shall: 

 Assign LEMO members to only those positions that are relevant to the particular 
emergency response; 

 Reassign members as required;  

 Expand/contract the LEMO as required; and 

 Ensure positions are identified on Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting. 

○ Partner Agencies may be temporarily included in the LEMO during emergency 
response.   

 Services of required Partner Agencies shall be requested by the LEMO (contact 
information is found in Form EP-03: Emergency Contacts). 

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 20 of 34 

○ Table 3 identifies ICS positions, responsibilities, and the LEMO members that normally 
fill each position. 

Table 3: ICS Positions 

Member Responsibilities 

Incident Commander 

○ Lead emergency response, evacuation. 

○ Typically filled by Senior Administrative Officer or 
Director of Protective Services. 

 
Information 
Officer 

○ Media and public messaging. 

○ Typically filled by Assistant Senior Administrative 
Officer. 

 Liaison Officer 
○ Coordinate Partner Agencies. 

○ Typically filled by Senior Administrative Officer. 

 Safety Officer 
○ Monitor onsite safety. 

○ Typically filled by Protective Services Specialist. 

 Scribe 
○ Meeting coordination and minutes.   

○ Typically filled by Council Administrator. 

Planning Chief 
○ Response planning. 

○ Typically filled by Incident Commander. 

Operations Chief 

○ Carry out plan, tactical action. 

○ Typically filled by Director of Protective Services or 
Deputy Fire Chief. 

 Site Commander 
○ Manage onsite response. 

○ Typically filled by Fire Dept. Senior Ranking Officer. 

 
Evacuee Division 
Supervisor 

○ Evacuee hosting & transportation coordination. 

○ Typically filled by Director of Rec. & Community Serv. 

Logistics Chief 
○ Supplies and services, information tech, volunteers. 

○ Typically filled by Director of Public Works & Services. 

 
Support Services 
Coordinator 

○ Engages Support Service Providers for evacuations. 

○ Typically filled by Tourism Coordinator. 

Finance Chief 
○ Contracts, payments, tracking, reporting. 

○ Typically filled by Director of Finance. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 21 of 34 

13. State of Local Emergency 

13.1 Description 

○ A State of Local Emergency is a declaration by the Local Authority that an emergency 
exists in the community, triggering the activation of the Community Emergency Plan.   

○ Only Council (i.e., the Local Authority) is authorized to declare emergencies.   

○ If Council is unable to act, the Mayor may act on Council’s behalf.   

13.2 Purpose 

○ Declaring a State of Local Emergency provides additional powers to the Local 
Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) to do everything necessary, for the 
duration of the order, to respond to an emergency.   

○ Examples include: 

 Reallocating resources from regular operations to the emergency response (i.e., 
workers, equipment, time, funds); 

 Evacuating all or part of a community; 

 Restricting access to affected areas; 

 Acquiring or using land or property, whether private or public; 

 Authorizing or requiring qualified individuals to provide services or assistance; 

 Removing or demolishing vegetation, structures, equipment, or vehicles; and/or 

 Authorizing any person, at any time, to exercise any power listed above. 

13.3 Declaration Procedure 

○ Emergencies shall be declared as follows (pursuant to section 28 of the NWT Cities, 
Towns and Villages Act):   

 Upon notification that an emergency is anticipated or has occurred, the Senior 
Administrative Officer (SAO) shall inform Council (e.g., by email or phone). 

 Council shall hold an Emergency Council Meeting as soon as reasonably possible.  
Any Council member may call the meeting.  The Councillor who calls the meeting, or 
the SAO, shall: 

- Notify the Mayor and as many Council members as reasonably possible of the 
meeting subject and location; and  

- Provide as much public notice of the meeting as reasonably possible. 

 At the Emergency Council Meeting: 

- Council members who attend constitute a quorum, regardless of number. 

- If the Mayor or Deputy Mayor are not present, the meeting shall be chaired by 
another member of Council. 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 22 of 34 

- Council may only transact business relating to the emergency. 

- If satisfied that an emergency exists or may exist within the community, Council 
may, by resolution, declare a State of Local Emergency to exist in all or part of 
the community. 

▫ Form EP-01: State of Local Emergency shall be used to document the 
declaration. 

▫ The declaration shall identify the nature of the emergency, the area of the 
community affected, and the budget approved for the emergency response. 

 Declaration of a State of Local Emergency authorizes the activation of the THR 
Community Emergency Plan and any powers conferred under the Plan.  

13.4 Declaration Renewal & Termination 

○ An emergency expires when terminated by Council, or after seven days – whichever 
comes first. 

○ Council may renew a declaration of a State of Local Emergency before its expiry, 
subject to approval by the Minster of MACA.   

 Form EP-01: State of Local Emergency shall be used to document the renewal, as 
well as any changes to the area affected and the approved budget. 

○ When the emergency risk has been adequately mitigated, Council shall terminate the 
declaration of a State of Local Emergency. 

 Form EP-01: State of Local Emergency shall be used to document the renewal. 

○ The Minister of MACA may cancel a declaration of a State of Local Emergency at any 
time the Minister considers appropriate. 

13.5 Notifications  

○ When a State of Local Emergency is declared, renewed, or terminated, the LEMO 
Coordinator shall ensure the following parties are notified as soon as reasonably 
possible:  

 The Head of the NWT EMO, by forwarding a copy Form EP-01: State of Local 
Emergency to the South Slave REMO. 

 All agencies involved in the response; and 

 The public (i.e., the majority of the population of the area affected), using any means 
of communication necessary.  Communication options include: 

- NWT Alert: 

▫ Operated by the NWT EMO. 

▫ Part of the national public alerting system “Alert Ready;” 

▫ Provides critical and potentially life-saving emergency alerts to NWT residents 
through cell phones, radio, and television (including information on risk, 
protective measures, and instruction); and 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 23 of 34 

▫ Use shall be requested from the REMO; 

- THR Emergency Management Email System;  

- THR Facebook account (https://www.facebook.com/townofhayriver); and 

- THR website (www.hayriver.com).  

14. Emergency Response 

14.1 Emergency Operations Centre  

○ The Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) is the physical location from which 
emergency response is coordinated:   

 The primary EOC location is the Town Hall. 

 The alternate EOC location is the Emergency Services Building. 

 In the event both EOC locations are compromised by the emergency, a virtual EOC 
shall be used. 

○ Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) Meetings for emergency 
response shall be held at the EOC. 

○ The EOC shall have suitable space for the LEMO to meet, access to reliable 
communications (including Internet), and a source of backup power (where possible).   

○ Members of the media and the public are not permitted to access the EOC.  

○ The EOC shall be equipped with hard copies of the following documents: 

 Community Emergency Plan and associated forms; 

 Emergency Management By-law; 

 NWT Cities, Towns & Villages Act; 

 NWT Emergency Management Act; and 

 NWT Emergency Plan. 

○ The EOC shall be equipped with the following equipment: 

 Community maps (including flood risk map, road map, satellite image map); 

 Remote communications equipment (including satellite phones, handheld radio 
equipment); 

 Notebooks and pens; 

 A laptop computer; 

 Guest WIFI with passcode; and 

 Keys to the alternate EOC location. 

○ Members of the media and the public shall not be permitted to access the EOC.  

https://www.facebook.com/townofhayriver
http://www.hayriver.com/


 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 24 of 34 

14.2 LEMO Meetings During Emergency Response 

○ Upon declaration of an emergency by Council, the LEMO Coordinator shall: 

 Call and chair a LEMO Meeting; 

 Appoint a scribe to take LEMO Meeting minutes using Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting;  

 Refer to the Community Emergency Plan and identify the response procedure 
applicable to the emergency (refer to Form EP-16.01 through Form EP-16.09);  

 Identify/assign the Incident Commander: 

- This role shall be assumed by a member of the agency with the predominant role 
in the response, depending on the emergency; 

- If THR has the predominant response role, the Incident Commander position may 
be assumed by the LEMO Coordinator or assigned to another LEMO member 
who is better suited based on the particular emergency; and 

- Delegate certain LEMO leadership duties to the Incident Commander (e.g., 
leading the LEMO during response, notifying all agencies involved in the 
response, communicating with the REMO); and 

 Regularly update Council on emergency response progress and spending. 

○ The Incident Commander shall: 

 Chair LEMO Meetings (documented on Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting); 

 Assign LEMO members to ICS positions (refer to section 12.3); 

 Ensure applicable Partner Agencies are contacted for assistance;  

 Require LEMO members to log all actions taken and associated costs; 

 Require all health & safety practices and procedures to be fully followed during 
emergency response to protect the health & safety of workers and the public; 

 Hand out Position Checklists, requiring: 

- LEMO members to complete the duties applicable to their position on Form EP-
06: LEMO Position Checklists;  

- Partner Agencies to complete the duties applicable to their position on Form EP-
07: Partner Agency Position Checklist; and 

- Suggested improvements to the forms be submitted to the Scribe; 

 Determine LEMO Meeting frequency; and 

 Ensure LEMO Meetings include updates from, and action plans for, all positions and 
Partner Agencies. 

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 25 of 34 

14.3 Requesting GNWT Support 

○ When an emergency is too large or complex to handle at the local level, the Incident 
Commander shall request assistance from the REMO.   

○ The request for assistance from the South Slave REMO is done first by phone (867-
872-6531), followed by submission of the Community Government Request for GNWT 
Emergency Management Assistance by email. 

14.4 Volunteers 

○ Volunteers support the LEMO during emergencies in areas such as: 

 Evacuee hosting; 

 Hazard monitoring (e.g., flood watch); 

 Meal preparation;  

 Recovery support; and 

 Transportation. 

○ The Logistics Chief oversees the management of volunteers.    This includes inviting, 
registering, deploying, and tracking the hours of volunteers, both ahead of and during 
an emergency. 

○ Volunteers shall be registered, both for coordination purposes and to provide them with 
protection under the Workers’ Compensation Act.   

 Volunteers shall be registered using Form EP-08: Volunteer Sign-up and shall be 
tracked on Form EP-09: Volunteer Registry.   

 Volunteers may be pre-registered, where required, to enable a more efficient 
emergency response.   

14.5 Public & Media Relations 

○ THR emergencies will cause public concern and garner attention on social and/or 
mainstream media. 

○ The Information Officer shall address the public and the media regarding emergency 
response and arrange press conferences and media briefings. 

○ LEMO members, Partner Agencies, and all others involved in the emergency response 
shall not make any statements on behalf of THR on social media, to the public, or to 
the media.  Questions shall instead be referred to the Information Officer. 

  

https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/sites/maca/files/230323request_for_assistance-formatted.pdf
https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/sites/maca/files/230323request_for_assistance-formatted.pdf


 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 26 of 34 

15. Evacuation 

15.1 Evacuation Types 

○ When the Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) deems the community, 
or an area of the community, too hazardous for people to remain, evacuation may be 
required: 

 Partial evacuation (i.e., evacuation within the community from one area to another) 
shall be managed by the LEMO. 

 Full evacuation (i.e., evacuation of the entire community to another community) shall 
be managed by the REMO. 

 Delayed evacuation and sheltering in place may be temporarily advised by the 
LEMO due to the potential impact of the emergency on road and air travel (e.g., 
severe weather, wildfire, smoke).  Shelters shall be resistant to the impacts of the 
emergency and may include homes and/or an Evacuation Centre in a safe area with 
appropriate emergency mitigation measures in place. 

15.2 Evacuation Notifications 

○ The LEMO issues up to four levels of evacuation notifications: 

 Evacuation Notice 

- Warns of a potential emergency, advises to prepare for evacuation should it be 
required. 

 Evacuation Alert 

- Warns of an emergency presenting increased risk to life and property, advises to 
be prepared to evacuate on short notice.   

- Advises evacuation of vulnerable residents. 

 Evacuation Order 

- Orders immediate evacuation due to an emergency presenting serious risk to life 
and property.   

- Offers evacuation assistance.   

- Can be issued without declaring a State of Local Emergency. 

 Evacuation All-Clear 

- Advises the emergency is under control, the Evacuation Order has been lifted, 
and it is safe to return.   

- Advises where to go for transportation arrangements. 

○ Evacuation notifications provide: 

 A description of the emergency and the affected area (i.e., part or all of the 
community); 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 27 of 34 

 Recommended actions; 

 The address for online evacuee registration; 

 Instructions for those requiring evacuation assistance; and 

 Ways to monitor updates online or by phone. 

○ Evacuation notifications shall be issued: 

 By the LEMO, or by MACA if the LEMO is unable; 

 With as much advance notice as possible; and 

 According to risk level – lower level notifications may be bypassed in situations of 
higher risk. 

○ Evacuation notification templates are included on Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications. 

15.3 Vulnerable Populations 

○ Vulnerable populations are those residents who require special consideration, support, 
and attention during evacuation: 

 Hay River Health & Social Services Authority facilities patients, clients, and 
residents: 

- May require special facilities, resources, support, transportation, and placement 
in similar facilities. 

- Evacuation is governed by the Hay River Health & Social Services Authority and 
their facility evacuation plans. 

 South Mackenzie Correctional Centre inmates: 

- Require special security and transportation arrangements. 

- Evacuation is governed by the Department of Justice and their facility evacuation 
plan.   

 Vulnerable residents (e.g., elderly, homeless, those with health or mobility issues):  

- May require additional supports during evacuation (e.g., medical attendants, 
caregivers, family, equipment). 

- Shall be identified ahead of time, where possible, in collaboration with Partner 
Agencies (e.g., Hay River Health & Social Services Authority, Housing NWT, 
Indigenous governments). 

15.4 Evacuation Priority 

○ Due to the additional time and arrangements required to evacuate, Vulnerable 
Populations shall be advised to evacuate during the Evacuation Alert phase, where 
possible. 

○ All remaining residents and visitors shall evacuate during the Evacuation Order phase.   



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 28 of 34 

15.5 Evacuation Management 

○ Evacuation of residents shall be conducted as per Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan 
Checklist and shall include:  

 Warning residents of pending evacuation; 

 Contacting Partner Agencies;  

 Identifying and contacting Support Service Providers; 

 Identifying staff required to work onsite or remotely to maintain business continuity; 

 Evacuating residents; 

 Identifying available evacuee hosting; and  

 Communicating a call to return. 

○ Evacuation methods are dependent on the emergency and its effect on community 
inhabitability and accessibility, as well as the availability of Partner Agencies to assist in 
the evacuation.  

15.6 Evacuee Registration 

○ Evacuees shall be: 

 Encouraged to register; and 

 Provided with the means to register. 

○ Evacuee registration shall be completed: 

 Online using the GNWT Evacuee Registration Form (preferred) – a link to the portal 
shall be provided at www.hayriver.com; or 

 By completing and submitting Form EP-10: Evacuee Sign-up. 

○ Vulnerable residents shall be invited to pre-register. 

○ A list of evacuees shall be compiled and provided to the REMO: 

 From the GNWT Evacuee Registration portal; and/or 

 On Form EP-11: Evacuee Registry. 

15.7 Evacuation Centres 

○ Evacuation Centres are typically group lodging facilities (e.g., recreation centres, 
school gymnasiums) that provide cots, blankets, washroom facilities, showers, and 
food services. 

 THR shall provide Evacuation Centres for evacuees who are unable to provide for 
themselves during evacuation, whether local or from another community. 

 Evacuees who are able to find their own accommodations shall do so at their own 
expense.  

https://www.gov.nt.ca/en/form/evac
http://www.hayriver.com/


 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 29 of 34 

 The Evacuee Division Supervisor shall manage Evacuation Centres as per Form 
EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist. 

 Volunteers assisting with evacuee hosting shall be managed as per section 14.4. 

 Disrespectful or disruptive behavior at an Evacuation Centre shall not be tolerated 
and may result in eviction.  Evicted evacuees shall be responsible for arranging their 
own accommodations. 

○ While group lodging and cot sleeping is normally suitable for the majority of evacuees, 
some individuals may require alternate lodging arrangements due to health 
requirements.   

 Health care providers shall conduct health assessments of evacuees who may 
require alternate lodging, assessing: 

- Health and medical needs (i.e., health conditions that may require specific 
accommodations or medical attention); 

- Mobility and accessibility (i.e., whether the Evacuation Centre facilities are 
suitable given the person’s physical condition); and 

- Special considerations (i.e., unique circumstances related to safety, family 
dynamics, or vulnerabilities that may be incompatible with group lodging).  

 Health care providers shall make recommendations for evacuees requiring alternate 
lodging, either: 

- Temporary accommodations for vulnerable residents, provided by Housing NWT; 
or 

- Commercial lodging.   

○ Evacuation Centres shall: 

 Be capable of hosting a large number of people with diverse needs; 

 Have cots and blankets available for sleeping; 

 Have onsite health personnel to complete health checks and provide basic health 
services; 

 Have procedures and facilities in place to accommodate pets; 

 Have adequate washroom and shower facilities; 

 Have a food storage and cooking area; and 

 Be resistant to impact from the emergency.  For example:  

- In a fire emergency, the facility should have a metal roof, have sprinklers 
available to set up on roof, be located in an area with lower fire risk, have smoke 
mitigation measures in place such as covering door gaps, turning off air 
exchange fans, and closing all windows and doors).  

- In a flood emergency, the facility should be located outside of the flood zone. 

  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 30 of 34 

16. Emergency Recovery 

16.1 Description 

○ THR shall take the required steps to return to full operations and the provision of full 
municipal services as swiftly as possible, while assisting the community in adjusting to 
post-emergency realities.  This includes:  

 Restarting normal operations; 

 Returning evacuees;  

 Assessing, repairing, and replacing damaged infrastructure and property; and 

 Reviewing the effectiveness of the emergency response. 

16.2 Community Re-entry 

○ Detailed planning for evacuee re-entry is required prior to issuing the All-Clear 
notification (refer to section 15.2). 

○ Before allowing re-entry of evacuees, the Local Emergency Management Organization 
(LEMO) shall ensure the community is in a safe condition.  This may require an 
advance team of workers with sufficient skills, time, and resources to ensure essential 
services are in place and assess the readiness of the community to receive remaining 
evacuees. 

○ If the degree of damage varies by area, a phased re-entry may be required as areas 
are declared safe for re-entry.   

○ A reception centre may be required to coordinate the return of certain individuals to 
their homes (e.g., those without personal transportation). 

16.3 Emergency Debrief Meeting 

○ Along with the immediate need to return the community to normalcy, there is a longer-
term goal of reducing future vulnerability.   

○ Following termination of an emergency, the LEMO shall hold an Emergency Debrief 
Meeting to assess the management of the emergency and identify opportunities for 
improvement: 

 Review the effectiveness of the emergency response;  

 Review any incidents that occurred during response; 

 Review the costs of the response; 

 Identify required improvements to the Community Emergency Plan; and 

 Identify required preventive measures. 

○ The meeting shall be documented on Form EP-15: Emergency Debrief. 

 Accountability shall be assigned for all corrective actions (i.e., responsible party and 
due date). 



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 31 of 34 

○ Partner Agencies may be invited to participate in the Emergency Debrief Meeting. 

○ The LEMO Coordinator shall: 

 Chair the Emergency Debrief Meeting;  

 Ensure corrective actions are assigned and completed; and 

 Present to Council an accounting of the costs of the emergency response. 

16.4 Liability and Financial Considerations 

○ Liability 

 No action, including for equitable relief, lies for any action or omission done in good 
faith while carrying out a power or duty under the NWT Emergency Management 
Act, by: 

- The Minister or a person acting under the Minister’s direction or authorization, 
including volunteers; 

- A person acting under a Local Authority’s direction or authorization, including 
volunteers; or 

- The members of the GNWT Territorial Planning Committee (the body that leads 
emergency management planning for the GNWT). 

○ Borrowing of Funds 

 Subject to the NWT Cities, Towns and Villages Act, within 60 days after the 
declaration of a State of Local Emergency, the Local Authority, by bylaw, may 
borrow the necessary sums to pay expenses caused by the emergency and 
provided at the request of the Local Authority.   

 This includes payment for services provided by the GNWT and/or the Government 
of Canada. 

○ Disaster Assistance 

 The GNWT Disaster Assistance Policy is a government-funded program that 
provides financial support to community governments, small businesses, and 
individuals in recovering from disasters and restoring damaged property to its pre-
disaster condition. 

 Application of the policy is determined by the Executive Council of the Northwest 
Territories following specific disaster events. 

 Emergency response and recovery expenses are normally the responsibility of the 
Local Authority.  Should the GNWT Disaster Assistance Policy be applied to an 
emergency, certain costs may be eligible for reimbursement.  Detailed accounting 
records supporting the expenditures are required to determine eligibility for 
reimbursement. 

○ Evacuation Cost Recovery 

 Detailed records of all evacuation-related expenses and decisions shall be 
maintained (e.g. timesheets, contracts, proof of payment). 

https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/en/services/disaster-recovery/disaster-financial-assistance


 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 32 of 34 

 Expenses related to evacuation and hosting activities are the responsibility of THR; 
however: 

- Should the GNWT Disaster Assistance Policy be applied to the emergency, 
evacuation and hosting expenses are an eligible category as part of a community 
claim.   

- Where a Local Authority is requested to act as host community by the REMO or 
TEMO (i.e., to accommodate evacuees from another community), costs 
associated with hosting are eligible for reimbursement as per the NWT 
Emergency Plan, regardless of the application of the GNWT Disaster Assistance 
Policy. 

- MACA’s Community Government Hosting Evacuees Grant provides financial 
assistance to eligible community governments that host evacuees outside of a 
designated Evacuation Centre. 

○ Property Damage 

 Any real or personal property acquired, used, damaged, or destroyed by the Local 
Authority during the emergency response shall be compensated to the owner. 

17. Training 

17.1 ICS 100 Training (Incident Command System) 

○ Required for all Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) members a 
minimum of once. 

17.2 ICS 200 Training (Incident Command System) 

○ Required for all Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) members a 
minimum of once. 

17.3 Community Emergency Management Plan Training 

○ Required for all LEMO members a minimum of once every three years. 

18. Documentation 

○ Form EP-01: State of Local Emergency 

○ Form EP-02: Partner Agency Agreement 

○ Form EP-03: Emergency Contacts 

○ Form EP-04: Construction Equipment Resource List 

○ Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting 

○ Form EP-06: LEMO Position Checklists 

○ Form EP-07: Partner Agency Position Checklists 

https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/en/services/emergency-management-nwt
https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/en/services/emergency-management-nwt
https://www.maca.gov.nt.ca/en/services/community-government-hosting-evacuees-grant


 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 33 of 34 

○ Form EP-08: Volunteer Sign-up 

○ Form EP-09: Volunteer Registry 

○ Form EP-10: Evacuee Sign-up 

○ Form EP-11: Evacuee Registry 

○ Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist 

○ Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

○ Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 

○ Form EP-15: Emergency Debrief 

○ Form EP-16.01: Response Procedure – All Hazards 

○ Form EP-16.02: Response Procedure – Critical Service Interruption 

○ Form EP-16.03: Response Procedure – Flood 

○ Form EP-16.04: Response Procedure – Hazardous Materials Spill 

○ Form EP-16.05: Response Procedure – Human Disease 

○ Form EP-16.06: Response Procedure – Severe Weather 

○ Form EP-16.07: Response Procedure – Structural Fire 

○ Form EP-16.08: Response Procedure – Transportation Incident 

○ Form EP-16.09: Response Procedure – Wildfire 

19. References 

○ NWT Cities, Towns and Villages Act 2003 

○ NWT Community Emergency Plan Template 2024 

○ NWT Emergency Management Act 2018 

○ NWT Emergency Plan 2024 

○ NWT Hazard Identification Risk Assessment 2024 

○ THR By-law 2190-PS: Emergency Management 

20. Development 

Name Position Date 

Developer:  E. Smith Cavers Solutions Ltd.  

Reviewer:  T. Wright Director of Protective Services  

Approver:  T. Wright Director of Protective Services  



 Town of Hay River 

Community Emergency Plan 
2024 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 34 of 34 

21. Revision History 

Version Description Approver Issue Date 

v. 01 Original document T. Wright  

    

    

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

State of Local Emergency 
Form EP-01 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 1 

State of Local Emergency 

 

Whereas a ____________________ (describe emergency) ________ (is or was) threatening the 

____________________ (describe specific area, or full community) of Hay River; 

 

Under the authority provided by Section 18(1) of the NWT Emergency Management Act, the Local Authority 

(i.e., Hay River Council) hereby: 

   Declares a State of Local Emergency. 

   Renews the State of Local Emergency. 

   Terminates the State of Local Emergency. 

 

Council hereby authorizes a procurement budget of $____________________ for the emergency response. 

Local Authority Representative Signature Date & Time 

   

 
Instructions: 

1) LEMO Coordinator shall provide completed form to Head of NWT EMO immediately via 
the South Slave REMO.   

2) LEMO Coordinator shall ensure notification of residents using the template below. 

 

Public Announcement: State of Local Emergency 

 
A ____________________ (describe emergency) ________ (is or was) threatening the 

____________________ (describe specific area, or full community) of Hay River; 

 

the Local Authority (i.e., Hay River Council) hereby: 

   Declares a State of Local Emergency. 

   Renews the State of Local Emergency. 

   Terminates the State of Local Emergency. 

 

(For declaration & renewal only): The public is advised that for the duration of the emergency, the Local 
Authority (i.e., Council) may take any action deemed necessary, as authorized by the NWT Emergency 
Management Act. 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Agreement 
Form EP-02 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 1 of 4 

1. Purpose 

Under Section 10(2) of the Emergency Management Act (the Act), the Town of Hay River 
(THR) Local Authority is responsible for the development and implementation of the 
Community Emergency Plan.  It is recognized that community emergencies can 
overwhelm THR capacities, and that interagency coordination is essential in emergency 
management for the protection of lives, property, and the environment.   

As per Section 11 of the Act, a Local Authority may enter into agreements for the provision 
of services in the development or implementation of emergency plans or programs.  The 
THR Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) is therefore proactively 
establishing agreements with Partner Agencies whose resources and support may be 
required in the emergency management cycle (i.e., prevention, preparedness, response, 
and/or recovery).  

This document formalizes the arrangement between the THR LEMO and the Partner 
Agency.  It sets out the terms and understanding related to the resources and support that 
will be provided by the Partner Agency for emergency management, should it be 
requested by the THR LEMO.  This is not a legally binding agreement. 

2. Parties 

This Partner Agency Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on  
this _____ day of _______________, 20_____ (“Effective Date”) by and between: 

 

The Town of Hay River Local Emergency Management Organization (“THR LEMO”) 

100-62 Woodland Drive, Hay River, NT, X0E 1G1 

and 

[Name of second party] (“Partner Agency”) 

[address] 

3. Term 

The term of this Agreement is a fixed term of a duration of three (3) years; commencing at 
12:00 noon on the _____ day of _______________, 20_____ (“Commencement Date”) 
and ending at 12:00 noon on the _____ day of _______________, 20_____ (“Termination 
Date”). 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Agreement 
Form EP-02 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 2 of 4 

4. Services and Support 

In the event of a request for emergency management support by the THR LEMO, the 
Partner Agency shall make available the following facilities, expertise, services, and/or 
resources, as required: 

Area of Support Support  
Details (e.g., quantity, duration, 
limitations) 

 Prevention 

 Fire mitigation 

 Flood mitigation 

 Other 

 

 Preparedness 

 Annual Emerg. Plan review  

 Attend planning meetings 

 Other 

 

 Evacuation 

 Identify vulnerable residents  

 Notification (door-to-door) 

 Transportation coord. (air) 

 Transportation coord. (land) 

 Vehicles/transportation 

 Other 

 

 Evacuation Centre 
(hosting) 

 Air purifiers 

 Buildings 

 Comfort care kits 

 Commercial accommodation  

 Communications equipment 

 Cots, bedding 

 Food, drinks, food services  

 Generators 

 Health assess evacuees 

 Housing 

 Janitorial  

 PPE 

 Registration 

 Security  

 Other 

 Other 

 Other 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Agreement 
Form EP-02 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 3 of 4 

Area of Support Support  
Details (e.g., quantity, duration, 
limitations) 

 Response (check 
applicable emergencies) 

 

 Critical service 
interruption (fuel, 
power, water) 

 

 Flood 

 

 Hazardous 
materials spill 

 

 Human disease 
(epi/pandemic) 

 

 Severe weather 

 

 Structural fire 

 

 Transportation 
incident (air/road) 

 

 Wildfire 

 Aggregate (e.g., gravel/sand) 

 Airplanes 

 Buildings 

 Communications equipment 

 Communications provider 

 Construction equipment 

 Generators 

 Helicopters 

 Pet support 

 PPE 

 Pumps, hoses 

 Road clearing 

 Search & rescue 

 Security control 

 Utility coordination 

 Vacuum truck 

 Vehicles  

 Wildfire attack 

 Other 

 Other 

 Other 

 

 Recovery 

 Early Recovery (restoration 
of essential civic services) 

 Mid-term Recovery (for 
partial damage) 

 Long-term Recovery (for 
significant damage) 

 Damage assessment 

 Evacuee re-entry 

 Other 

 Other 

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Agreement 
Form EP-02 

 

 
v. 01  Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.        Page 4 of 4 

5. Requests for Assistance 

Requests for assistance shall be made to the following Partner Agency representative and 
shall include a detailed list of anticipated requirements, locations, and schedules: 

[Name] 
[Position] 
[Phone] 
[Email] 

6. Acknowledgement 

In witness whereof the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date indicated 
below: 

 

Approved by:       Date:      

                   THR LEMO Coordinator 

 

Approved by:       Date:      

    [Partner Agency] [Position] 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Emergency Contacts 
Form EP-03 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Available to LEMO members during emergency response/recovery. 



Community Emergency Plan 

Construction Equipment Resource List

Form EP-04

Unit  Carter  Rowe's  JD  Darrell's Eagle 88  Brave  Raine 

 HR 

Disposals 

1. Gravel/Dump Trucks (w/operator)

Tandem axle dump truck (bodyjob) /hr

Tandem axle tractor with trailer /day

2. Tracked Excavators (w/operator)

/hr

Brushcutter /hr

Hoepac /hr

Ripper /hr

/hr

Brushcutter /hr

Hoepac /hr

Ripper /hr

/hr

Brushcutter /hr

Hoepac /hr

Ripper /hr

3. Articulated Wheel Loaders (w/operator)

/hr

/hr

4. Crawler Dozer (w/operator)

/hr

Ripper /hr

Winch /hr

/hr

Ripper /hr

Winch /hr

/hr

Ripper /hr

Registry of Construction Equipment Valid: 2022-24

Tracked backhoe CAT 235/335 or equivalent

Tracked backhoe CAT 225/325 or equivalent

Tracked backhoe CAT 180/312 or equivalent

Articulated wheel loader (greater than 4 yard bucket)

Articulated wheel loader (less than 4 yard bucket)

Crawler dozer 275 HP or greater

Crawler dozer 140-275 HP

Crawler dozer less than 140 HP

v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use. Page 1 of 3  



Community Emergency Plan 

Construction Equipment Resource List

Form EP-04

Winch /hr

5. Skid Steer Loader (w/operator)

Auger /hr

Brushcutter /hr

Auger /hr

Brushcutter /hr

6. Rubber Tire Backhoe/Loader (w/operator)

/hr

Hoepac /hr

7. Hoisting Picker Equipment (w/operator)

30 T /hr

8 T /hr

5 T /hr

3 T /hr

8. Road Watering Truck (w/operator)

/hr

9. Compaction Equipment

/hr

/hr

/day

/day

10. Personnel

/hr

/hr

/hr

/day

11. Pumps

/day

/day

/day

Wheel mounted skid steer loader

Track mounted skid steer loader

Rubber tire backhoe/loader

Road watering truck w/minimum 8' spray bar

Smooth drum vibratory compactor

Sheep pad drum vibratory compactor

Jumping jack compactor

Plate tamper

Foreman

Labourer

Labourer/pipelayer

Welder (certified) w/welding truck & equipment (8hr day)

2" gas operated pump

2" electric submersible

3" pumps

v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use. Page 2 of 3  



Community Emergency Plan 

Construction Equipment Resource List

Form EP-04

/day

/day

12. Miscellaneous

/hr /day

/hr

/hr /day

13. Grader (w/operator)

/hr

4" pumps

6" pumps

Pick-up truck

CAT 140M motor grader or equivalent

Pilot vehicle

Light tower/generator

v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use. Page 3 of 3  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Meeting 
Form EP-05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 4 

Call to Order 

Emergency title:  Date: Click to enter 

Chair:  Start time:  End time:  

Scribe:  Next meeting date: Click to enter  Time:   

Agenda 

 

1) Attendance 

2) Assign Incident Command System (ICS) positions 

3) Position reports, action plans 

4) Partner Agency updates, action plans 

5) Set next meeting, adjourn 

 

Attendance, Position Assignment 

Name ICS Position or Partner Agency Present 

 Incident Commander  

 - Information Officer  

 - Liaison Officer  

 - Safety Officer  

 Planning Chief  

 Operations Chief  

 - Site Commander  

 - Evacuee Division Supervisor  

 Logistics Chief  

 - Support Services Coordinator  

 Finance Chief  

 Partner Agency:   

 Partner Agency:   

 Partner Agency:   

 Partner Agency:   

 Partner Agency:   

 Partner Agency:   

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Meeting 
Form EP-05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 4 

ICS Position Updates, Action Plans  

Incident Commander 

Update:  

Action plan:  

Planning Chief 

Update: (include after-hours continuity) 

Action plan:  

Operations Chief 

Update: (include end of day summary) 

Action plan:  

Logistics Chief 

Update:  

Action plan:  

Finance Chief 

Update:  

Action plan:  

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor 

Update:  

Action plan:  

Information Officer 

Update: (public messaging, media briefing) 

Action plan:  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Meeting 
Form EP-05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 4 

ICS Position Updates, Action Plans  

Liaison Officer  

Update:  

Action plan:  

Safety Officer 

Update:  

Action plan:  

Site Commander 

Update:  

Action plan:  

Support Services 
Coordinator 

Update:  

Action plan:  

 

Partner Agency Updates, Action Plans 

 

Update:  

Action plan:  

 

Update:  

Action plan:  

 
Update:  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Meeting 
Form EP-05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 4 

Partner Agency Updates, Action Plans 

Action plan:  

 

Update:  

Action plan:  

 

Update:  

Action plan:  

 

Update:  

Action plan:  

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 12 

Table of Contents 

1. LEMO Coordinator .............................................................................................................. 2 

2. Incident Commander ........................................................................................................... 3 

3. Information Officer .............................................................................................................. 4 

4. Liaison Officer ..................................................................................................................... 5 

5. Safety Officer ...................................................................................................................... 6 

6. Planning Chief .................................................................................................................... 7 

7. Operations Chief ................................................................................................................. 8 

8. Site Commander ................................................................................................................. 9 

9. Evacuee Division Supervisor..............................................................................................10 

11. Logistics Chief ................................................................................................................11 

12. Finance Chief .................................................................................................................12 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 12 

1. LEMO Coordinator 

 Task 

 Recommend declaration/renewal/termination of a State of Local Emergency to Council. 

 

Once an emergency is declared by Council on Form EP-01: State of Local Emergency: 

 Call a Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) meeting at Emergency Operations 
Centre (EOC), document on Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting. 

 Send Form EP-01: State of Local Emergency to REMO Superintendent for furtherance to Head of 
NWT EMO. 

 Activate the Community Emergency Plan. 

 
Assign an Incident Commander as per the applicable emergency response procedure in the Community 
Emergency Plan. 

 
Assume the ICS positions assigned by the Incident Commander, follow the applicable Position 
Checklists. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 12 

2. Incident Commander 

 Task 

 Coordinate and manage overall emergency response. 

 
Schedule and chair regular Local Emergency Management Organization (LEMO) meetings at the 
Emergency Operations Centre (EOC), document on Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting. 

 

Assign ICS positions, document on Form EP-05: LEMO Meeting.   

 Assume responsibility for ICS positions not delegated. 

 Normally assumes Planning Chief position. 

 Distribute the applicable Response Procedure to all LEMO members (Forms EP-16.01 – EP-16.09). 

 
Determine support required by Partner Agencies.   

 Contact required Partner Agencies to request support 

 
Determine support required by Support Service Providers.   

 Contact required Support Service Providers to request support. 

 
Determine if evacuation is required. 

 Advise Operations Chief and Evacuee Division Supervisor to activate Evacuation Centres. 

 Instruct LEMO members to track all emergency response actions and costs. 

 Ensure accurate and complete documentation is maintained by the LEMO. 

 

Instruct LEMO members to not make any statements on behalf of THR on social media, to the public, or 
to the media.   

 Public/media questions shall instead be referred to the Information Officer. 

 Review and approve all information releases to the public, the media, and social media. 

 

Determine objectives and strategies prioritized as follows: 

 Life Safety 

 Incident Stabilization 

 Property and Environment Conservation 

 Brief the Mayor and Council regularly. 

 Be prepared to conduct media interviews. 

 Consider requirement for a damage assessment expert. 

  

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 12 

3. Information Officer 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 

Ensure critical information is shared with stakeholders in a timely manner, including: 

 Residents 

 Media 

 Social media 

 Arrange press conferences and media briefings as required. 

 Ensure all information shared is accurate. 

 Receive approval from Incident Commander for public and media releases. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 12 

4. Liaison Officer 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 Establish contact with all Partner Agencies involved in the emergency response. 

 
If an external agency is the Incident Commander, work from their EOC if required and report back to the 
THR LEMO.   

 Maintain detailed awareness of the state of the emergency response and planned actions.   

 Maintain contact with external agencies and provide updates on the emergency response.   

 Represent THR at external agency briefings/meetings, as required. 

 Relay information and requests from external agencies to LEMO. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 6 of 12 

5. Safety Officer 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 Acts as subject matter expert for all health & safety issues related to the emergency. 

 Determine immediate health & safety requirements. 

 Assist responders in hazard assessment and control, incident reporting.   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 7 of 12 

6. Planning Chief 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 Organize and facilitate Planning Meetings with the Operations Chief. 

 Track resources. 

 

Determine, in consultation with the Operations Chief: 

 Long-term requirements for emergency response (e.g., staffing, weather forecasts, hazards).   

 Strategies to successfully complete action plans documented in LEMO meetings. 

 Ensure position action plans established at LEMO meetings are sufficient. 

 Open facilities for reception or evacuation centres. 

 Provide staff for the reception or evacuation centres. 

 Coordinate food services. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 8 of 12 

7. Operations Chief 

 Task 

Response 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 
Ensure THR staff and contractors follow all applicable health & safety practices and procedures (no 
shortcuts). 

 Establish and maintain communication with the Site Commander. 

 Establish a communication link from the emergency site to the EOC. 

 

Determine, in consultation with the Planning Chief: 

 Long term requirements for emergency response (e.g., staffing, weather forecasts, hazards, etc.).  

 Strategies to successfully complete action plans documented in LEMO meetings. 

 Direct operations and resources to achieve objectives. 

 With help from the Logistics Chief, manage procurement of necessary resources and equipment. 

 Coordinate operational groups, site activities, and required resources. 

 Coordinate monitoring and surveillance of potential or developing hazards. 

 Manage fire-fighting operations. 

 Conduct or support search and rescue activities (with assistance from volunteers). 

 Coordinate evacuations. 

 Identify threatened utilities. 

 Activate dangerous goods contacts as required 

 Ensure By‐law Officer support for security and evacuation operations 

Recovery 

 Coordinate restoration of services and infrastructure. 

 Provide/arrange for construction resources and services. 

 Provide/arrange for transportation resources and services. 

 Arrange potable water shuttles. 

 Arrange shutdown/restoration of Town utilities and notify the public. 

 Conduct a damage assessment on public property. 

 Prioritize the restoration of critical infrastructure. 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 9 of 12 

8. Site Commander 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Operations Chief. 

 Establish site control. 

 Identify and secure scene perimeter (in consultation with By‐Law Officer and/or RCMP where applicable). 

 Establish a site command post. 

 Assess the overall situation and brief the Operations Chief. 

 Manage emergency response activities at the emergency site. 

 Ensure onsite health & safety. 

 Establish communication links with all response managers on scene. 

 Identify overall priorities to all response agencies and assign tasks. 

 Coordinate support for the responders. 

 Advise the Operations Chief of support required. 

 Track personnel entering and leaving the incident site.  

 Track resources entering and leaving the incident site. 

 Receive updates from all response agencies on activities, damage, casualties, and resource needs. 

 Provide situational updates to the Operations Chief. 

  

  

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 10 of 12 

9. Evacuee Division Supervisor 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Operations Chief. 

 
Upon instruction from Operations Chief to commence evacuation: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist.   

 
Upon instruction from Operations Chief to activate Evacuation Centre: 

 Follow Form EP-14 - Evacuation Centre Checklist.   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 11 of 12 

11. Logistics Chief 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 

Participate in LEMO meetings and: 

 Identify service and support requirements. 

 Identify challenges with acquiring identified resources. 

 Work with the Operations Chief to evaluate resources effectiveness and make necessary adjustments. 

 Obtain required resources (e.g., personnel, equipment, transportation, etc.). 

 

Monitor & maintain communication, computing, and network systems required for emergency response: 

 Open V/UHF net and advise first responders it is open. 

 Open HF net, if required, and advise participants it is open. 

 Test all telephones. 

 Test WIFI connection and email. 

 Send advisories by email to REMO, NWT EMO, and emergency services that EOC 
communications are functioning. 

 Alert major equipment suppliers as required. 

 Provide/arrange for construction resources and services. 

 Provide/arrange for transportation resources and services. 

 Provide/arrange for demolition and route clearance. 

 Arrange potable water shuttles. 

 Establish contact with utilities and communication companies. 

 Arrange shutdown/restoration of Town utilities and notify the public. 

 Arrange alternate power and lighting for EOC and Site Commander. 

 Review equipment resources committed and available. 

 Provide a representative at the scene if required. 

 Determine potential public services impact of the event. 

 Conduct a damage assessment on public property. 

  

  

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

LEMO Position Checklists 
Form EP-06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 12 of 12 

12. Finance Chief 

 Task 

 Report to and receive direction from the Incident Commander. 

 Establish an event account code to capture operational costs. 

 Ensure all incident costs are tracked and controlled. 

 Identify financial code for operations to all concerned. 

 Procure legal advice, as required. 

 Liaise with insurance, as required. 

 Assist the Logistics Chief and the Operations Chief with procurement issues. 

 Determine the impact on operating budgets. 

 Provide staff to open and support the Emergency Operations Centre (EOC). 

 Identify the extraordinary economic impact of the event. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 10 

Table of Contents 

1. Businesses and Associations .............................................................................................. 2 

2. Canadian Coast Guard Auxiliary ......................................................................................... 3 

3. GNWT Department of Infrastructure (INF) ........................................................................... 4 

4. Hay River District Education Authority (DEA) ...................................................................... 5 

5. Hay River Health & Social Services Authority (HRHSSA) ................................................... 6 

7. Housing NWT ..................................................................................................................... 7 

9. Human Resources Centre (HRDC) ..................................................................................... 8 

10. Indigenous Governments and Organizations ................................................................... 9 

11. RCMP ............................................................................................................................10 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 10 

1. Businesses and Associations 

 Task 

 Share information on resources, capabilities and on‐site or transported hazards. 

 Provide available resources to support response management, victim assistance, and relocation. 

 Manage onsite emergencies. 

 
Advise authorities of real or potential public safety, property, or environmental dangers that could or do 
migrate offsite. 

 Provide technical experts. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 10 

2. Canadian Coast Guard Auxiliary 

 Task 

 Support search and rescue operations. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 10 

3. GNWT Department of Infrastructure (INF) 

 Task 

 Manage highway road closures. 

 Coordinate transportation for mass evacuations. 

 Secure the incident scene. 

 Provide an escort during a high risk evacuation. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 10 

4. Hay River District Education Authority (DEA) 

 Task 

 Disseminate emergency preparedness information to schools. 

 Manage student care and protection in on-site emergencies. 

 Supervise and care for students at temporary facilities. 

 Provide use of facilities to support victim assistance, evacuation, and reception. 

 Support access to school facilities and bussing for evacuation and registration centre needs. 

 Evacuate students in conjunction with Emergency Operations Centre (EOC). 

 Arrange alternate power for institutional needs. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 6 of 10 

5. Hay River Health & Social Services Authority (HRHSSA) 

 Task 

 Manage the registration of evacuees and the associated processes and tools. 

 
Conduct health assessments on vulnerable residents, make recommendations for alternate lodging as 
required (e.g., Housing NWT, commercial lodging) 

 Provision of advice and assistance on health and social service-related information. 

 Manage emergency social services (registration and inquiry). 

 Assist in the provision of victim and family personal support services. 

 Identify special support program needs for recovery. 

 Dispatch medical resources to the scene and provide site medical care. 

 Disseminate all advisories regarding Public Health/Environmental Health. 

 Provide leadership in pandemic events. 

 Arrange medical evacuation (medevac). 

 Advise on evacuation priorities. 

 Provide casualty data. 

 Quarantines. 

 Temporary morgue (share with RCMP). 

 Determine need for augmentation. 

 Establish contact with the Emergency Operations Centre (EOC). 

 Provide Environmental Health advice to the Town. 

 Determine the capacity to receive patients. 

 Provide Ambulance – Hospital coordination. 

 Provide casualty data to the Coordinator. 

 
Provision of advice and assistance to the LEMO to manage emergency social services (personal support 
services and registration). 

 Assist in the provision of victim and family personal services (i.e., outreach programs). 

 Identify special support program needs for recovery. 

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 7 of 10 

7.  Housing NWT 

 Task 

 
During evacuation, provide vacant housing as temporary accommodations for vulnerable residents 
(health care providers conduct health assessments on vulnerable residents who may be unable to stay in 
an Evacuation Centre and will make recommendations for evacuees requiring alternate lodging). 

 Advise on the safety of shelter in preparation for evacuation and reoccupation. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 8 of 10 

9. Human Resources Centre (HRDC) 

 Task 

 Assist the community in the recruiting, registration, and assigning of emergency workers. 

 Identify and recruit volunteers.   

 Train volunteers based on existing/required capacity and anticipated needs. 

 
NOTE: There is an exchange of letters between GNWT and HRDC in which HRDC offers assistance with 
the registration and assignment of emergency workers. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 9 of 10 

10. Indigenous Governments and Organizations 

 Task 

 Assist in dissemination of information. 

 Translation. 

 Identify special social needs. 

 Advice on evacuation and reception. 

 Share traditional knowledge related to the emergency. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Partner Agency Position Checklists 
Form EP-07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 10 of 10 

11. RCMP 

 Task 

 Assess and report on the degree of public danger. 

 Security of life, site, property, and evidence. 

 Support emergency Site Commander. 

 Site management when lead agency. 

 Coordination of ground search and rescue. 

 Traffic and crowd control. 

 Support/represent Medical Examiner (ME) and ensure Site Commander is aware of ME needs. 

 Identification and handling of dead. 

 Establish temporary morgue 

 Support rescue and evacuation operations. 

 Coordination of public ground search and rescue. 

 Assist casualty search activities coordinated by Fire Department. 

 Secure incident perimeter. 

 Control convergence. 

 Traffic and crowd control. 

 Advise Operations Chief of disposition. 

 Establish contact with the Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) and provide necessary liaison. 

  

  

  

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Volunteer Sign-up 
Form EP-08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 2 

Name Contact Skills 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Volunteer Sign-up 
Form EP-08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 2 

Name Contact Skills 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Skills (e.g., resident notification, hazard monitoring, evacuation centre, meal prep, registration, transportation). 



Community Emergency Plan 

Volunteer Registry

Form EP-09

Year: 

Name Phone Email Areas of Support Notes

Details

v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use. Page 1 of 1  



 
Community Emergency Plan  

Evacuee Sign-up 
Form EP-10 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 1 

Household Evacuee Primary Contact 

First name:  Last name:  Date: Click to enter  Time:  

Phone:  Email:  

Home Address 

Street address:  

City:  Territory:  Postal Code:  

Dependents (name, age, sex, special needs) 

  

  

  

  

Special Needs (describe) 

   Child care    Medical 

   Clothing    Translation 

   Dietary    Other 

   Lodging    Other 

Evacuee Temporary Accommodation (choose one) 

   I do not currently have temporary accommodations.  I am interested in Town-provided accommodations,  
      the Hay River Community Centre, or the Adopt an Evacuee initiative.   

   I have found accommodations and can provide the following contact information: 
      Contact name:    , phone:    , address:     . 

   I am refusing temporary accommodations and will be staying at my residence throughout the emergency. 

Accommodation Location and/or Contacts 

 

To be Completed by Registration Agent 

   Click here if completed by a Registration Agent 

First name:  Last name:  

 



Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuee Registry

Form EP-11

Name Address Phone Email

Dependents 

(name, age, sex, special needs: child 

care, clothing, dietary, lodging, 

medical, translation, other)

Accommodation Type

Temporary 

accommodation name, 

address, phone

Event date: Event title: 

v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use. Page 1 of 1  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Plan Checklist 
Form EP-12 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 4 

Purpose: movement, care, and safety of displaced residents. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

LEMO positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

 Support Services Coordinator (Tourism Coordinator) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner agencies: 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (patient/resident/client evac plans) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 HR Metis Government (vulnerable residents identification/evacuation) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (vulnerable residents identification/evacuation) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 SMCC (inmate evacuation plan) 

 West Point First Nation (vulnerable residents identification/evacuation) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 HRHSSA Facility Evacuation Plans 

 SMCC Facility Evacuation Plan 

Logistics Chief 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Plan Checklist 
Form EP-12 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

THR Business Continuity (staff required during evacuation): 

 Onsite 

o Equipment Operators (#) 

o Facility Maintainers (#) 

o Water Plant Operators (#) 

 Remote 

o Payroll (#) 

Incident Commander 

2. Actions 

 

Assess situation to determine evacuation requirements: 

 Is evacuation needed? _______________________________________ 

 Full community or partial?  List areas: ___________________________ 

 When? ___________________________________________________ 

 Which evacuation notification to send: Notice, Alert, Order? __________ 

 What evacuation routes, methods (e.g., buses, planes)? _____________ 

 What are the vulnerable populations (priority evacuees)? ____________ 
__________________________________________________________ 

 What instructions do residents need regarding power/water shut-offs, 
luggage restrictions, pet care, evacuee registration? ________________ 
__________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________ 

 What Support Service Providers are required to remain in operation? ___ 
__________________________________________________________ 

 What other support is required? ________________________________ 

Operations Chief 

 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor 

 

Notify MACA Regional Superintendent: 

 Advise MACA Regional Superintendent of evacuation timeline, method 
and priority groups (867-872-6531) 

 If full community evacuation required, MACA Regional Superintendent to 
identify host community and arrange for evacuation transportation 

Incident Commander 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 

Contact Partner Agencies to coordinate evacuation resources: 

 Traffic control, road closures (GNWT INF) 

 Door to door resident notification (RCMP, Fire Department) 

 Evacuation vehicles (e.g., buses, planes) 

 Confirm vulnerable population evacuation plans: 

o HRHSSA (to review and initiate Facility Evacuation Plans) 

o SMCC (to review and initiate Facility Evacuation Plan) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Plan Checklist 
Form EP-12 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Vulnerable populations evacuation: 

 Contact 2 vulnerable populations to confirm they are evacuating 
according to their facility plans: 

o Hay River Health & Social Services Authority facilities 

o South Mackenzie Correctional Centre  

 Ensure/assist in evacuation of vulnerable residents as required (elderly, 
homeless, health/mobility issues) (collaborate with Indigenous 
governments, place messaging on websites) 

Logistics Chief 

 

Information Officer 

 

Contact Support Service Providers required to remain in operation during 
evacuation: 

 __________________ 

 __________________ 

 __________________ 

Support Services 
Coordinator 

 

Traffic control if evacuating by highway: 

 Post INF vehicles at strategic points to close roads, direct traffic, and 
help maintain order 

Operations Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Evacuee notification: 

 Issue applicable Evacuation Notification via NWT Alert  

 Use templates on Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications:  

o Evacuation Notice 

o Evacuation Alert 

o Evacuation Order  

 Post evacuee registration link to www.hayriver.com  

 Provide required additional messaging to the public via website and 
social media, monitor Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 
(e.g., prepare for evacuation, prepare emergency kits, prepare property 
for emergency, evacuation methods, priority evacuee groups, luggage 
restrictions, what to do with pets) 

 Follow next steps for evacuation type (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Information Officer 

 

Partial evacuation required (i.e., to locations within the community) 

 Open Evacuation Centre 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 

 Arrange transportation to Evacuation Centre for residents who cannot 
self-evacuate (e.g., buses, taxis, volunteers) 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor  

Logistics Chief 

 

Information Officer 

http://www.hayriver.com/


 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Plan Checklist 
Form EP-12 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Full evacuation required (i.e., to another community): 

 Contact REMO for support (e.g., identify host community) 

 Monitor airport runway conditions 

 Arrange transportation for residents who cannot self-evacuate (e.g., 
buses, taxis, volunteers) 

 Require all evacuees to register again with host community upon arrival  

Incident Commander 

 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor  

 

Logistics Chief 

 

Information Officer 

 
Door-to-door evacuation notification: 

 Approach all homes and businesses to advise to evacuate 

Operations Chief 

 

RCMP 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

Liaison Officer 

 

Security control: 

 Provide security of evacuated areas. 

 Control traffic entering hazard areas 

RCMP 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Public & media information 

 Prepare clear, concise, and consistent media releases 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Maintain ongoing communications with displaced residents to keep them 
informed 

 Prepare media releases 

 Prepare speaking notes for interviewees 

Information Officer 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions, financial details, and evacuation details 
Finance Chief 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan  

Evacuation Notifications 
Form EP-13 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 2 

Evacuation Notice 

 
Area: _________________ 
 
Description: This notice is to advise Hay River residents and visitors of a _________________ (describe 
potential emergency) that may affect the _________________ (describe specific area, or full community) of 
Hay River.  This may present an increased risk to life and property. 
 
Instructions: Hay River residents and visitors are advised: 

- Prepare for the emergency and for evacuation, should it be necessary (www.hayriver.com).   
- An Evacuation Alert and/or Evacuation Order may be issued at a later time. 
- Evacuee pre-registration for vulnerable residents is available at www.hayriver.com.  
- Monitor updates at www.hayriver.com, www.facebook.com/hayriver, or 1-833-699-0188. 

 

 

Evacuation Alert 

 
Area: _________________ 
 
Description: A _________________ (describe emergency) is affecting the _________________ (describe 
specific area, or full community) of Hay River.  This is expected to present an increased risk to life and 
property. 
 
Instructions: Hay River residents and visitors are advised: 

- Prepare to evacuate on short notice.  Vulnerable residents are advised to evacuate 
(www.hayriver.com).  

- An Evacuation Order may be issued at a later time. 
- Monitor updates at www.hayriver.com, www.facebook.com/hayriver, or 1-833-699-0188. 

 

 

Evacuation Order 

 
Area: _________________ 
 
Description: A _________________ (describe emergency) is occurring in/near the _________________ 
(describe specific area, or full community) of Hay River.  There is a serious risk to life and property. 
 
Instructions: Hay River residents and visitors are advised: 

- Evacuate immediately to _________________ (evacuation destination). 
- Those needing transportation assistance should go to _________________ (evacuation staging area), 

or call 1-833-699-0188. 
- Evacuee registration is available at www.hayriver.com, or call 1-833-699-0188. 
- Monitor updates at www.hayriver.com, www.facebook.com/hayriver, or 1-833-699-0188. 

 

 

http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.facebook.com/hayriver
http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.facebook.com/hayriver
http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.facebook.com/hayriver


 
Community Emergency Plan  

Evacuation Notifications 
Form EP-13 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 2 

Evacuation All-Clear 

 
Area: _________________ 
 
Description: The _________________ (describe emergency) emergency affecting the _________________ 
(describe specific area, or full community) of Hay River is now under control.  The Evacuation Order has been 
lifted and it is safe to return.   
 
Instructions: Hay River residents are advised: 

- If outside of the community, report to _________________ (reception centre) for transportation 
arrangements. 

- Monitor updates at www.hayriver.com, www.facebook.com/hayriver, or call 1-833-699-0188. 
 

 

http://www.hayriver.com/
http://www.facebook.com/hayriver


 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Form EP-14 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 3 

Purpose: movement, care, and safety of displaced residents. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

LEMO positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

 Support Services Coordinator (Tourism Coordinator) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner agencies: 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 RCMP (security control) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-08: Volunteer Sign-up 

 Form EP-09: Volunteer Registry 

 Form EP-10: Evacuee Sign-up 

 Form EP-11: Evacuee Registry 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

Logistics Chief 
 
HRHSSA 

2. Actions 

 

Provide the following information to Evacuee Division Supervisor (if evacuees 
are coming from out of town, contact MACA Regional Superintendent for this 
information): 

 Number of residents displaced 

 Mode of transportation 

 Expected time of arrival 

 Special needs of any evacuees 

Operations Chief  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Form EP-14 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 3 

 

Arrange for required items:  

 Evacuation Centre (Community Centre or school) 

 RV parking 

 Food, drinks, cots, blankets, pillows, diapers, other supplies 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor  

Logistics Chief 

 

Call for volunteers: 

 Call volunteers as needed to register evacuees, host billets, prepare and 
serve food, or bring supplies: 

o Refer to Form EP-09: Volunteer Registry for registered volunteers 

o Notify residents via website, social media if more volunteers needed 

o Make Form EP-08: Volunteer Sign-up available to new volunteers 

o Add new volunteers to Form EP-09: Volunteer Registry 

Logistics Chief 

 

Evacuee registration: 

 Turn on online registration system, link on www.hayriver.com  

 Register evacuees upon arrival at the Evacuation Centre using either: 

o Online system; or  

o Form EP-10: Evacuee Sign-up and Form EP-11: Evacuee Registry 

 All evacuees must check in at the Evacuation Centre before being 
assigned a bed or billet location 

 Send list of evacuees (from online portal or Form EP-11: Evacuee 
Registry) to the MACA Regional Superintendent 

HRHSSA 

 

Liaison Officer 

 

Healthcare: 

 Provide social workers and nursing staff 

 Perform health checks as required 

 Provide care for those with special needs 

HRHSSA 

 

Alternate lodging for vulnerable residents: 

 Provide available vacant housing for those assessed by HRHSSA as 
vulnerable residents requiring alternate lodging 

Housing NWT 

 

Communications 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow: 

o With community spokesperson (Mayor or SAO) 

o Between parties involved in reception efforts 

Liaison Officer 

https://www.gov.nt.ca/en/form/evac
http://www.hayriver.com/


 
Community Emergency Plan 

Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Form EP-14 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 3 

 

Public & media information 

 Prepare clear, concise, and consistent media releases 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Maintain ongoing communications with displaced residents to keep them 
informed 

 Prepare media releases 

 Prepare speaking notes for interviewees 

Information Officer 

 

Security control: 

 Take measures to protect the safety of evacuees  

 Take measures to protect property in the Evacuation Centre 

 Rope off and mark out-of-bounds areas 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor  

RCMP  

 

Food services 

 Set up facilities to provide food and drinks to evacuees and/or to 
emergency responders 

 Arrange for janitorial services 

 Procure food and drinks 

 Activate volunteers to prepare and serve food 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor  

Logistics Chief 

 
Sleeping quarters 

 Equip sleeping area with cots, blankets, pillows 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor 

 

Donation centre 

 Set up a centre to receive and distribute donations 

 Assign volunteers to operate the donation centre 

 Notify public to donate 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor  

Volunteer Chief 

 

Information Officer  

 

Pet care and comfort: 

 Contact Hay River Animal Shelter for assistance in finding lodging for 
pets 

Evacuee Division 
Supervisor 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions, financial details, and evacuation details 
Finance Chief 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Emergency Debrief 
Form EP-15 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Emergency Details 

Emergency title:  Date: Click to enter 

Declared  Date: Click to enter Time:  Terminated   Date: Click to enter Time:  

Scribe:  Next meeting date: Click to enter  Time:   

Attendees 

Name Position or Partner Agency 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Emergency Debrief 
Form EP-15 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

Discussion Points 

Declaration 

 How long after Council was notified of the 
emergency was the Emergency Council 
Meeting held? 

 How long after declaration did the LEMO 
meet? 

 How was the public notified of the emergency?  
Was it timely? 

 Was the impending hazard/risk monitored 
before the occurrence of the emergency?   

 

Evacuation 

 Did the evacuation notice/alert/order to 
residents provide enough time to prepare? 

 Were residents provided with critical 
information on evacuation (e.g., where to 
evacuate to, safe evacuation routes, where to 
go for further info)?  

 Was evacuation orderly?  Any accidents? 

 Was the evacuation centre well-equipped? 

 Did Partner Agencies involved in the 
evacuation perform well? 

 

LEMO  

 Were the required Incident Command System 
(ICS) positions assigned? 

 Were ICS roles clearly identified and 
understood by all team members? 

 Were the right positions/people on the team? 

 Was LEMO meeting frequency adequate? 

 Was the Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 
adequately equipped? 

 Was support from the Regional EMO 
requested in a timely manner once LEMO 
capacity was exceeded?   

 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Emergency Debrief 
Form EP-15 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

Discussion Points 

Partner Agencies & Support Service Providers 

 What Partner Agencies were involved in the 
response?  What were their roles?  Did they 
perform their roles well? 

 Were Support Service Providers involved?  
Did they perform well?  Which were missing?  
Was coordination/communication satisfactory? 

 

Response 

 Were Emergency Plan procedures followed? 

 Were the proper resources deployed? 

 Was the workload effectively distributed? 

 Were all safety practices and procedures 
followed?  Any incidents? 

 

Community Emergency Plan  

 What went well with the Plan? 

 What did not go well? 

 Were the forms useful? 

 Do the Position Checklists need improving? 

 Does the Emergency Plan need improving? 

 

 

Communication 

 Was information shared well between LEMO 
members and Partner Agencies? 

 Was the information provided to the public and 
media timely, thorough, and frequent enough? 

 Were communication technologies and 
methods sufficient? 

 



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Emergency Debrief 
Form EP-15 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

Discussion Points 

Finances 

 What were the major costs of response? 

 Were the required funds readily available? 

 Where were funds well-spent? 

 Where can costs be reduced? 
 

Preventive Measures 

 How did existing preventive measures 
perform?   

 Are changes needed to existing measures? 

 What additional measures are needed to 
prevent future emergencies of this type? 

 

Lessons Learned 

 What went well? 

 What did not go well? 

 What errors were made? 

 What errors were avoided? 

 What can be done better next time? 

 

 
  



 
Community Emergency Plan 

Emergency Debrief 
Form EP-15 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

Notes 

 

Corrective Actions 

Action Party Date Due Date Complete 

1   Click to enter Click to enter 

2   Click to enter Click to enter 

3   Click to enter Click to enter 

4   Click to enter Click to enter 

5   Click to enter Click to enter 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

ALL HAZARDS  
Form EP-16.01 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Major concerns: safety of lives, property, environment; service disruption, evacuation. 
(Covers emergencies with no specific response procedure, including erosion, snow load hazard, explosion, 

permafrost degradation, cyber-security event, animal disease, social action, earthquake, space debris). 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

ALL HAZARDS  
Form EP-16.01 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Helicopter company for reconnaissance 

 Road barricades 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Emergency back-up power for critical infrastructure: 

 Ensure Emergency Operations Centres, Evacuation Centres, power 
generating stations, telecommunications satellite uplinks, water treatment 
plants, sewage lift stations, and any mechanical sewage treatment plants 
are protected during interruptions in the supply of power. 

Incident Commander 

3. Preparedness 

 

Community Emergency Plan  

 Ensure all LEMO members are trained on, and all Partner Agencies have 
been provided with, the Community Emergency Plan so they are aware 
of their role and responsibilities in emergency management. 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Public awareness and education initiatives:  

 Provide materials and/or forums to educate residents of proactive 
measures to take before, during, and after an emergency in order to 
reduce risk and hasten recovery 

Assistant SAO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emergency communications systems: 

 Ensure emergency communication systems for first responders and local 
emergency officials function correctly 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

ALL HAZARDS  
Form EP-16.01 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 

 

Assess situation (aerial & ground patrol, data review) to determine:  

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Ensure proper authorities have most current and accurate information on 
the incident, possible impacts, and the potential need for additional 
assistance 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

ALL HAZARDS  
Form EP-16.01 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Secure the incident scene: 

 Keep onlookers and traffic away from the emergency site and out of 
danger 

 Control access to the evacuation collection area to avoid congestion and 
potential safety issues 

 Use barricades, signs, and public messaging to restrict access 

 Secure scene for investigation if required 

Site Commander 

 

RCMP 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Respond to immediate threat: 

 Ensure people are safe 

 Conduct rescue or recovery 

 Remove or barricade dangerous structures, equipment, vegetation 

 Contain spills of hazardous substances 

 Conduct emergency repairs of critical infrastructure 

Operations Chief 

 
If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 

Traffic control: 

 Clear roads of snow, debris to allow safe vehicle movement 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

ALL HAZARDS  
Form EP-16.01 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Handling fatalities: 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 
Damage assessment 

 Determine extent of damage 

 Determine if the GNWT Disaster Assistance Program applies 

Operations Chief 

 

ECC 

 Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

CRITICAL SERVICES INTERRUPTION  
Form EP-16.02 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Major concerns: safety of lives and property, transportation disruption, evacuation. 
 

(Covers fuel, power, water). 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

CRITICAL SERVICES INTERRUPTION  
Form EP-16.02 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Construction contractors for underground utility repairs 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Provide educational materials to residents on protection of housing: 

 Having a secondary heating source 

 Draining piping systems in homes to prevent freezing and damage 

Assistant SAO 

 
Survey homes with alternate sources of heat: 

 Accommodate community residents without alternate sources of heat 
Assistant SAO 

3. Preparedness 

 

Advise residents to prepare for severe weather: 

 Residents devise own plans for alternative housing with family, friends, 
neighbors with wood stoves. 

Assistant SAO 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

CRITICAL SERVICES INTERRUPTION  
Form EP-16.02 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Assess situation to determine:  

 What services are interrupted (i.e., fuel, power, water) and for how long 

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 

Traffic control: 

 Clear roads of snow, debris to allow safe vehicle movement 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Repairs and restoration of the service 

 Coordinate with applicable service providers (e.g., utilities, 
communications providers, fuel providers) to restore services if issue is 
external 

 Contract required equipment and competent/qualified workers to effect 
repairs (e.g., to underground utilities) if issue is internal 

Logistics Chief 

 

Operations Chief 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

CRITICAL SERVICES INTERRUPTION  
Form EP-16.02 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Water and sewer services: 

 Inform residents of boil water advisory  

 Prepare to shut off water services if contamination enters water supply 

 Issue a water conservation notice to residents when requested by 
Logistics Chief (e.g., limit water use to essential cleaning and 
consumption needs) 

 If freezing outside and power/heat unavailable, assist homeowners with 
draining water lines to prevent freeze up 

Logistics Chief 

 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

 

 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

 

 

 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

 

 

 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

CRITICAL SERVICES INTERRUPTION  
Form EP-16.02 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

FLOOD  
Form EP-16.03 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Major concerns: safety of lives and property, transportation disruption, evacuation. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

FLOOD  
Form EP-16.03 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Helicopter company for reconnaissance 

 Road barricades 

 Highway info signs 

 Construction contractors to construct berms 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Land use by-law: 

 Ensure new developments are constructed outside of designated flood 
risk areas 

 Restrict development within flood risk areas 

 Utilize flood risk areas for non-critical facilities that can sustain flooding 
(e.g., playground) 

Council 

 

Building by-law: 

 Institute standards for flood risk areas to require suitable foundation 
designs and floor heights to accommodate 100-year flood specifications 

Council 

 
Berm construction: 

 Construct berms to protect critical infrastructure and private property 
Director of PWS  

 
Advise residents: 

 Provide information on flood preparedness information 
Assistant SAO  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Culvert design: 

 Overdesign culverts in specified areas to more effectively channel flood 
water and minimize flooding 

 

 

 

 

 

Director Public Works 
& Services 

 

GNWT INF 

 

 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

FLOOD  
Form EP-16.03 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

3. Preparedness 

 

Flood Watch Committee: 

 Monitor changing breakup or flooding conditions to maintain situational 
awareness 

 Provide early warning to residents in threatened areas so they can be 
prepared to respond accordingly 

 Recommend threatened private property and critical infrastructure be 
protected against flooding or removed from the area 

Director Protective 
Services 

 

Assistant SAO 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 

 

Assess situation (aerial & ground patrol, data review) to determine:  

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

FLOOD  
Form EP-16.03 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 

Traffic control: 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Water and sewer services: 

 Inform residents of boil water advisory  

 Keep water and sewer pumps running as long as possible during flooding 

 Issue a water conservation notice to residents when requested by 
Logistics Chief (e.g., limit water use to essential cleaning and 
consumption needs) 

Logistics Chief 

 

Information Officer 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

FLOOD  
Form EP-16.03 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SPILL  
Form EP-16.04 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 4 

Major concerns: pollution, harm to wildlife, transportation disruption, evacuation. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SPILL  
Form EP-16.04 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Road barricades 

 Construction contractors to excavate & replace soil 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Public education: 

 Promote the appropriate handling and storage of hazardous materials 

 Promote WHMIS training 

GNWT ECC 

3. Preparedness 

 

Spill preparedness: 

 Maintain sufficient sizes and numbers of spill kits and sorbents at field 
locations 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Consult GNWT ECC: 

 Ask for contingency planning should a bulk fuel tank have an 
uncontrolled release to ground or water 

LEMO Coordinator 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SPILL  
Form EP-16.04 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Assess situation (aerial & ground patrol, data review) to determine:  

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., fire, health risk) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Officer 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 

Traffic control: 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SPILL  
Form EP-16.04 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Water and sewer services: 

 Inform residents of boil water advisory  

 Prepare to shut off water services if contamination enters water supply 

Logistics Chief 

 

Information Officer 

 

Prevent spread of contamination:  

 Determine the spilled product 

 Shut off source of spill if safe to do so 

 Deploy suitable sorbents and spill kits to prevent spread 

 Isolate area from the public 

 Report the spill to GNWT ECC via the NWT 24-hour Spill Line (submit 
the Spill Report Form or call 867- 920-8130) 

 Procure resources to clean up impacted soil (e.g., vacuum trucks, 
excavators, dump trucks, sorbents) 

Logistics Chief 

 

Confirmatory sampling and backfilling:  

 Procure an environmental company to take samples to confirm all 
contamination was removed 

 Backfill excavation with clean soil once analysis results return 

 Notify ECC the cleanup is complete 

Logistics Chief 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 

https://www.gov.nt.ca/ecc/en/spillreportformfillablee


 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HUMAN DISEASE  
Form EP-16.05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Major concerns: safety of lives, transportation disruption, healthcare overload, evacuation, civil disorder. 
 

(Covers epidemic, pandemic). 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HUMAN DISEASE  
Form EP-16.05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Health promotion: 

 Educate the public on frequent hand washing, proper cough etiquette to 
avoid the spread of germs, available medicines and vaccinations  

 Present information in schools, health care facilities, and other public 
places via online, public displays, radio 

 Provide health messaging presentation to the LEMO 

HRHSSA 

 

Protect staff: 

 Place protection between frontline staff and customers such as physical 
barriers, increased distance, and/or personal protective equipment  

 Communicate and attend meetings virtually rather than in person 

 Conduct routine surface cleaning of frequently touched surfaces and 
objects 

 Assess the need to modify, postpone, or cancel mass gatherings 

HRHSSA 

3. Preparedness 

 

Health Centre preparedness: 

 Maintain sufficient supplies for managing infectious disease outbreaks 
(e.g., medicines, vaccines, masks, gloves) 

HRHSSA 

 

Plan for the maintenance of business continuity during disease outbreak: 

 Develop a plan to maintain business continuity 

 Review human resources policies for alternative work measures (e.g., 
working remotely) 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maintain situational awareness 

 Monitor community for impacts as a result of health emergency (e.g., 
community concern, supply shortages) 

 Implement a regular status check-in with HRHSSA and the MACA 
Regional Superintendent to ensure situational awareness 

 

 

 

 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

HRHSSA 

 

 

 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HUMAN DISEASE  
Form EP-16.05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 

 

Assess situation to determine:  

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., civil disorder) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

HRSS 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Officer 

 

Investigate disease:  

 Identify disease and its vector 

 Monitor the potential spread 

 Isolate immediate area 

 Methods of control 

HRSS 

 

Maintain business continuity: 

 Continue to provide services through alternative work arrangements 
(e.g., remote work) 

 Work with suppliers to respond to supply chain impacts 

Operations Chief 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HUMAN DISEASE  
Form EP-16.05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 

Traffic control: 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures (e.g., quarantine, 
distancing) 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Illness response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport ill parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

 

 

 

 

Establish temporary morgue (if required): 

 Protect bodies of deceased persons 

 

 

 

HRHSSA 

 

 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

HUMAN DISEASE  
Form EP-16.05 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

SEVERE WEATHER  
Form EP-16.06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 4 

Major concerns: safety of lives and property, utility failure, evacuation. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

SEVERE WEATHER  
Form EP-16.06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Road barricades 

 Construction contractors for road clearing 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Provide educational materials to residents on protection of housing: 

 Having a secondary heating source 

 Draining piping systems in homes to prevent freezing and damage 

Assistant SAO 

 
Survey homes with alternate sources of heat: 

 Accommodate community residents without alternate sources of heat 
Assistant SAO 

3. Preparedness 

 

Advise residents to prepare for severe weather: 

 Residents devise own plans for alternative housing with family, friends, 
neighbors with wood stoves. 

Assistant SAO 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

SEVERE WEATHER  
Form EP-16.06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Assess situation to determine:  

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 

Traffic control: 

 Clear roads of snow, debris to allow safe vehicle movement 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

SEVERE WEATHER  
Form EP-16.06 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 4 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

STRUCTURAL FIRE  
Form EP-16.07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 6 

Major concerns: safety of lives and property, transportation disruption, utility failure, evacuation. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

STRUCTURAL FIRE  
Form EP-16.07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 6 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Road barricades 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Develop Fire Department: 

 Consult with Assistant Fire Marshal 

 Invest in and support community fire department development 

 Recruit and retain firefighters 

 Train and educate firefighters 

Council 
 

South Slave Regional 
Assistant Fire 
Marshal 

 

School of Community 
Government 

 

Equip buildings with fire prevention equipment: 

 Equip all public buildings with fire extinguishers and smoke detectors 

 Encourage residents to equip their homes with extinguishers and smoke 
detectors 

Council 
 
South Slave Regional 
Assistant Fire Marshal 
 

Assistant SAO 

 

Land use by-law: 

 Minimize risk by situating higher risk developments (e.g., fuel storage 
facility) in appropriate locations in the community 

Council 

 

Zoning by-law 

 Create zoning by-law to ensure bulk fuel storage is away from residential 
areas, bermed or double-walled, and fenced in 

Council 

 

Public education:  

 Educate residents and businesses measures protect their homes and 
properties from fire 

Fire Department 
 

South Slave Regional 
Assistant Fire 
Marshal 

 

Regulate fire permits and issue fire bans and: 

 Ensure any burning is monitored 

 Ban fires during high-risk fire season 

Fire Department 

 

GNWT ECC 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

STRUCTURAL FIRE  
Form EP-16.07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 6 

 Task Responsible Party 

3. Preparedness 

 

Implement Fire Smart guidelines in the wildland/urban interface areas: 

 Maintain firebreaks and reduce underbrush in the areas surrounding the 
community 

 Reduce the number of evergreen trees in high-risk areas within the 
community 

 Advise residents to maintain property that is free of debris, tall grasses, 
underbrush, and more flammable trees close to buildings 

 Establish a system of permitted fires within the community boundaries 

Fire Department 

 

GNWT ECC 

 

Host a community Fire Smart Day: 

 Community residents and volunteers to clean up brush, grasses, other 
fuel sources (jerry cans). 

 Inform residents of personal preparedness measures to improve the fire 
safety of their homes and properties. 

 Host a community contest for various age groups to promote youth 
participation. 

Fire Department 

 

Assistant SAO 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 

 

Assess situation to determine:  

 Areas of risk 

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

STRUCTURAL FIRE  
Form EP-16.07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 6 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on the LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 
Firefighting: 

 Coordination at the fire site. 

GNWT ECC 
 

Fire Department  

 

Secure the incident scene: 

 Keep onlookers and traffic away from the emergency site and out of 
danger 

 Control access to the evacuation collection area to avoid congestion and 
potential safety issues 

 Use barricades, signs, and public messaging to restrict access 

 Secure scene for investigation if required 

Site Commander 

 

RCMP 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Traffic control: 

 Clear roads of debris to allow safe vehicle movement 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Fire Department 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

STRUCTURAL FIRE  
Form EP-16.07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 6 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents. 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 

Damage assessment 

 Determine extent of damage 

 Determine if the GNWT Disaster Assistance Program applies 

Operations Chief 
 

ECC 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

STRUCTURAL FIRE  
Form EP-16.07 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 6 of 6 

 Task Responsible Party 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

TRANSPORTATION INCIDENT  
Form EP-16.08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Major concerns: safety of lives and property, transportation disruption, utility failure, evacuation. 
 

(Covers air, road incidents). 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting, spill regulator) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

TRANSPORTATION INCIDENT  
Form EP-16.08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Road barricades 

 Highway info signs 

 Construction contractors to move vehicles, debris 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Highway and traffic patrols: 

 Reduce risk of speeders, overweight loads, non-roadworthy vehicles, 
impaired drivers through visible presence on roads and highways, check 
stops, patrols 

GNWT INF 

 

RCMP 

 
Public education: 

 Signs, brochures, advertisements encouraging safe, non-impaired driving 
GNWT INF 

3. Preparedness 

 
Emergency response exercises: 

 Participate in community mock air disaster exercises 
LEMO Coordinator 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

TRANSPORTATION INCIDENT  
Form EP-16.08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Assess situation to determine:  

 Areas of risk 

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on the LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 
Firefighting: 

 Coordination at the fire site. 

GNWT ECC 
 

Fire Department  

 

Secure the incident scene: 

 Keep onlookers and traffic away from the emergency site and out of 
danger 

 Control access to the evacuation collection area to avoid congestion and 
potential safety issues 

 Use barricades, signs, and public messaging to restrict access 

 Secure scene for investigation if required 

Site Commander 

 

RCMP 

 

GNWT INF 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

TRANSPORTATION INCIDENT  
Form EP-16.08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Traffic control: 

 Clear roads of debris to allow safe vehicle movement 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Fire Department 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents. 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

TRANSPORTATION INCIDENT  
Form EP-16.08 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Damage assessment 

 Determine extent of damage 

 Determine if the GNWT Disaster Assistance Program applies 

Operations Chief 
 

ECC 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

WILDFIRE  
Form EP-16.09 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 1 of 5 

Major concerns: safety of lives and property, transportation disruption, utility failure, evacuation. 

Emergency:  Name:  Date:  

 

 Task Responsible Party 

1. Required Response Resources 

 

Incident Command System (ICS) positions: 

 Incident Commander (Director of Protective Services) 

 Evacuee Division Supervisor (Director of Recreation & Community Serv.) 

 Finance Chief (Director of Finance) 

 Information Officer (ASAO) 

 Liaison Officer (SAO) 

 Logistics Chief (Director of Public Works & Services) 

 Operations Chief (Deputy Fire Chief) 

 Planning Chief (Incident Commander) 

Incident Commander 

 

Partner Agencies required on LEMO: 

 Coast Guard Auxiliary (rescue of stranded persons) 

 GNWT ECC (wildfire fighting) 

 GNWT INF (traffic control, road closures) 

 HR Health & Social Services Authority (evacuee reg., health checks) 

 HR Metis Government (local government organization) 

 K’atl’odechee First Nation (neighbouring community) 

 MACA Regional Superintendent (evacuation support) 

 RCMP (resident notification, security control) 

 SMCC (inmate evacuation plan) 

 West Point First Nation (neighbouring community) 

Liaison Officer 

 

Partner Agencies to advise/consult as needed: 

 Enterprise, Hamlet of (neighbouring community) 

 HR Animal Shelter (pet support) 

 HR District Education Authority (operator of schools) 

 HR Homeless Shelter (vulnerable population evacuation) 

 Housing NWT (lodging for vulnerable residents) 

 Northland Utilities Ltd. (power provider) 

 NorthwesTel (communications provider) 

 NWT Power Corporation (power provider) 

 Soaring Eagle Friendship Centre (evacuee hosting support) 

 Stittco Utilities (propane provider) 

Liaison Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

WILDFIRE  
Form EP-16.09 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 2 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Other resources: 

 Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist  

 Form EP-13: Evacuation Notifications 

 Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist  

 # of volunteers for traffic control 

 # of volunteers for Evacuation Centre 

 Helicopter company for reconnaissance 

 Road barricades 

 Highway info signs 

 Construction contractors to construct berms 

 HRHSSA Facility Evacuation Plans 

 SMCC Inmate Evacuation Plan 

Logistics Chief 

2. Prevention/Mitigation 

 

Land use by-law: 

 Minimize risk by situating higher risk developments (e.g., fuel storage 
facility) in appropriate locations in the community 

Council 

 

Regulate fire permits and issue fire bans and: 

 Ensure any burning is monitored 

 Ban fires during high-risk fire season 

Fire Department 

 

GNWT ECC 

3. Preparedness 

 

Implement Fire Smart guidelines in the wildland/urban interface areas: 

 Maintain firebreaks and reduce underbrush in the areas surrounding the 
community 

 Reduce the number of evergreen trees in high-risk areas within the 
community 

 Advise residents to maintain property that is free of debris, tall grasses, 
underbrush, and more flammable trees close to buildings 

 Establish a system of permitted fires within the community boundaries 

Fire Department 

 

GNWT ECC 

 

Host a community Fire Smart Day: 

 Community residents and volunteers to clean up brush, grasses, other 
fuel sources (jerry cans). 

 Inform residents of personal preparedness measures to improve the fire 
safety of their homes and properties. 

 Host a community contest for various age groups to promote youth 
participation. 

Fire Department 

 

Assistant SAO 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

WILDFIRE  
Form EP-16.09 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 3 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Educate residents on air quality procedures: 

 Hold information session before fire season to educate residents on 
proper protocol to follow should smoke impact the air quality during 
wildfire season. 

GNWT ECC 

4. Response 

 

When a State of Local Emergency is declared by Council: 

 LEMO Coordinator: 

o Call LEMO meeting 

o Activate Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) 

o Activate Community Emergency Plan 

o Assign Incident Commander 

 Incident Commander: 

o Assign ICS Positions 

o Set LEMO meeting frequency 

LEMO Coordinator 

 

Incident Commander 

 

Assess situation (aerial & ground patrol, data review) to determine:  

 Areas of risk 

 Vulnerabilities of people, infrastructure, and the natural environment 

 Which Partner Agencies need to be engaged 

 Which Support Service Providers are required 

 What additional resources are needed 

 Risk of secondary events (e.g., utility or communications failure, erosion) 

 Whether evacuation is required (partial or full) 

Incident Commander 

 

Operations Chief 

 

GNWT ECC 

 

Interagency communications: 

 Ensure up-to-date information flow with community spokesperson (Mayor 
or SAO) 

 Contact Partner Agencies required on the LEMO 

 Provide up-to-date information flow between LEMO and Partner 
Agencies involved in the response 

 Keep MACA Regional Superintendent up-to-date on the incident, 
possible impacts, and the potential need for additional assistance 

 Establish required local (e.g., telephone, internet, VHF, UHF) and long 
range (e.g., telephone, Internet, satellite phone, HF) communications 
links as circumstances require 

Liaison Officer 

 

Logistics Chief 

 

If evacuation required: 

 Follow Form EP-12: Evacuation Plan Checklist (includes notification of 
residents) 

Incident Commander 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

WILDFIRE  
Form EP-16.09 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 4 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 
If Evacuation Centre required: 

 Follow Form EP-14: Evacuation Centre Checklist 
Planning Chief 

 
Firefighting: 

 Coordination at the fire site. 

GNWT ECC 
 

Fire Department  

 

Secure the incident scene: 

 Keep onlookers and traffic away from the emergency site and out of 
danger 

 Control access to the evacuation collection area to avoid congestion and 
potential safety issues 

 Use barricades, signs, and public messaging to restrict access 

 Secure scene for investigation if required 

Site Commander 

 

RCMP 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Traffic control: 

 Clear roads of debris to allow safe vehicle movement 

 Place barricades, signs, road closures, and traffic control personnel to 
isolate hazardous areas and provide warnings 

 Coordinate routes for emergency vehicles 

Logistics Chief 

 

GNWT INF 

 

Fire Department 

 

Injury response: 

 Provide first aid, comfort, shelter as required 

 Conduct triage at site to determine medical priorities 

 Transport injured parties to hospital 

 Evacuate for medical treatment 

Operations Chief 

 Fire Department  

 Ambulance 

 

HRHSSA 

 

Rescue of stranded people: 

 Ask residents via website and social media if any people are stranded 

 Identify location of any stranded people through aerial/ground patrols, 
information from the public 

 Pay particular attention to young, elderly, disabled 

 Remove people from danger 

Information Officer 

 

Operations Chief 

 

Coast Guard Auxiliary 

 

Inform public & media: 

 Provide messaging to the public via website and social media, monitor 
Emergency Management Line (1-833-699-0188) 

 Advise residents to execute preparedness procedures 

 Prepare media releases, get approval before issuing 

 Prepare speaking notes for approved spokespersons 

Information Officer 



 Community Emergency Plan Response Procedure 

WILDFIRE  
Form EP-16.09 

 

 
v. 01 Printed copies are uncontrolled – ensure latest version in use.          Page 5 of 5 

 Task Responsible Party 

 

Handling fatalities 

 Confirm death 

 Provide for proper care and custody of human remains 

 Identify temporary morgue if necessary 

 Secure the scene for the Coroner’s investigation 

 Record evidence 

 Provide proper notification of casualties to authorities, next of kin, and 
media 

RCMP 

 

HRHSSA 

5. Recovery 

 

Return to evacuated area: 

 Determine it is safe for residents to return 

 Issue Evacuation All-Clear notification as per Form EP-13: Evacuation 
Notifications 

 Ensure safe return of residents. 

Operations Chief 

 

MACA Regional Supt. 

 

Damage assessment 

 Determine extent of damage 

 Determine if the GNWT Disaster Assistance Program applies 

Operations Chief 
 

ECC 

 
Cost tracking and reporting: 

 Keep a record of all decisions and financial details 
Finance Chief 

 



Bylaw No. 2458A 

8a) Amendment to Fees and Charges Bylaw 



BY-LAW NO. 2458 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

Page 1 of 3 

A BYLAW of the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River in the 
Northwest Territories, to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 2431, as amended.

PURSUANT TO the relevant sections of the Cities, Towns and Villages Act S.N.W.T. 2003, 
c. 22, and particularly section 72(e), which allows municipalities to establish, by bylaw, fees
or other charges for products, programs, services, public utilities, infrastructure and facilities
provided by the municipality and for the use of property under the ownership, direction,
management or control of the municipality.

WHEREAS the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River wishes to 
amend Bylaw No. 2431, as amended, to reflect changes to the fees and charges collected 
by the Town of Hay River as set out in the attached parts of Schedule “A; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE
TOWN OF HAY RIVER, in regular sessions duly assembled, enacts as follows: 

APPLICATION 

1. That Bylaw 2431, as amended, is hereby amended by deleting the following parts of
Schedule “B” and replacing them with the Schedules attached hereto:

a. Deleting Part 2 of Schedule “B” of Bylaw No. 2431, as amended, and replacing with
Part 2 of Schedule “A” attached hereto;

2. This bylaw will take force and effect upon its final reading.

THIS BY-LAW READ A FIRST TIME this 22nd day of January, 2024 A.D. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

THIS BY-LAW READ A SECOND TIME this 22nd day of January, 2024 A.D. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

THIS BY-LAW READ a Third and Final Time this 5th day of February, 2024 A.D. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 



BY-LAW NO. 2458 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

Page 2 of 3 

CERTIFIED that this bylaw has been made in accordance with the requirements of the 
Cities, Towns and Villages Act, S.N.W.T., 2003, and the bylaws of the Municipal Corpo-
ration of the Town of Hay River this 5th day of February, 2024. 

_______________________________ 
Senior Administrative Officer 



BY-LAW NO. 2458 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

Page 3 of 3 

SCHEDULE A 

PART 2 – Ambulance Fees (non-taxable) 

Ambulance Services Resident Non-Resident 

In Town Service $600 $850 
Highway $700 $1,925 + $2.5/km 
Medivac $2,200 

+ $100 per waiting hour after the
first hour

$2,200 
+ $100 per waiting hour after the first

hour

Services provided to residents who are 60 years of age or older will be billed directly to their insurance 
provider.



Bylaw No. 2450B 

8b) Amendment to Fees and Charges Bylaw 



BY-LAW NO. 2450B 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

Page 1 of 3 

A BYLAW of the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River in the 
Northwest Territories, to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 2431, as amended.

PURSUANT TO the relevant sections of the Cities, Towns and Villages Act S.N.W.T. 2003, 
c. 22, and particularly section 72(e), which allows municipalities to establish, by bylaw, fees
or other charges for products, programs, services, public utilities, infrastructure and facilities
provided by the municipality and for the use of property under the ownership, direction,
management or control of the municipality.

WHEREAS the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River wishes to 
amend Bylaw No. 2431, as amended, to reflect changes to the fees and charges collected 
by the Town of Hay River as set out in the attached parts of Schedule “A; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE
TOWN OF HAY RIVER, in regular sessions duly assembled, enacts as follows: 

APPLICATION 

1. That Bylaw 2431, as amended, is hereby amended by deleting the following parts of
Schedule “B” and replacing them with the Schedules attached hereto:

a. Deleting a portion of Part 7 of Schedule “B” of Bylaw No. 2431, as amended, and
replacing with Part 7 of Schedule “A” attached hereto;

2. This bylaw will take force and effect upon its final reading.

THIS BY-LAW READ A FIRST TIME this   day of    , 2024 A.D. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

THIS BY-LAW READ A SECOND TIME this      day of    , 2024 A.D. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 



BY-LAW NO. 2450B 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

Page 2 of 3 

THIS BY-LAW READ a Third and Final Time this      day of   , 2024 A.D. 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

CERTIFIED that this bylaw has been made in accordance with the requirements of the 
Cities, Towns and Villages Act, S.N.W.T., 2003, and the bylaws of the Municipal Corpo-
ration of the Town of Hay River this       day of               , 2024. 

_______________________________ 
Senior Administrative Officer 



BY-LAW NO. 2450B 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

Page 3 of 3 

SCHEDULE A 

PART 7 – Recreation Fees and Charges 

Porritt Landing 

Type A Watercraft 
Season Pass (per Watercraft) $470 

3-year renewal (per Watercraft) $1410 
Type B Watercraft 

Season Pass (per Watercraft) $500 
3-year renewal (per Watercraft) $1500 

Type C Watercraft 
Season Pass (per Watercraft) $550 

3-year renewal (per Watercraft) $1750 

Additional Season Pass decals (max 2 additional passes) $50/boat/yr 
Short Term Docking Pass $30/day 



Bylaw No. 2190/PS/24 

8c) LEMO Bylaw 



TOWN OF HAY RIVER 
BY-LAW NO. 2190/PS/24 Page 1 of 4 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER IN 
THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES TO PROVIDE FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A 
LOCAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION 

WHEREAS the Council of the Town of Hay River is responsible for the direction 
and control of its emergency response and is required, under the Emergency 
Management Act, SNWT 2018, c.17, to establish and maintain a Local Emergency 
Management Organization; appoint a Coordinator of the Local Emergency 
Management Organization and establish the duties of the Coordinator; and 
prepare, adopt, and maintain local emergency plans and programs; and is 
required, under Section 28 of the Cities, Towns and Villages Act, SNWT 2003, 
c.22, to hold an emergency meeting in order to declare a State of Local
Emergency;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay 
River in regular session duly assembled hereby enacts as follows: 

1. Title

This by-law may be referred to as the Town of Hay River Emergency
Management By-law.

2. Interpretation

In this by-law:
a) “Act” means Emergency Management Act, SNWT 2018, c.17, as amended;
b) “Coordinator of the Local Emergency Management Organization”

means the person appointed as the Coordinator under Section 5 of this by-
law;

c) “Council” means the Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of
Hay River;

d) “Emergency” means an urgent, abnormal event that demands prompt
coordination of resources to mitigate serious risk;

e) “Emergency Plan” means the Community Emergency Plan of the Town;
f) “Local Authority” means the elected council of a community government,

responsible for community emergency management.
g) “Local Emergency Management Organization” means the organization

established under this by-law;
h) “Minister” means the Minister of Municipal and Community Affairs, who is

responsible for the Act;
i) “SAO” means the Senior Administrative Officer of the Town of Hay River or

designate;
j) “Town” means the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River; and



TOWN OF HAY RIVER 
BY-LAW NO. 2190/PS/24  Page 2 of 4 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER IN 
THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES TO PROVIDE FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A 
LOCAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION 

 
k) “Town Limits” means the corporate limits of the Town as established from 

time to time. 
 
3. Local Authority 

 
The Council of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River is 
considered a Local Authority under the Act and is therefore responsible for 
community emergency management. 
 

4. Local Emergency Management Organization 
 
There is hereby established a Local Emergency Management Organization to 
act as the agent of Council to carry out its statutory powers and obligations 
under the Act, notwithstanding sections 6 and 7 of this by-law. 
 

5. Coordinator 
 
The Senior Administrative Officer of the Town is hereby appointed the Local 
Emergency Management Organization Coordinator. 
 
The Senior Administrative Officer may designate the Local Emergency 
Management Organization Coordinator authorities during emergency planning, 
response, or recovery events. 
 

6. Delegation of Duties 
 
a) Council hereby delegates the following responsibilities to the Local 

Emergency Management Organization Coordinator: 
i) Emergency Plan development and maintenance; and 
ii) Annual provision of the Emergency Plan to the Head of the Northwest 

Territories Emergency Management Organization. 
 

b) Council hereby delegates responsibility for emergency response to the 
Local Emergency Management Organization, including: 
i) Implementing the Emergency Plan during a State of Local Emergency;  
ii) Entering into agreements and making payments for the provision of 

services for emergency management;  
iii) Authorizing the temporary engagement of volunteers to carry out 

emergency management;  
iv) Evacuating residents within or outside of the community; and 
v) Compensating owners of property acquired, used, damaged, or 

destroyed by the Town during emergency response. 
 



TOWN OF HAY RIVER 
BY-LAW NO. 2190/PS/24 Page 3 of 4 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER IN 
THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES TO PROVIDE FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A 
LOCAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION 

7. Council Duties

a) Council is the sole body authorized to declare, renew, and/or terminate a
State of Local Emergency for the Town:
i) Council may, at an emergency council meeting, declare, renew, or

terminate a State of Local Emergency by resolution under the Cities,
Towns and Villages Act, SNWT 2003, c.22;

ii) Council may only transact business relating to the emergency at an
emergency council meeting;

iii) Those council members attending an emergency council meeting
constitute a quorum; and

iv) If Council is unable to act, the Mayor may act on behalf of Council.

b) Council shall conduct an annual review and approval of the Emergency
Plan.

c) Council may:
i) By declaration of a State of Local Emergency, conduct or authorize

emergency response both inside and outside of the community; and
ii) Subject to the Cities, Towns and Villages Act, SNWT 2003, c.22, during

or within 60 days after the declaration of a State of Local Emergency, by
by-law, borrow the necessary sums to pay expenses caused by the
emergency, including payment for services provided by the Government
of the Northwest Territories or by the Government of Canada where the
services were provided at the request of Council.

8. Local Emergency Management Organization Structure

The Local Emergency Management Organization shall consist of one member
of Council and the Town of Hay River staff identified in the Emergency Plan.

9. Repeal

By-law 2190/PS/23 is hereby repealed.

10. Effect

This by-law shall take full force and effect upon the date that this by-law
receives third and final reading.



TOWN OF HAY RIVER 
BY-LAW NO. 2190/PS/24 Page 4 of 4 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER IN 
THE NORTHWEST TERRITORIES TO PROVIDE FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A 
LOCAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION 

READ A FIRST TIME this      day of        , 2024. 

_______________________________________ 
Mayor 

READ A SECOND TIME this      day of      , 2024. 

_______________________________________ 
Mayor 

READ A THIRD AND FINAL TIME this      day of  , 2024. 

_______________________________________ 
Mayor 

CERTIFIED that this by-law has been made in accordance with the requirements 
of the Cities, Towns and Villages Act, SNWT 2003, c.22. and the by-laws of the 
Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River on this      day of                      , 
2024. 

_______________________________________ 
Senior Administrative Officer 



Bylaw No. 2386/24 

8d) Porritt Landing Bylaw 



BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

BEING A BYLAW of the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River in the Northwest 
Territories to provide for the establishment, levy and collection of fees and charges for 
services provided by the municipal corporation. 

PURSUANT to the Cities, Towns and Villages Act, S.N.W.T., 2003, c 22, in force April 1, 
2004, Section 72. 

WHEREAS the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Hay River wishes to establish 
regulations and charge fees for the use of Porritt Landing. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER, 
in regular session duly assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. That the charges established to recover reasonable costs for the use of the municipal
corporation recreational facility known as Porritt Landing are attached as Schedule “A”.

2. That the fees and charges set out shall be in force upon third and final reading of the
bylaw.

3. The council of the Town of Hay River hereby gives the SAO authority to approve
additions or changes to Bylaw 2386 when warranted by new circumstances or needs.
Any changes approved by the SAO are to be reviewed and approved by Council at
further updates of the Porritt Landing Bylaw.

CITATION 

1. This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the Town of Hay River Porritt Landing
Bylaw No. 2386/24.

DEFINITIONS 

In this Bylaw: 

“Protective Services Specialist” means a person authorized to provide bylaw 
enforcement services for the Town. 

“Day Use” means mooring of a Watercraft at a designated day use dock or marina 
area for a period not exceeding One Day. 

“Day Use Area” means an area designated for Day Use. 

“One Day” means a period commencing after 4:00 a.m. on one day and terminating 



BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

not later than 2:00am of the following day. 

“Owner” means any of: 
a) the registered owner of a motor vehicle, as determined by the

Department of Motor Vehicles,
b) a Trailer Owner; or
a a Watercraft Owner 

“Porritt Landing” means the land within the Municipal boundary of the Town of Hay 
River described as Lot 2133 Plan 4460, and Lot 651 Group 814 Plan 710 and the 
water adjoining that land. 

“Season” shall be June 1st to September 25th inclusive each year, regardless of 
whether the water is free of ice for Watercraft use. 

“Season Pass” means a pass which entitles the holder to moor one identified 
Watercraft for a Season in an assigned Watercraft Slip. 

"Short Term Docking" means mooring of an identified Watercraft for no more than 7 
days in an assigned Short-Term Docking Area. 

"Short Term Docking Area" means an area designated for Short-Term Docking. 

"Short Term Docking Pass" means a pass which entitles the holder to moor one 
identified Watercraft for no more than 7 days in an assigned Short-Term Docking 
Slip. 

“Slip” is a designated and permitted space or berth in a marina where a Vessel can 
be docked or moored safely.” 

“Town” means the Town of Hay River. 

“Trailer” means a trailer intended for the transport of a Watercraft. 

“Trailer Owner” means either of a person in care and control of a Trailer while it is 
located at Porritt Landing or the person who is the registered owner of the Trailer as 
determined by the Department of Motor Vehicles. 

“Type A Docking Slip”: Assigned mooring location/slip for vessels with a maximum 
length of 16’ and maximum width of 8.5’. 

“Type B Docking Slip”: Assigned mooring location/slip for vessels measuring 16’ to 
24’ in length and having a maximum depth of 8.5’. 



 

BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

  

 

“Type C Docking Slip”: Assigned mooring location/slip for vessels measuring more 
than 24’ in length.  

   
“Vessel” means any Watercraft used or capable of being used as a means of 
transportation on water.  
 
“Watercraft” means any watercraft (including personal watercraft) designed to float, 
plane, work or travel on water.  
 
“Watercraft Owner” includes of the legal owner of a Watercraft and any person who 
is in care and control of a Watercraft.  
 
“Watercraft Slip” means a designated area for mooring of a Watercraft for a Season. 

 
WATERCRAFT SLIP SEASON PASSES 

 
1. A Season Pass entitles the holder to moor one identified Watercraft in an assigned 

Watercraft Slip for the duration of a Season.  
 

2. Initial Watercraft Season Passes will be issued through a lottery system. 
Watercraft Slips will be assigned based on order of draw selection.  Requests for 
Watercraft Slip registrations and entry into the lottery will be made public seven 
working days in advance of the lottery draw date.  

 
3. Season Pass payment must be received within five business days of the draw. 
 
4. Porritt Landing fees are identified in Bylaw 2431 – Fees and Charges Bylaw. Fees 

and charges can be amended or replaced when warranted by new circumstances 
or needs. Any changes approved by the SAO are to be reviewed and approved by 
Council at further updates of the Porritt Landing Bylaw and/or the Fees and 
Charges Bylaw. 
 

5. A waiting list for Watercraft Slip Season Passes will be maintained by Town 
Administration.  The initial waiting list will be populated in accordance, and in order 
of draws through the lottery system, and thereafter on a first come first served 
basis. 

 
6. Watercraft Slip Season Pass holders will be eligible to renew their passes.  

Renewals will be accepted, and payment must be received yearly by the 2nd 
Monday of May each year by 3:00pm local time.  Failure to meet registration 
deadline will result in offering of the Watercraft Slip to the next person on the 
waiting list. A person offered a Watercraft Slip through the waiting list will have five 
working days to respond to the request and make full payment. 
 



BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

7. Only one identified Watercraft is to be moored in the identified slip at any given time.
Season Pass owners can purchase up to 2 additional Season Pass decals.
Appropriate proof of ownership is required for the purchase of additional Season
Pass decals.

8. A Season Pass may not be transferred to another Watercraft or Watercraft Owner
without the consent of the Town.

9. If the holder of a Season Pass sells or otherwise transfers ownership of the
Watercraft, the Season Pass shall not be transferred to the new owner of the
Watercraft.

10. Season Pass holders who sell their Watercraft must advise the Town in writing of
the date of sale and may retain their Watercraft Slip for the remainder of the
Season. Failure to register a new Watercraft before the renewal deadline for the
following Season will result in loss of the Watercraft Slip.

11. Season Pass holders wishing to surrender their Watercraft Slip during the Season
shall notify the Town in writing of the effective date of the surrender. The Town
shall provide a pro-rated refund based on the number of days left in the Season
calculated from the latter of the effective date specified in the notice of surrender or
the date the notice is received by the Town.

12. Season Passes shall be clearly displayed on the Watercraft in a manner that is
clearly visible to Town staff inspecting from shore.

13. A Watercraft assigned a Season Pass shall not exceed the length or width as per
the slip classifications identified in Schedule B – Porritt Landing Slip Locations
Map.

14. Previous bylaw conditions remain in effect with the original date of purchase of a
season slip pass. Season passes that are non-compliant with type A, B and C
classifications (created in 2024) may be renewed, if the vessel and Season Pass
Holder remain the same and if the pass is renewed annually.

15. No person shall dock a Watercraft in a Watercraft Slip unless that person holds a
Season Pass for that Watercraft Slip.

16. All Watercraft must be removed from Porritt Landing on or before September 30th
of each year.

WATERCRAFT SHORT TERM DOCKING PASSES 

17. A Short-Term Docking Pass entitles the holder to moor one identified Watercraft in



BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

an assigned Short Term Docking Slip. 

18. Short Term Docking fees are identified in Bylaw 2431 – Fees and Charges Bylaw.
Fees and charges can be amended or replaced when warranted by new
circumstances or needs. Any changes approved by the SAO are to be reviewed
and approved by Council at further updates of the Porritt Landing Bylaw and/or the
Fees and Charges Bylaw.

19. A Short-Term Docking Pass may not be transferred to another Watercraft without
the consent of the Town.

20. If the holder of a Short-Term Docking Pass sells or otherwise transfers ownership
of the Watercraft, the Season Pass shall not be transferred to the new owner of the
Watercraft.

21. A Watercraft assigned a Short-Term Docking Pass shall not exceed the length or
width identified in the Watercraft Slip permit.

22. Attachments to a Watercraft shall not extend into the walkway when the Watercraft
is moored in such a manner as to interfere with foot traffic.

23. No person shall dock a Watercraft in a Short-Term Docking Slip unless that person
holds a Short-Term Docking Pass for that Watercraft Slip.

24. All Watercraft must be removed from Porritt Landing on or before September 30th
of each year.

DAY USE MOORING 

25. No fees or charges apply to Watercraft moored in the Day Use Area.

26. No person shall permit a Watercraft to be moored at Porritt Landing Marina for
more than One Day within the Day Use Area, without the purchase of a Short-
Term Docking Pass.

PARKING 

27. No person shall park a vehicle or a Trailer other than in a designated parking area.

28. No person shall park a vehicle or Trailer for more than One Day.

WAIVER OF LIABILITY 



BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

29. The Town shall not be liable for damage to vehicles, Trailers, Watercraft or people
using Porritt Landing Marina.

GENERAL 

30. All persons using Porritt Landing Marina shall do so at their own risk.

31. The Town shall not be responsible for any damage or injury sustained to any
Watercraft, vehicle or person in the area known as Porritt Landing Marina.

32. All dogs shall be kept on a leash while at Porritt Landing Marina unless they are
contained in a vehicle or Watercraft.

33. A person must comply with all applicable bylaws, Territorial and Federal statutes
and regulations when using or occupying Porritt Landing.

34. A Watercraft Owner shall ensure the safe mooring of their Watercraft.

35. A Watercraft Owner shall furnish and maintain their own lines and chaffing gear.
Chaffing gear shall be attached to the Watercraft or tied to the floats; no other type
of fastening is permitted.

36. No person shall moor a Watercraft other than in an area identified for mooring.

37. No person shall moor a Watercraft in a manner that interferes unreasonably with the
mooring or access of another Watercraft.

38. No person shall fuel a Watercraft while it is moored.

39. No person shall place or store flammable liquids, oily rags, or other debris, on floats
or municipal property, and any costs associated with the cleanup will be charged to
the Watercraft owner responsible.

40. No person shall store supplies, materials, accessories, articles, or debris anywhere
on Porritt Landing Marina other than a refuse container.

41. No person shall construct any lockers, chests, cabinets, or other structures, or
otherwise modify docks in any way.

42. No person shall conduct on-site repairs or maintenance of a Watercraft without the
prior written consent of the Director of Recreation and Community Services.

43. Walkways and fingers must be kept free of tenders, dinghies, materials, debris,
always carpeting and equipment.



 

BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

  

 

 
44. Attachments to a Watercraft shall not extend into the walkway when the Watercraft 

is moored in such a manner as to interfere with foot traffic. 
 

45. Children under the age of 12 must be always under the supervision of a person 12 
years or age or older. 

 
46. No person shall dispose of fish or fish parts in any waste container other than one 

identified for that purpose. 
 
ENFORCEMENT 

 

47. Any Bylaw Enforcement Officer may enforce this bylaw in the course of their duties. 
 

48. Any Bylaw Enforcement Officer may order a person who does anything contrary to 
this bylaw to leave the Porritt Landing area immediately, or within a period specified 
by the Bylaw Enforcement Officer, and every person so ordered shall comply with 
the order and leave the Porritt Landing area immediately or within the specified time 
period. 

 
49. Tickets issued for parking offences shall be issued to the motor vehicle’s owner, 

unless otherwise indicated in this by-law. 
 

50. No person shall hinder, oppose, molest, or obstruct a Bylaw Enforcement Officer in 
the discharge of their duties. 

 
51. Any Bylaw Enforcement Officer, Peace Officer, or emergency personnel, while 

acting in the course of their duties, are exempt from the provisions of this bylaw. 
 
52. The Town may remove any vehicles, Watercraft Trailers or Watercraft that are 

parked or moored in violation of this bylaw at the Owner’s expense and risk and the 
cost thereof shall be a debt due from the Owner to the Town. 

 
PENALTIES 

 

53. A person who violates this bylaw is subject to a fine of $250 unless an alternate 
amount is identified in Schedule “A”. 

 
54. The Town reserves the right to cancel the Season Pass of any Season Pass holder 

who is in violation of this bylaw. 
 

AMEND 
 

 
55. That Bylaw No. 2386 is hereby amended. 



 

BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

  

 

 
 
  



 

BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

  

 

 
READINGS AND ADOPTION 

 
 
READ a first time this          day of                    , 2024. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
 
 
 

 
READ a second time this     day of                       2024 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
 

READ a third and final time this      day of             2024. 
 
 
 
 _______________________________Mayor 
 
 
CERTIFIED that this bylaw has been made in accordance with the requirements of the Cities, Towns 
and Villages Act, S.N.W.T., 2003, c.22, in force April 1, 2004 and the bylaws of the Municipal Corporation 
of the Town of Hay River this           day of                           , 2024. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
Senior Administrative Officer 

 
  



 

BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH 
A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

  

 

SCHEDULE “A” 
Schedule of Charges and Penalties 

 
OFFENSE FINE 

Additional Season Pass decals (max 2 additional passes) $50/boat/yr 
Short Term Docking Pass $30/day 
Parking a Watercraft without an appropriate pass $300 
Parking a vehicle or Watercraft Trailer in a no parking area $ 300 
Parking a vehicle or Watercraft Trailer in excess of the One Day time limit $300 
Mooring a Watercraft in excess of the One Day time limit in the Day Use Area $ 300 
Failure to properly display registration decals $ 100  
Failure to remove moored Watercraft by September 30th $ 300 
Fueling a Watercraft while moored $300 
Failure to keep a dog on a leash $75 

 
All fines paid and received at the Town of Hay River (Town Hall) before the court date indicated 
on the ticket, shall be reduced by fifty (50%) percent off the total fine amount indicated on the 
ticket. This shall only apply for offences indicated in this bylaw. 
  



BY-LAW NO. 2386/24 
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER 

 
A BY-LAW OF THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF HAY RIVER TO ESTABLISH A BYLAW TO REGULATE AND 
CHARGE FEES FOR THE USE OF PORRITT LANDING  

  

 

SCHEDULE “B” 
Porritt Landing Slip Locations Map 

 


	0408 Regular Meeting of Council - Agenda
	0318  Regular Meeting of Council Minutes
	Public Works Monthly Report for March 2024 REV GS
	Engineering and Capital Projects
	Public Works and Services
	Solid Waste Facility Operations
	Water License Activities:

	2024 Project Status Sheet - GS2
	FY 2024

	3 2024 Municipal Enforcement Report
	03 2024 Emergency Services Report
	February 2024 Tourism  Economic Development Report
	March 2024 Tourism  Economic Development Report
	2024-25 Interim W&S Contribution Agreement Report
	Hay River 2024-25 WWS Funding Agreement (1)
	2024-25 Interim O&M Funding Agreement report
	Hay River 2024-25 O_M Funding Agreement
	0408 Emergency Plan Report
	Town of Hay River - Community Emergency Plan - Apr. 2024
	ByLaw 2458A Cover
	Bylaw 2458A - Amendment to Fee's and Charges Bylaw
	ByLaw 2450B Cover
	Bylaw 2450B - Amendment to Fee's and Charges Bylaw
	ByLaw 2190-ps-24 Cover 
	By-Law 2190-PS-24 EMO - Edit, No Markup 03-14-24
	ByLaw 2386-24 Cover  
	Porritt Landing Bylaw 2386 - 2024 Final
	CITATION
	DEFINITIONS
	DAY USE MOORING
	PARKING
	WAIVER OF LIABILITY
	29. The Town shall not be liable for damage to vehicles, Trailers, Watercraft or people using Porritt Landing Marina.
	GENERAL
	30. All persons using Porritt Landing Marina shall do so at their own risk.
	31. The Town shall not be responsible for any damage or injury sustained to any Watercraft, vehicle or person in the area known as Porritt Landing Marina.
	32. All dogs shall be kept on a leash while at Porritt Landing Marina unless they are contained in a vehicle or Watercraft.
	34. A Watercraft Owner shall ensure the safe mooring of their Watercraft.
	35. A Watercraft Owner shall furnish and maintain their own lines and chaffing gear. Chaffing gear shall be attached to the Watercraft or tied to the floats; no other type of fastening is permitted.
	36. No person shall moor a Watercraft other than in an area identified for mooring.
	37. No person shall moor a Watercraft in a manner that interferes unreasonably with the mooring or access of another Watercraft.
	38. No person shall fuel a Watercraft while it is moored.
	39. No person shall place or store flammable liquids, oily rags, or other debris, on floats or municipal property, and any costs associated with the cleanup will be charged to the Watercraft owner responsible.
	40. No person shall store supplies, materials, accessories, articles, or debris anywhere on Porritt Landing Marina other than a refuse container.
	41. No person shall construct any lockers, chests, cabinets, or other structures, or otherwise modify docks in any way.
	42. No person shall conduct on-site repairs or maintenance of a Watercraft without the prior written consent of the Director of Recreation and Community Services.
	43. Walkways and fingers must be kept free of tenders, dinghies, materials, debris, always carpeting and equipment.
	45. Children under the age of 12 must be always under the supervision of a person 12 years or age or older.
	46. No person shall dispose of fish or fish parts in any waste container other than one identified for that purpose.
	ENFORCEMENT
	52. The Town may remove any vehicles, Watercraft Trailers or Watercraft that are parked or moored in violation of this bylaw at the Owner’s expense and risk and the cost thereof shall be a debt due from the Owner to the Town.
	PENALTIES
	54. The Town reserves the right to cancel the Season Pass of any Season Pass holder who is in violation of this bylaw.
	AMEND
	READINGS AND ADOPTION




